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Dear Stockholder,

2013 represented another successful and productive year for Panera. Our earnings per share (EPS) grew 16% in
fiscal 2013, which includes the impact of a 53rd operating week. Our market cap was nearly $5 billion as of the
fiscal year end, representing a roughly $3.3 billion increase over the past five years, or 39.8% compound annual
growth. The shareholder value created speaks to Panera’s history of producing real results over the long run.

Panera’s financial performance has historically benefited from strategic investments, particularly investments
that directly support the customer experience. In that sense, 2013 was no different than past years, as we
continued to make investments in the quality of our food and the strength of our people. What changed, however,
was the recognition that our sales, after years of uninterrupted growth, may – in some cafes, on some days –
appear to have outstripped our capabilities. Keep in mind, our average unit volumes have grown from $1.6
million annually in 2000 to roughly $2.5 million as of last year.

Understanding this, and with an appreciation for the powerful opportunities that are available to our company, we
began to consider new approaches to leverage the inherent potential of the Panera brand.

Panera’s Journey
Panera’s current evolution has roots that go back to 2010. It was during that year when we first recognized that
our continued growth, at its historic pace, had the potential to overwhelm our operational capabilities. Parallel to
this, however, came the realization that technology, as part of a holistic and comprehensive solution and powered
by operational excellence, could provide an even better experience for our guests.

Fast forward to 2013, and our comprehensive vision for Panera’s future began to take form. We focused on our
guest experience and developed an integrated and enhanced experience, which we’re calling Panera 2.0. We
focused on our cafes, and utilized a total quality management paradigm to drive operational integrity. We
focused on our customers and gained tremendous clarity on Panera’s performance relative to the levers that drive
it and why. And we focused on growth and continued to build out capabilities to develop new growth platforms
for Panera.

2014 Key Initiatives
Our 2014 Key Initiatives highlight the potential we see in our business. These initiatives are the things we
believe we must get done to create the future we all desire for Panera.

In 2014, we’re focused on:
‰ Improving Panera’s competitive position
‰ Expanding growth opportunities
‰ Ensuring we have the necessary capabilities to improve our competitive position and expand growth

opportunities
‰ Delivering Panera’s 2014 financial plan

Improve Panera’s Competitive Position
Future success for Panera begins with providing our customers a better alternative than our competitors. We are
working to do this with initiatives focused on a number of key areas.



First, we’re moving from the development phase of Panera 2.0 to the rollout phase. Panera 2.0 is how we’re
living into a digital future in an omni-channel world. But it’s not just a new app, it’s an integrated and
comprehensive solution that brings together new capabilities for digital ordering, payment, operations, and,
ultimately, consumption. Since our first Panera 2.0 cafe went live in Boston in 2012, we’ve deployed the
technology in 13 other test cafes, 10 of which were introduced last year in Charlotte. Our prototype stores are
showing us that Panera 2.0 works – for our managers, for our associates and for our customers. Indeed, in the
Panera 2.0 cafes, we’ve bent the trajectory of transaction growth, with our Boston 2.0 cafes producing
comparable store sales that were among the highest in the company in 2013.

We have now begun rolling out the full Panera 2.0 experience to substantially the entire cafe system, which is
expected to be completed over the next 36 months. Rapid Pick-Up, which is just one component of Panera 2.0
and features a mobile order app with payment capabilities to better serve our “to go” customers, is expected to be
rolled out to substantially the entire cafe system by the end of 2014.

Second, in our efforts to improve our competitive position, we continue to be deeply involved in driving
operational excellence. This is about execution at the cafe level, pure and simple, and it’s about delivering to our
guests: speed, accuracy, clean and well-maintained cafes, and humanity. Operational excellence is critical to
Panera’s future, not only because true operational excellence is an essential component in Panera 2.0, but because
such initiatives drive throughput and eliminate potential governors to Panera’s sales growth.

Third, we understand that our competitive position ultimately rests on our ability to drive differentiation and
continually improve upon our customers’ desire for what we offer. Our work around how we compete, ongoing
innovation of both food and environment, and marketing, continues to evolve.

This year, for instance, we’ll introduce flatbreads as a new platform at Panera. We anticipate that on top of
opening up a more robust “snacking” platform, our flatbreads, together with our new menu boards and a number
of other initiatives, will amplify our “barbell pricing” structure.

Panera will also execute a more aggressive marketing strategy in 2014 that both reinforces our brand’s
differentiation and seeks to boost market share. We made the decision to launch our first national advertising
campaign for broadcast television. The campaign, which went live in late February 2014, allows Panera to more
efficiently deploy our advertising dollars. With an expected marketing spend at roughly 1.9% of sales in 2014,
however, our advertising budget remains below most of our peers.

Moreover, last year, we continued to develop our loyalty program. Roughly half of our transactions at our
company cafes are linked to MyPanera®. In 2014, we will continue to augment the program and capitalize on the
high usage of MyPanera – which we believe to be the best in the restaurant industry – to provide a more
“personalized” experience for our guests to drive transactions and frequency.

Expand Growth Opportunities
Beyond building our competitive position, we understand that future success for Panera requires expanded
opportunities for growth. First, we continue to believe that the best use of our capital is to build new, high-return
Panera Bread bakery-cafes. We and our franchisees expect to open between 115 and 125 additional new locations
this year.

Our second strategy within our initiative to expand growth is the development of new formats. Our traditional
store growth is working and working well, yet to fully capitalize on the power of our brand, we’ve also begun
exploring opportunities beyond our customary focus on suburban areas. We’re currently prototyping new formats
that can expand Panera’s reach. These efforts include prototyping cafes designed to handle the volume that
comes with high intensity, urban locations and the development of formats to bring our cafes to locations outside
of our FDF network, in more remote areas, which in turn require new processes around baking and dough
production.

Third, we also recognize that to expand growth, we have to seize on adjacent business opportunities with the
understanding that if we don’t, others will. To that end, we continue to refine our large- and small-order delivery



efforts – known collectively as “Panera-to-You™”– to meet the needs of our guests wherever they are and
whenever they want Panera. Core to this strategy is the rollout of delivery hubs (formerly known as catering
hubs). By the end of 2014, we expect to have delivery hubs in place serving more than 10% of our company
cafes.

Necessary Capabilities
Everything I’ve described so far requires the necessary capabilities if we’re to deliver on the promise of these
initiatives. For instance, we used to view IT as a cost center; we now view our IT function as a potentially
powerful competitive advantage that can have a critical impact on the business and serve as a barrier to entry
against those concepts lacking the scale to offer guests technology-enabled solutions. By the end of 2014, we
expect to have spent roughly $42 million on the technology and infrastructure required to live into our digital
future.

Moreover, we continue to invest in our people. We added a net of 35 hours per week to our cafe labor chart last
year, increasing annual labor expense by roughly $15 million to do so. To drive our many growth initiatives, we
also continue to build out our executive ranks, with key additions to leadership roles overseeing our IT, Panera-
to-You, Strategy, and Development teams.

Deliver Our 2014 Financial Plan
Those who are familiar with Panera understand by now that we are focused on delivering sustained earnings
growth over the long term. And we recognize that our credibility rests on our capacity to do what we say we are
going to do.

I’ll be the first to admit that the sum of our initiatives can at times seem quite daunting, but we believe that if
Panera can show real traction on our four most important strategies, then we will be successful in extending the
arc of Panera’s cafe sales growth and unit growth.

Indeed, we know that if we can successfully roll out Panera 2.0, we will be on our way to creating an enhanced
guest experience that fully captures the opportunities enabled by technology; if we can drive operational
excellence in all of our cafes, we will improve throughput and create a frictionless experience for all of our
guests; if we can sharpen how we compete, we will engage both our existing and new customers, and drive the
desire that impels our guests to choose Panera over other concepts; and if we can build out our “Panera-to-You”
business, we will have created a substantial platform that propels new growth for Panera for years to come.

I want to take this opportunity to thank our stockholders for your ongoing commitment and belief in both our
company and the vision of our management team. Your support has made possible Panera’s efforts to pursue a
long-term strategy that, over many years, has allowed us to re-define our industry and create inflection points that
have been followed by years of outsized earnings growth. Your support is critical as we seek to do just that yet
again.

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank our Board of Directors, whose wise counsel and tough
questions continue to shape our strategy and frame the initiatives we pursue today.

Finally, I want to thank our franchisees, our operators, and our support center teams, whose commitment, every
day, define the Panera experience and cement the ongoing loyalty of our customers.

I want all of you to know that you can count on us. We will do everything in our power to fulfill the promise and
deliver on the potential of Panera.

All my best,

Ronald Shaich
founder, Chairman, and Chief Executive Officer



Matters discussed in this annual report to stockholders and in our public disclosures, whether written
or oral, relating to future events or our future performance, including any discussion, express or
implied, of our anticipated growth, operating results, plans, objectives, future earnings per share, and
the impact of our investments in sales-building initiatives and operational capabilities on future sales
and earnings, contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These
statements are often identified by the words “believe,” “positioned,” “estimate,” “project,” “target,”
“plan,” “goal,” “assumption,” “continue,” “intend,” “expect,” “future,” “anticipate,” and other
similar expressions, whether in the negative or the affirmative, that are not statements of historical
fact. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain
risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict, and you should not place undue
reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events could
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report
and in our other public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. All forward-
looking statements and the internal projections and beliefs upon which we base our expectations
included in this report or other periodic reports represent our estimates as of the date made and
should not be relied upon as representing our estimates as of any subsequent date. While we may elect
to update forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we expressly disclaim any obligation
to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or
otherwise.
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1

Forward-Looking Statements

Matters discussed in this report and in our public disclosures, whether written or oral, relating to future events or our future 
performance, including any discussion, express or implied, of our anticipated growth, operating results, plans, objectives, future 
earnings per share, and the impact of our investments in sales-building initiatives and operational capabilities on future sales and 
earnings, contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act.  These statements are often identified by the words 
“believe,” “positioned,” “estimate,” “project,” “target,” “plan,” “goal,” “assumption,” “continue,” “intend,” “expect,” “future,” 
“anticipate,” and other similar expressions, whether in the negative or the affirmative, that are not statements of historical fact.  
These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties, and assumptions 
that are difficult to predict, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.  Our actual results and 
the timing of certain events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain 
factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report and in our other public 
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.  All forward-looking statements and the internal projections and 
beliefs upon which we base our expectations included in this report or other periodic reports represent our estimates as of the date 
made and should not be relied upon as representing our estimates as of any subsequent date.  While we may elect to update forward-
looking statements at some point in the future, we expressly disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, 
whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Panera Bread Company and its subsidiaries, referred to as “Panera Bread,” “Panera,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our,” is a 
national bakery-cafe concept with 1,777 Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafe locations in 45 states, the District 
of Columbia, and Ontario, Canada.  We have grown from serving approximately 60 customers per day at our first bakery-cafe to 
currently serving nearly 7.5 million customers per week system-wide.  We are currently one of the largest food service companies 
in the United States.  We believe our success is based on our ability to create long-term concept differentiation.  We operate under 
the Panera Bread®, Saint Louis Bread Co.® and Paradise Bakery & Café® trademark names.

Our bakery-cafes are located in urban, suburban, strip mall, and regional mall locations.  We feature high-quality food in a warm, 
inviting, and comfortable environment.  With our identity rooted in handcrafted artisan bread, we bake fresh bread every day. We 
are committed to providing great tasting, quality food that people can trust.  Our bakery-cafes have a menu highlighted by flavorful, 
wholesome offerings, including chicken raised without antibiotics, whole grain bread, and select organic and all-natural ingredients, 
with zero grams of artificial trans fat per serving.  We strive to create new standards in everyday food choices, and our menu 
includes a wide variety of year-round favorites complemented by new items introduced seasonally.  In neighborhoods across the 
United States and in Ontario, Canada, our customers are drawn to our warm and welcoming environment, which features 
comfortable gathering areas, relaxing decor, and free Internet access.  Our bakery-cafes routinely donate bread and baked goods 
to community organizations in need.

We operate as three business segments: Company bakery-cafe operations, franchise operations, and fresh dough and other product 
operations.  As of December 31, 2013, our Company bakery-cafe operations segment consisted of 867 Company-owned bakery-
cafes, located throughout the United States and in Ontario, Canada, and our franchise operations segment consisted of 910 franchise-
operated bakery-cafes, located throughout the United States and in Ontario, Canada.  As of December 31, 2013, our fresh dough 
and other product operations segment, which supplies fresh dough and other products daily to most Company-owned and franchise-
operated bakery-cafes, consisted of 24 fresh dough facilities (22 Company-owned and two franchise-operated), located throughout 
the United States and one in Ontario, Canada.  In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, or fiscal 2013, our revenues were 
$2,385 million, consisting of $2,109 million of Company-owned net bakery-cafe sales, $113 million of franchise royalties and 
fees, and $163 million of fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees.  Franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales, as reported 
by franchisees, were $2,175 million in fiscal 2013. See Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements for further segment 
information.

Our fiscal year ends on the last Tuesday in December.  As a result, our fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 had 53 weeks with 
the fourth quarter comprising 14 weeks.  The fiscal years ended December 25, 2012 and December 27, 2011 each had 52 weeks.  
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Concept and Strategy

Bread is our platform and the entry point to the Panera experience at our bakery-cafes.  It is the symbol of Panera quality and a 
reminder of Panera Warmth, a concept that reflects the totality of the experience our customer receives and can take home to share 
with friends and family.  We strive to offer a memorable experience with superior customer service. Our associates are passionate 
about sharing their expertise and commitment with our customers.  We strive to achieve what we call Concept Essence, our blueprint 
for attracting and retaining our customers that we believe differentiates us from our competitors. Concept Essence begins with 
artisan bread, quality products, and a warm, friendly, comfortable environment. It calls for each of our bakery-cafes to be a place 
customers can trust to serve high-quality food.  Bread is our passion, soul, and expertise, and serves as the platform that makes 
all of our other food special.

We believe our competitive strengths include more than just great food and superior customer service.  We are committed to 
creating an ambiance in our bakery-cafes and a culture within Panera that is warm, inviting, and embracing, and focus our 
investments on elevating this experience.  We design each bakery-cafe to provide a distinctive environment, in many cases using 
fixtures and materials complementary to the neighborhood location of the bakery-cafe as a way to engage customers.  The distinctive 
design and environment of our bakery-cafes are intended to offer an oasis from the rush of daily life, where our associates are 
trained to greet our customers by name and have the skills, expertise, and personalities to make each visit a delight.  Many of our 
bakery-cafes incorporate the warmth of a fireplace and cozy seating areas or outdoor cafe seating, which facilitate the use of our 
bakery-cafes as a gathering spot.  Our bakery-cafes are designed to visually reinforce the distinctive difference between our bakery-
cafes and other bakery-cafes and restaurants.  In addition, we believe that our MyPanera® loyalty program allows us to build 
deeper relationships with our customers and entice them to return to our bakery-cafes.  

Our menu, operating systems, design, and real estate strategy allow us to compete successfully in several segments of the restaurant 
business: breakfast, lunch, gathering place, dinner, and take home, through both on-premise sales and off-premise Panera® Catering.  
We compete with specialty food, casual dining, and quick-service restaurant retailers, including national, regional, and locally-
owned restaurants.  Our competitors vary across different dayparts.  We understand people choose restaurants depending on 
individual food preferences, mood, and price.  Our goal is to be the place worth crossing the street for to enjoy Panera food.

In addition to our in-bakery-cafe dining experience, we offer Panera Catering, a nation-wide catering service that provides breakfast 
assortments, sandwiches, salads, soups, pasta dishes, drinks, and bakery items using the same high-quality, fresh ingredients 
enjoyed in our bakery-cafes.  Panera Catering is supported by a national sales infrastructure that includes an on-line ordering 
system, and we believe it represents a growth opportunity for our business.

Menu

Our menu is designed to provide our customers with products our customers crave, built on the strength of our bakery expertise.  
We feature a menu which includes proprietary items prepared with high-quality, fresh ingredients, including our fresh-from-the-
field romaine lettuce and tomatoes and our chicken raised without antibiotics, as well as unique recipes and toppings designed to 
provide appealing, flavorful products that we believe our customers crave.  We include caloric information on our menu boards 
and printed menus in all of our Company-owned bakery-cafes. 

Our key menu groups are daily baked goods, including a variety of freshly baked bagels, breads, muffins, scones, rolls, and sweet 
goods, made-to-order sandwiches on freshly baked breads, hearty, unique soups, freshly prepared and hand-tossed salads, pasta 
dishes, and custom roasted coffees and cafe beverages, such as hot or cold espresso and cappuccino drinks and smoothies.

We regularly review and innovate our menu offerings to feature new taste profiles we believe our customers crave.  Product rollouts 
are integrated into periodic or seasonal menu rotations, referred to as “celebrations”.  In our first celebration of 2013, we introduced 
a new Spinach Power Salad, an all-natural Bistro French Onion Soup, and a Fat-Free Superfruit Power Smoothie with Ginseng.  
In our second celebration, we expanded our pasta menu with three new pasta dishes: Rustic Penne Bolognese, Pesto Sacchettini, 
and Tortellini Alfredo.  The Roasted Turkey & Sun-Dried Tomato Pesto Breakfast Sandwich and a new cheese babka were also 
added in our second celebration to help build on the success of our breakfast entrees.  In our third celebration of 2013, our popular 
seasonal Strawberry Poppyseed Salad returned to our menu along with the new Shrimp Salad Roll, the Chilled Shrimp and Soba 
Noodle Salad, the Parmiago Pizza Bagel, and a Frozen Cherry Limeade.  In our fourth celebration, we further expanded the pasta 
menu with Rigatoni San Marzano and also introduced the Vegetarian Autumn Squash Soup and the Roasted Turkey Harvest 
Wheatberry Salad.  In our final celebration of the year, we introduced the Fontina Grilled Cheese Sandwich, the Country Style 
Mushroom with Truffle Soup, and a Signature Hot Chocolate with Chocolate Chip Marshmallows.
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Operational Excellence

We believe that operational excellence is the most important element of Panera Warmth and without strong execution and operational 
skills, it is difficult to build and maintain a strong relationship with our customers.  We have made and continue to make significant 
investments to enhance our in-bakery-cafe foundational capabilities and to improve the quality of a customer's visit through 
enhancements in technology, equipment, and processes that should enable a better guest experience.  To develop a strong connection 
with our customers, our bakery-cafes are staffed by skilled and engaging associates.  Additionally, we believe high-quality restaurant 
management is critical to our long-term success and, as such, we provide detailed operations manuals and hands-on training to 
each of our associates.  We train our associates both in small group and individual settings.  Our systems have been created to 
educate our associates so each one is well prepared to respond to a customer’s questions and create a better dining experience.  
Furthermore, we believe our commitment to investing in staffing levels necessary to service growth in revenues, along with 
maintaining competitive compensation for our associates, is fundamental to our future success.  

We believe in providing bakery-cafe operators the opportunity to share in the success of the bakery-cafe.  Through our Joint Venture 
Program, selected general managers and multi-unit managers may participate in a bonus program, which is based upon a percentage 
of the store profit of the bakery-cafes they operate, generally over a period of five years (subject to annual minimums and 
maximums).  We believe the program’s multi-year approach improves operator quality and management retention, and creates 
team stability, which generally results in a higher level of consistency and customer service for a particular bakery-cafe.  It also 
leads to stronger associate engagement and customer loyalty.  Currently, approximately 45 percent of our Company-owned bakery-
cafe operators participate in the Joint Venture Program.  We believe this program is a fundamental underpinning of our low rate 
of management turnover and operational improvements.

Marketing

We are committed to improving the customer experience in ways we believe few in our industry have done.  We use our scale to 
execute a broader marketing strategy, not simply to build brand recognition and awareness, but also to build deeper relationships 
with our customers who we believe will help promote our brand.

To reach our target customer group, we advertise through a mix of mediums, including radio, billboards, social networking, and 
the Internet. In addition, we market through a national cable television campaign as a way to reach a broader audience.  During 
the first quarter of fiscal 2014, we will launch a national advertising campaign, with a greater focus in television, to increase media 
impressions as we strive to build deeper relationships with our customers.  We believe our shift to a greater emphasis on national 
advertising will help us improve and increase recognition of our brand and competitive differentiation.  

Our MyPanera customer loyalty program allows our customers to earn rewards based on registration in the program and purchases 
from our bakery-cafes.  We believe MyPanera has allowed us to build deeper relationships with our customers by enhancing their 
experience with us through their receipt of rewards and enticing them to return to our bakery-cafes.  Further, MyPanera offers us 
valuable insight into the preferences of our customers to help us further refine our marketing message and menu design.  At the 
end of fiscal 2013, approximately 16 million customers were enrolled in MyPanera, and during fiscal 2013, approximately 50 
percent of our transactions in our bakery-cafes were attached to a MyPanera loyalty program card. 

Our franchise agreements generally require our franchisees to contribute to advertising expenses.  For fiscal 2013, our franchise-
operated bakery-cafes contributed 1.8 percent of their net sales to a national advertising fund, paid us a marketing administration 
fee of 0.4 percent of their net sales, and were required to spend 1.6 percent of their net sales on advertising in their respective 
markets.  Under the terms of our franchise agreements, we have the ability to increase national advertising fund contributions 
from current levels up to a maximum of 2.6 percent of net sales.  In support of the commencement of our national advertising 
campaign, in fiscal 2014, the national advertising fund contribution percentage will increase to the maximum of 2.6 percent of 
net sales but the marketing administration fee of 0.4 percent of net sales will remain unchanged.  To balance the increase in the 
national advertising fund contribution percentage, the percent of net sales required to be spent on advertising in their respective 
markets will decrease to 0.8 percent of net sales in fiscal 2014.  The national advertising fund and marketing administration 
contributions from our franchise-operated bakery-cafes are consolidated in our financial statements with amounts contributed by 
us.  We contributed the same net sales percentages from Company-owned bakery-cafes towards the national advertising fund and 
marketing administration fee. 

We have established and may in the future establish local and/or regional advertising associations covering specific geographic 
regions for the purpose of promoting and advertising the bakery-cafes located in that geographic market.  If we establish an 
advertising association in a specific market, the franchise group in that market is required to participate in and to contribute to the 
association, in accordance with the advertising association bylaws.  Franchise contributions to the advertising association are 
credited towards the franchise groups’ required local advertising spending.
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Capital Resources and Deployment of Capital

Our primary capital resource is cash generated by operations.  We also have access to a $250 million credit facility.  During fiscal 
2013 we had no borrowings outstanding under the credit facility.

Our capital requirements, including development costs related to the opening or acquisition of additional Company-owned bakery-
cafes and fresh dough facilities, maintenance and remodel expenditures, and investments in technology infrastructure to support 
ongoing strategic initiatives have been and will continue to be significant.  However, we believe our cash flow from operations 
and available borrowings under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund our capital requirements for the foreseeable future.

We believe the best use of our capital is to invest in our core business, either through the development of new bakery-cafes or 
through the acquisition of existing bakery-cafes from our franchisees or other similar restaurant or bakery-cafe concepts, such as 
our acquisition of Paradise Bakery & Café, Inc.

In evaluating potential new bakery-cafe locations, we study the surrounding trade area and demographics, and publicly available 
information on competitors.  Based on this review and the use of proprietary, predictive modeling, we estimate projected sales 
and a targeted return on investment.  We also employ a disciplined capital expenditure process in which we focus on occupancy 
and development costs in relation to the market.  This process is designed to ensure we have an appropriate size bakery-cafe and 
deploy capital in the right market to generate desired returns.

Our concept has proved successful in different types of locations, such as in-line or end-cap locations in strip or power centers, 
regional malls, and free-standing units.  The average Company-owned bakery-cafe size was approximately 4,500 square feet as 
of December 31, 2013.  We lease nearly all of our bakery-cafe locations and all of our fresh dough facilities.  The reasonably 
assured lease term for most bakery-cafe and support center leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one renewal option 
period, which generally equates to an aggregate of 15 years.  The reasonably assured lease term for most fresh dough facility leases 
is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one to two renewal periods, which generally equates to an aggregate of 20 years.  Lease 
terms generally require us to pay a proportionate share of real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance, and other 
operating costs.  Many bakery-cafe leases provide for contingent rental (i.e., percentage rent) payments based on sales in excess 
of specified amounts.  Certain of our lease agreements provide for scheduled rent increases during the lease term or for rental 
payments commencing at a date other than the date of initial occupancy.

The average construction, equipment, furniture and fixtures, and signage cost excluding capitalized development overhead for the 
63 Company-owned bakery-cafes that opened in fiscal 2013 was approximately $1,050,000 per bakery-cafe.

On November 17, 2009, our Board of Directors approved a three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600 million of our 
Class A common stock, pursuant to which we repurchased shares on the open market under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which we refer 
to as the 2009 repurchase authorization. During fiscal 2012, we repurchased 34,600 shares under the 2009 repurchase authorization, 
at an average price of $144.24 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million. During fiscal 2011, we repurchased 
877,100 shares under the 2009 repurchase authorization, at an average price of $103.55 per share, for an aggregate purchase price 
of $90.8 million. On August 23, 2012, our Board of Directors terminated the 2009 repurchase authorization. Prior to its termination, 
we had repurchased an aggregate of 2,844,669 shares of our Class A common stock under the 2009 repurchase authorization, at 
a weighted-average price of $87.03 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $247.6 million. 

On August 23, 2012, our Board of Directors approved a new three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600 million of 
our Class A common stock, which we refer to as the 2012 repurchase authorization, pursuant to which we may repurchase shares 
from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and which may be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan.  
Repurchased shares may be retired immediately and resume the status of authorized but unissued shares or may be held by us as 
treasury stock.  The 2012 repurchase authorization is reviewed quarterly by our Board of Directors and may be modified, suspended, 
or discontinued at any time.  During fiscal 2013, we repurchased 1,992,250 shares under the 2012 repurchase authorization, at an 
average price of $166.73 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $332.1 million.  During fiscal 2012, we repurchased 124,100 
shares under the 2012 repurchase authorization, at an average price of $161.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of 
approximately $20.0 million. As of December 31, 2013, under the 2012 repurchase authorization, we have repurchased an aggregate 
of 2,116,350 shares, at a weighted-average price of $166.39 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $352.1 
million.  We have approximately $247.9 million available under the 2012 repurchase authorization.

In the past three fiscal years, we have acquired bakery-cafes from certain franchisees.  In April 2013, we acquired one bakery-
cafe from a Florida franchisee for a purchase price of approximately $2.7 million.  In March 2012, we acquired 16 bakery-cafes 
from a North Carolina franchisee for a purchase price of approximately $48.0 million.  In July 2011, we acquired five bakery-
cafes from an Indiana franchisee for a purchase price of approximately $5.1 million.  In April 2011, we acquired 25 bakery-cafes 
from our Milwaukee franchisee for a purchase price of approximately $41.9 million.  
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Franchise Operations

Our franchisees, which as of December 31, 2013, operated approximately 51 percent of our bakery-cafes, are comprised of 37 
franchise groups with an average of approximately 25 bakery-cafes per group.  We are selective in granting franchises, and 
applicants must meet specific criteria in order to gain consideration for a franchise.  Generally, our franchisees must be well-
capitalized to open bakery-cafes, meet a negotiated development schedule, and have a proven track record as a multi-unit restaurant 
operator.  Additional qualifications include minimum net worth and liquidity requirements, infrastructure and resources to meet 
our development schedule, and a commitment to the development of our brand.  If all of these qualifications are not met, we may 
still consider granting a franchise depending on the market and the particular circumstances.

As of December 31, 2013, we had 910 franchise-operated bakery-cafes operating throughout the United States and in Ontario, 
Canada, and we have received commitments to open 117 additional franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  The timetables for opening 
these bakery-cafes are generally established in our Area Development Agreements, or ADAs, with franchisees, which provide for 
the majority of these planned bakery-cafes to open in the next four to five years.  The ADAs require a franchisee to develop a 
specified number of bakery-cafes on or before specified dates.  If a franchisee fails to develop bakery-cafes on schedule, we have 
the right to terminate the ADA and develop Company-owned locations or develop locations through new franchisees in that market.  
We may exercise one or more alternative remedies to address defaults by area developers, including not only development defaults, 
but also defaults in complying with our operating and brand standards and other covenants under the ADAs and franchise 
agreements.  We may waive compliance with certain requirements under our ADAs and franchise agreements if we determine 
such action is warranted under the particular circumstances.

Pursuant to a typical ADA, we receive a franchise fee of $35,000 per bakery-cafe (of which we generally receive $5,000 at the 
signing of the ADA and $30,000 at or before the bakery-cafe opening) and continuing royalties, which are generally five percent 
of net sales per bakery-cafe.  Franchise royalties and fees in fiscal 2013 were $112.6 million, or 4.7 percent of our total revenues.  
Our franchise-operated bakery-cafes follow the same protocol for in-store operating standards, product quality, menu, site selection, 
and bakery-cafe construction as Company-owned bakery-cafes.  Generally, franchisees are required to purchase all of their fresh 
dough and other products from us or sources approved by us.  Our fresh dough facility system supplies fresh dough and other 
products to substantially all franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  We do not generally finance franchisee construction or ADA 
payments.  From time to time and on a limited basis, we may provide certain development or real estate services to franchisees 
in exchange for a payment equal to the total costs of the services plus an additional fee.  We also provide, for a fee, limited 
information technology services to our franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  As of December 31, 2013, we did not hold an equity 
interest in any of our franchise-operated bakery-cafes.

Bakery-Cafe Supply Chain

We believe our fresh dough facility system and supply chain function provide us a competitive advantage.  We have a unique 
supply-chain operation in which our regional fresh dough facilities supply on a daily basis dough for our fresh bread along with 
tuna, cream cheese, and certain produce to substantially all of our Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  As of 
December 31, 2013, we had 24 fresh dough facilities, 22 of which were Company-owned, including one located in Ontario, Canada, 
to support the 12 bakery-cafes located within that market.

Fresh dough is the key to our high-quality, artisan bread, and fresh produce is essential to our quality salads and sandwiches.  We 
distribute fresh dough and produce through a leased fleet of temperature controlled trucks operated by our associates.  As of 
December 31, 2013, we leased 220 trucks.  The optimal maximum distribution range is approximately 300 miles; however, when 
necessary, the distribution ranges may be up to 500 miles. 

Our bakers bake through the night, shaping, scoring, and finishing the dough by hand to bring our customers fresh-baked loaves, 
bagels, and sweet goods every morning.  In addition, our bakers bake high volume products throughout the day to continue to 
deliver abundant amounts of the highest quality and freshest bread possible.  We believe our fresh dough facilities have helped us 
and will continue to help us to maintain consistent food quality at our bakery-cafes.

We focus our growth in areas we believe allow us to continue to gain efficiencies through leveraging the fixed cost of the fresh 
dough facility structure.  There are opportunities we may not be able to currently address with our traditional fresh dough facility 
structure.  As a result, we may be required to construct additional fresh dough facilities or utilize alternative manufacturing and 
distribution processes consistent with our quality standards to address these needs.

Our supply chain management system is intended to provide bakery-cafes with high-quality food from reliable sources.  We 
contract externally for the manufacture of the remaining baked goods in the bakery-cafes, referred to as sweet goods.  Sweet goods 
products are completed at each bakery-cafe by our professionally trained bakers.  Completion includes finishing with fresh toppings 
and other ingredients and baking to established artisan standards utilizing unique recipes.
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We use independent distributors to distribute our proprietary sweet goods products, and other materials to bakery-cafes.  With the 
exception of products supplied directly by the fresh dough facilities, virtually all other food products and supplies for our bakery-
cafes, including paper goods, coffee, and smallwares, are contracted by us and delivered by vendors to an independent distributor 
for delivery to the bakery-cafes.  We maintain a list of approved suppliers and distributors from which we and our franchisees 
must select.  We leverage our size and scale to improve the quality of our ingredients, improve purchasing efficiency, and negotiate 
purchase agreements, which includes purchasing commodities under agreements with terms generally ranging from one month 
to one year, usually at a fixed price, with most of our approved suppliers to achieve cost reduction for both us and our customers.

Management Information Systems

We believe technology is quickly becoming a differentiator in the restaurant business and we are committed to being a leader in 
technology that makes a difference to our customers by providing a greater degree of access and convenience.  We have made and 
will continue to make substantial investments in technology designed to provide greater access for customers, increased operational 
capabilities and improvement in core enterprise systems.  

Each of our Company-owned bakery-cafes have programmed point-of-sale registers which collect transaction data used to generate 
pertinent information, including, among other things, transaction counts, product mix, and average check.  All Company-owned 
bakery-cafe product prices are programmed into the point-of-sale registers from our support centers.  We allow franchisees access 
to certain of our proprietary bakery-cafe systems and systems support.  Franchisees are responsible for providing the appropriate 
menu prices, discount rates, and tax rates for system programming.  Most bakery-cafes also provide customers free Internet access 
through a managed WiFi network.  As a result, we host one of the largest free public WiFi networks in the country.

We use in-store enterprise application tools to assist in labor scheduling and food cost management, to provide corporate and retail 
operations management quick access to retail data, to allow on-line ordering with distributors, and to reduce managers’ 
administrative time, and are investing in enhanced back-of-house forecasting and labor scheduling systems to improve the 
effectiveness of these capabilities.  We use retail data to generate daily and weekly consolidated reports regarding sales and other 
key metrics, as well as detailed profit and loss statements for our Company-owned bakery-cafes.  Additionally, we monitor the 
transaction counts, product mix, average check, and other sales trends.  We also use this retail data in our “exception-based 
reporting” tools to safeguard our cash, protect our assets, and train our associates.  Our fresh dough facilities have information 
systems which accept electronic orders from our bakery-cafes and monitor delivery of the ordered product back to our bakery-
cafes.  We also use proprietary on-line tools, such as eLearning, to provide on-line training for our retail and fresh dough facility 
associates and on-line baking instructions for our bakers.   

Competition

We compete with a variety of national, regional and locally-owned food service companies, including specialty food, casual dining 
and quick-service restaurants, bakeries, and restaurant retailers.  Our bakery-cafes compete in several segments of the restaurant 
business: breakfast, lunch, gathering place, dinner, take home, and catering.  We believe we are able to compete favorably against 
other food service providers through our convenient bakery-cafe locations, appealing environment, high-quality food, beverages, 
customer service, and marketing.  Some of our competitors are larger than we are and have substantially greater financial resources 
than we do.  For further information regarding competition, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 40,100 total associates of whom 22,700 work, on average, at least 25 hours per 
week.  Approximately 37,700 associates were employed in our bakery-cafe operations as bakers, managers, and associates, 
approximately 1,300 were employed in our fresh dough facility operations, and approximately 1,100 were employed in general 
or administrative functions, principally in our support centers.  We do not have any collective bargaining agreements with our 
associates and we consider our employee relations to be good.  We place a priority on staffing our bakery-cafes, fresh dough 
facilities, and support center operations with skilled associates and invest in training programs to ensure the quality of our operations.

Proprietary Rights

Our brand, intellectual property, and our confidential and proprietary information are very important to our business and competitive 
position.  We protect these assets through a combination of trademark, copyright, trade secret, unfair competition, and contract 
laws.

The Panera®, Panera Bread®, Saint Louis Bread Co.®, Panera® Catering, You Pick Two®, Paradise Bakery®, Paradise Bakery & 
Café®, the Mother Bread® design, and MyPanera® trademarks are some of the trademarks we have registered with the United 
States Patent and Trademark Office.  In addition, we have filed to register other trademarks with the United States Patent and 
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Trademark Office.  We have also registered some of our trademarks in a number of foreign countries.  In addition, we have 
registered and maintain numerous Internet domain names.

Corporate History and Additional Information

We are a Delaware corporation.  Our principal offices are located at 3630 South Geyer Road, Suite 100, St. Louis, Missouri, 63127, 
and our telephone number is (314) 984-1000.

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and, accordingly, we file reports, proxy statements, and 
other information with the SEC.  Such reports, proxy statements, and other information are publicly available and can be read and 
copied at the reference facilities maintained by the SEC at the Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, 
D.C., 20549.  Information regarding the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330.  The SEC maintains a web site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other 
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Our Internet address is www.panerabread.com.  We make available at this address, free of charge, press releases, annual reports 
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such material 
with, or furnishing it to, the SEC.  In addition, we provide periodic investor relations updates and our corporate governance 
materials at our Internet address.  The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  We have included our website address solely as an inactive textual reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors could materially affect our business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations.  The 
risks and uncertainties described below are those that we have identified as material, but are not the only risks and uncertainties 
we face.  Our business is also subject to general risks and uncertainties that affect many other companies, including overall economic 
and industry conditions.  Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently believe are not material 
also may impair our business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Disruptions in our bakery-cafe supply chain could adversely affect our profitability and operating results.

Our Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes depend on frequent deliveries of ingredients and other products.  We 
rely on one supplier to deliver the majority of our non-dough ingredients and other products to our bakery-cafes two or three times 
per week, and we supply our bakery-cafes with fresh dough and certain other products on a daily basis.  These frequent deliveries 
are susceptible to supply volatility as a result of adverse weather conditions, and any supply shortages or interruptions could 
adversely impact our operations.  Additionally, we currently depend on a limited number of suppliers for several of our proteins, 
such as selected proteins raised without antibiotics, which are sold in most Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  
As there are few producers of proteins raised without antibiotics, it may be difficult or more costly for us to find alternative 
suppliers, if necessary.

We believe that we have adequate sources of supply for our ingredients and products to support our bakery-cafe operations or, if 
necessary, we could make menu adjustments to address material supply issues.  In addition, we frequently enter into annual and 
multi-year contracts for ingredients in order to decrease the risks of supply interruptions and cost fluctuation.  However, there are 
many factors which could cause shortages or interruptions in the supply of our ingredients and products, including adverse weather, 
unanticipated demand, labor or distribution problems, food safety issues by our suppliers or distributors, cost, and the financial 
health of our suppliers and distributors.  Any disruptions in our bakery-cafe supply chain could adversely affect our profitability 
and operating results.

The market in which we compete is highly competitive, and we may not be able to compete effectively.

The restaurant industry is highly competitive with respect to location, customer service, price, value, food quality, ambiance, and 
overall customer experience.  We compete with national, regional, and locally owned food service companies, including specialty 
food, casual dining and quick-service restaurants, bakeries, and restaurant retailers.  Many of our competitors or potential 
competitors have greater financial and other resources than we do, which may allow them to react to changes in pricing, marketing, 
and trends in the restaurant industry more quickly or effectively than we can.  We also compete with other restaurant chains and 
other retail businesses for quality site locations and hourly employees.  If we are unable to successfully compete in our markets, 
we may be unable to sustain or increase our revenues and profitability.
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Changes in customer tastes and preferences may reduce the frequency of their visits to our bakery-cafes or may cause them 
to cease paying our prices for high-quality food.

Our success depends in large part on our customers' continued belief that food made with high-quality ingredients, including 
selected proteins raised without antibiotics, and our artisan breads, is worth the prices charged at our bakery-cafes relative to the 
lower prices offered by some of our competitors, particularly those in the quick-service segment.  Our inability to successfully 
educate customers about the quality of our food or our customers’ rejection of our pricing approach could result in decreased 
demand for our products or require us to change our pricing, marketing, or promotional strategies, which could materially and 
adversely affect our consolidated financial results or the brand identity that we have created.

Increased advertising and marketing costs could negatively impact our profitability.

We expect our advertising expenses to continue to increase and we intend to dedicate greater resources to national advertising and 
marketing in the future.  If new advertising and other marketing programs, including our digital advertising or national television 
advertising, do not result in increased net bakery-cafe sales or if the costs of advertising, media, or marketing increase greater than 
expected, our profitability could be materially adversely affected.

We expect to make substantial investments in our bakery-cafes and corporate offices in fiscal 2014 and in the future in an 
effort to improve bakery-cafe throughput to prepare for increased transactions, enable a better customer experience by 
affording greater access for customers, improve our in-bakery-cafe operational capabilities, and improve our core 
enterprise systems. 

Operational excellence and the continued improvement of our customer experience are among our highest priorities.  As a result, 
we expect to make significant investments during fiscal 2014 and going forward in technology, operational tools, and related 
systems, as well as the labor necessary to support this technology, in areas designed to positively impact the way in which our 
customers interact with us.  This will include, but is not limited to, the ordering process, food production and through the delivery 
of food to the customer.  Our inability to accurately predict the costs and rollout of such initiatives across our system or our failure 
to generate revenue and corresponding profits from such activities and investments could negatively impact our financial results. 

Economic conditions in the United States and globally could adversely affect our business and financial results and have 
a material adverse effect on our liquidity and capital resources as well as that of our suppliers.

As our business depends upon consumer discretionary spending, our financial results are sensitive to broader macroeconomic 
conditions.  Our customers may make fewer discretionary purchases as a result of, for example, unemployment, increased fuel 
and energy costs, foreclosures, bankruptcies, reduced access to credit and falling home prices.  Because a key point in our business 
strategy is maintaining our transaction counts, average check amount and margin growth, any significant decrease in customer 
traffic or average profit per transaction resulting from fewer purchases by our customers or our customers' preferences to trade 
down to lower priced products on our menu will negatively impact our financial performance.  If negative economic conditions 
persist for an extended period of time or worsen, consumers may make long-lasting changes to their discretionary purchasing 
behavior, including less frequent discretionary purchases on a more permanent basis.  Additionally, financial difficulties experienced 
by our suppliers could result in product delays or shortages.  Although there has been some improvement in certain economic 
indicators, the ability of the United States economy to continue to recover from these challenging economic conditions is likely 
to be affected by several national and global factors that are outside of our control.

Changes in food and supply costs could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations.

Our profitability depends in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in food and supply costs.  In the past, we have 
generally been able to recover inflationary cost and commodity price increases for, among other things, fuel, proteins, dairy, 
produce, wheat, tuna, and cream cheese through increased menu prices.  There have been, and there may be in the future, delays 
in implementing such menu price increases, and economic factors and competitive pressures may limit our ability to recover fully 
such cost increases.  Historically, the effects of inflation on our consolidated results of operations have not been materially adverse.  
However, increased volatility in certain commodity markets, including those for wheat, proteins, or produce, could have an adverse 
effect on our consolidated results of operations if we are unable to increase menu prices to cover such ingredient price increases.  
We could also be adversely affected by price increases specific to proteins we have chosen due to their specific quality profile or 
related criteria (e.g. proteins raised without antibiotics), the markets for which are generally smaller and more concentrated than 
the markets for other commodity food products.
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Disruptions or supply issues in our fresh dough facilities could adversely affect our business and consolidated results of 
operations.

We operate 22 Company-owned fresh dough facilities, which service substantially all of our Company-owned and franchise-
operated bakery-cafes.  Our fresh dough and other product distribution system delivers fresh dough and other products daily to 
the bakery-cafes through a leased fleet of temperature controlled vehicles.  The optimal maximum distribution range is 
approximately 300 miles; although, when necessary, the distribution range may reach up to 500 miles.  As a result, any prolonged 
disruption in the operations of, or distribution from any of our fresh dough facilities, including due to weather conditions, technical 
or labor difficulties, destruction of, or damage to the vehicle fleet or facilities, could result in a shortage of fresh dough and other 
products at our bakery-cafes, and, depending on its extent and duration, have a material adverse effect on our business and 
consolidated results of operations.

Additionally, given that we rely on trucks for the delivery of items from our fresh dough facilities, any increased costs and 
distribution issues related to fuel could also materially adversely impact our business and consolidated results of operations.

Our Franklin, Massachusetts fresh dough facility manufactures and supplies through its distributors all of the cream cheese and 
tuna used in most of our Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes in the United States.  Additionally, we distribute 
a number of fresh produce products provided from our suppliers through our fresh dough facility system.  Although we believe 
we have adopted adequate quality assurance and other procedures to ensure the production and distribution of quality products 
and ingredients, we may be subject to allegations regarding quality, health, or other similar concerns that could have a negative 
impact on our operations, whether or not the allegations are valid or we are liable.  Additionally, defending against such claims 
or litigation could be costly and the results uncertain.

Security breaches of confidential customer information or personal employee information may adversely affect our 
business.

Each year, we engage in millions of transactions with our customers.  The majority of our bakery-cafe sales are by credit or debit 
cards.  In connection with credit card sales, we and our franchisees transmit confidential credit card information by way of secure 
private retail networks.  Although we use private networks, third parties may have the technology or know-how to breach the 
security of the customer information transmitted in connection with credit card sales, and we and our franchisees' security measures 
and those of our technology vendors may not effectively prohibit others from obtaining improper access to this information.  If a 
third party is able to circumvent these security measures, he or she could destroy or steal information or disrupt our operations.  
Other restaurants and retailers have experienced security breaches in which credit and debit card information of their customers 
has been stolen.  If we or our franchisees are unable to protect our customers' credit card data, we or our franchisees could be 
exposed to data loss, litigation, and liability, and our reputation could be significantly harmed.

We also maintain certain personal information regarding our employees. If a third party is able to circumvent the security measures 
intended to protect our customer or employee private data, he or she could destroy or steal information or disrupt our operations, 
which could significantly harm our reputation or result in litigation against us or the imposition of penalties. 

We may not be successful in implementing important strategic initiatives, which may have an adverse impact on our 
business and consolidated financial results.

Our business depends upon our ability to continue to grow and evolve through various important strategic initiatives.  There can 
be no assurance that we will be able to implement these important strategic initiatives or that these strategic initiatives will deliver 
on their intended results, which could in turn adversely affect our business.  

These strategic initiatives include:

• introducing new menu items and improving existing items consistent with customer tastes and expectations;

• balancing unit growth while meeting target returns on invested capital for locations;

• identifying alternative formats for our bakery-cafes to enable us to open locations in more diverse locations;

• investing in technology and systems designed to enable our managers to focus their energy on the customer and improve 
the customer experience in our bakery-cafes;

• increasing brand awareness through greater investment in marketing and advertising, including increased digital 
advertising and national television advertising and continued leveraging of our MyPanera loyalty program;
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• investing in labor and the related management tools to meet the demands necessary to maximize throughput and capacity 
in our bakery-cafes; 

• simplifying our operating procedures to facilitate the operation of a high volume bakery-cafe; and

• investing in technology designed to drive demand, increase transaction counts and frequency in our bakery-cafes.

Our ability to increase our revenues and operating profits could be adversely affected if we are unable to execute our 
growth strategy or achieve sufficient returns on invested capital in bakery-cafe locations.

Our growth strategy primarily consists of new market development and further penetration of existing markets, both by us and 
our franchisees, including the selection of sites which will achieve targeted returns on invested capital.  The success of this strategy 
depends on numerous factors that are not completely controlled by us or involve risks that may impact the development, or timing 
of development, of our bakery-cafes.  Our ability to grow the number of bakery-cafes successfully will depend on a number of 
factors, including:

• obstacles to hiring and training qualified operating personnel in the local market;

• identification and availability of suitable locations for new bakery-cafes on acceptable terms, including costs and 
appropriate delivery distances from our fresh dough facilities;

• competition for restaurant sites;

• variations in the number and timing of bakery-cafe openings as compared to our construction schedule;

• management of the costs of construction of bakery-cafes, particularly factors outside our control, such as the timing of 
delivery of a leased location by the landlord;

• our ability to negotiate favorable economic and business terms;

• our ability to secure required governmental approvals and permits and comply with applicable zoning, land use, and 
environmental regulations; and

• shortages of construction materials and labor.

Our growth strategy also includes continued development of bakery-cafes through franchising.  At December 31, 2013, 
approximately 51 percent of our bakery-cafes were operated by franchisees (910 franchise-operated bakery-cafes out of a total of 
1,777 bakery-cafes system-wide).  The opening and successful operation of bakery-cafes by franchisees depends on a number of 
factors, including those identified above, as well as the availability of suitable franchise candidates and the financial and other 
resources of our franchisees such as our franchisees’ ability to receive financing from banks and other financial institutions, which 
may become more challenging in the current economic environment.

As noted above, identifying and securing an adequate supply of suitable new bakery-cafe sites presents significant challenges 
because of the intense competition for those sites in our target markets, and increasing development and leasing costs.  This may 
be especially true as we continue to expand into more urban locations.  Further, any restrictions or limitations of credit markets 
may require developers to delay or be unable to finance new projects.  Delays or failures in opening new restaurants due to any 
of the reasons set forth above could materially and adversely affect our growth strategy and our expected results.  

Our success in part depends on the success of our franchisees business.

Our success depends in part on the operations of our franchisees.  While we provide training and support to, and monitor the 
operations of, our franchisees, the product quality and service they deliver may be diminished by any number of factors beyond 
our control, including financial pressures.  We strive to ensure our customers have the same experience at Company-owned bakery-
cafes and franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  Our customers may attribute to us problems which originate with one of our franchisees, 
particularly those affecting the quality of the service experience, food safety, litigation or compliance with laws and regulations, 
thus damaging our reputation and brand value and potentially adversely affecting our results of operations.

Furthermore, our consolidated results of operations include revenues derived from royalties on sales from, and revenues from 
sales by our fresh dough facilities to, franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  As a result, our growth expectations and revenues could 
be negatively impacted by a material downturn in sales at and to franchise-operated bakery-cafes or if one or more key franchisees 
becomes insolvent and unable to pay us royalties.



11

Although we have been able to successfully manage our growth to date, we may experience difficulties doing so in the 
future.

Our growth strategy includes selectively opening bakery-cafes in Canada and urban areas where we may have limited operating 
experience.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that a bakery-cafe opened in such areas will have similar operating results, 
including average weekly net sales, as our existing bakery-cafes.  New markets may not perform as expected or may take longer 
to reach planned operating levels, if ever.  Operating results or overall bakery-cafe performance in these areas could vary as a 
result of higher construction, occupancy, or general operating costs, a lack of familiarity with our brand which may require us to 
build local brand awareness, differing demographics, consumer tastes, and spending patterns, and variable competitive 
environments.  Additional expenses attributable to costs of delivery from our fresh dough facilities may exceed our expectations 
in areas that are not currently served by those facilities.

Our growth strategy also includes opening bakery-cafes in existing markets to increase our penetration rate in those markets.  
While we do not intend to open new bakery-cafes that substantially cannibalize the sales of existing bakery-cafes, there can be 
no assurance that such sales impact will not occur or become more significant in the future as we increase our presence in existing 
markets.

Damage to our brands or reputation could negatively impact our business.

Our success depends substantially on the value of our brands and our reputation for offering high-quality food and a memorable 
experience with superior customer service.  Our brands have been highly rated in annual consumer surveys and have received 
high recognition in industry publications.  We believe that we must protect and grow the value of our brands through our Concept 
Essence to differentiate ourselves from our competitors and continue our success.  Any incident that erodes consumer trust in or 
affinity for our brands could significantly reduce their value and have an adverse effect on our business.

Customer preferences and traffic could be adversely impacted by health concerns about certain food products, reports of 
food-borne illnesses or food safety issues, any of which could result in a decrease in demand for our products.

Customer preferences and traffic could be adversely impacted by health concerns or negative publicity about the consumption of 
particular food products, which could cause a decline in demand for those products and adversely impact our sales. Additionally, 
regardless of the source or cause, reports of food-borne illnesses or other food safety issues (including food tampering or 
contamination) in the food service industry could cause customers to shift their preferences, result in negative publicity regarding 
restaurants generally and adversely impact our sales. For example, past outbreaks of E. coli in certain beef products and outbreaks 
of salmonella in cantaloupes, jalapeños and spinach caused consumers to avoid these products. These problems, other food-borne 
illnesses (such as hepatitis A or trichinosis), and injuries caused by food tampering have in the past, and could in the future, require 
us to temporarily close bakery-cafes. The occurrence of food-borne illnesses or food safety issues could also adversely affect the 
price and availability of affected ingredients, resulting in higher costs and a decrease in customer traffic to our bakery-cafes. 

Loss of senior management could adversely affect our future success.

Our success depends on the services of our senior management, all of whom are “at will” employees.  The loss of a member of 
senior management could have an adverse impact on our business or the financial market’s perception of our ability to continue 
to grow.

Increased labor costs or difficulties in recruiting the right associates could adversely affect our future results.

Our success depends, in part, on our continuing ability to hire, train, motivate, and retain qualified associates in our bakery-cafes, 
fresh dough facilities, and support centers in a competitive labor market.  Our failure to do so could result in higher associate 
turnover and increased labor costs, and could compromise the quality of our service, all of which could adversely affect our 
business.

We have limited operating experience in Canada and we may be exposed to uncertainties and risks that could negatively 
impact our consolidated results of operations.

We expanded our Company-owned and franchise-operated operations into Canadian markets. Our expansion into Canada has 
made us subject to Canadian economic conditions, particularly currency exchange rate fluctuations, increased regulations, quotas, 
tariffs, and political factors, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition and results 
of operations as our Canadian operations continue to expand. Further, we may be exposed to new forms of competition not present 
in our domestic markets, as well as subject to potentially different demographic tastes and preferences for our products.
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If we fail to comply with governmental laws or regulations or if these laws or regulations change, our business could suffer.

In connection with the operation of our business, we are subject to extensive federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations 
that are complex and vary from location to location, including those related to:

• franchise relationships;

• building construction and zoning requirements;

• nutritional content labeling and disclosure requirements;

• management and protection of the personal data of our employees and customers; and

• environmental matters.

Our bakery-cafes and fresh dough facilities are licensed and subject to regulation under federal, state, local and foreign laws, 
including business, health, fire, and safety codes. For example, we are subject to the U.S. Americans with Disabilities Act, or 
ADA, and similar state laws that give civil rights protections to individuals with disabilities in the context of employment, public 
accommodations and other areas.

In addition, various federal, state, local and foreign labor laws govern our operations and our relationship with our associates, 
including prevailing wages, overtime, accommodation and working conditions, benefits, work authorization requirements, 
insurance matters, workers’ compensation, disability laws such as the ADA discussed above, child labor laws, and anti-
discrimination laws.

Although we believe that compliance with these laws has not had a material adverse effect on our operations to date, we may 
experience material difficulties or failures with respect to compliance with such laws in the future. Our failure to comply with 
these laws could result in required renovations to our facilities, litigation, fines, penalties, judgments, or other sanctions including 
the temporary suspension of bakery-cafe or fresh dough facility operations or a delay in construction or opening of a bakery-cafe, 
any of which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.

In addition, new government initiatives or changes to existing laws, such as the adoption and implementation of national, state, 
or local government proposals relating to increases in minimum wage rates, may increase our costs of doing business and adversely 
affect our results of operations.

Regulatory changes in and customer focus on nutrition and advertising practices could adversely affect our business.

There continues to be increased consumer emphasis on and regulatory scrutiny of restaurants operating in the quick-service and 
fast-casual segments with respect to nutrition and advertising practices. While we have responded to these developments by 
updating our menu boards and printed menus in all of our Company-owned bakery-cafes to include caloric information, we may 
become subject to other regulations in the area of nutrition disclosure or advertising which would require us to make certain 
additional nutritional information available to our customers or restrict the sales of certain types of ingredients. We may experience 
higher costs associated with the implementation and oversight of such changes that could have an adverse impact on our business.

Rising insurance costs could negatively impact our profitability.

We self-insure a significant portion of potential losses under our workers’ compensation, medical, general, auto, and property 
liability programs. The liabilities associated with the risks that are retained by us are estimated, in part, by considering our historical 
claims experience and data from industry and other actuarial sources. The estimated accruals for these liabilities could be affected 
if claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends. Unanticipated changes in the actuarial assumptions and management 
estimates underlying our reserves of these losses could result in materially different amounts of expense under these programs, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to complaints and litigation that could have an adverse effect on our business.

In the ordinary course of our business, we have been, and we expect that in the future we will be, subject to complaints and litigation 
alleging that we are responsible for customer illness or injury suffered during or after a visit to one of our Company-owned bakery-
cafes or franchise-operated bakery-cafes, including allegations of poor food quality, food-borne illness, adverse health effects, 
nutritional content or allergens, advertising claims or personal injury claims. In addition, from time to time, we are subject to 
litigation by employees, investors, franchisees, and others through private actions, class actions or other forums, including those 
alleging violations of various federal and state wage and hour laws regarding, among other things, overtime eligibility and failure 
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to pay for all hours worked. The outcome of litigation, particularly class actions and regulatory actions, is inherently difficult to 
assess or quantify, and the defense against such claims or actions can be costly. In addition to decreasing sales and profitability 
and diverting financial and management resources, we may suffer from adverse publicity that could harm our brand, regardless 
of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are liable. Moreover, we are subject to the same risks of adverse publicity 
resulting from allegations even if the claim involves one of our franchisees. A judgment significantly in excess of our insurance 
coverage for any claims could materially and adversely affect our consolidated financial condition or results of operations. 

Our failure or inability to protect our trademarks or other proprietary rights could adversely affect our business and 
competitive position.

We believe that our intellectual property and confidential and proprietary information are essential to our business and competitive 
position. Our trademarks, copyrights, service marks, trade secrets, confidential and proprietary information, and other intellectual 
property rights, are key components of our operating and marketing strategies. Although we have taken steps to protect our brand, 
intellectual property, and confidential and proprietary information, these steps may not be adequate. Unauthorized usage or imitation 
by others could harm our image, brand, or competitive position and, if we commence litigation to enforce our rights, cause us to 
incur significant legal fees.

We do not believe that our trademarks, menu offerings or newly developed technology platforms related to our initiatives designed 
to improve bakery-cafe throughput, customer experience and greater access for our customers, infringe upon the proprietary rights 
of third parties.  An infringement claim, whether or not it has merit, could be time-consuming to defend against, result in costly 
litigation, cause delays or suspensions in marketing or introducing new menu items in the future or the rollout of initiatives such 
as those noted above, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements.  As a result, any such claim could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

We try to ensure that our franchisees maintain and protect our brand and our confidential and proprietary information. However, 
since our franchisees are independent third parties that we do not control, if they do not operate their bakery-cafes in a manner 
consistent with their agreements with us, our brand and reputation or the value of our confidential and proprietary information 
could be harmed. If this occurs, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

We rely heavily on information technology and any material failure, interruption, or security breach in our systems could 
adversely affect our business.

We rely heavily on information technology systems across our operations, including for the order and delivery of fresh dough 
from our fresh dough facilities, point-of-sale processing in our bakery-cafes, gift and loyalty cards, online business, and various 
other processes and transactions, including the storage of employee and customer information. Our ability to effectively manage 
our business and coordinate the production, distribution, and sale of our products depends significantly on the reliability and 
capacity of these systems. The failure of these systems to operate effectively, problems with transitioning to upgraded or replacement 
systems, or a breach in security of these systems could cause delays in product sales and reduced efficiency of our operations, and 
significant capital investments could be required to remediate the problem. 

We periodically acquire existing bakery-cafes from our franchisees or ownership interests in other restaurant or bakery-
cafe concepts, which could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations.

Periodically, we have acquired existing bakery-cafes from our franchisees either by negotiated agreement or exercise of our rights 
of first refusal under the franchise and area development agreements.  Any acquisition that we undertake involves risk, including:

• our ability to successfully achieve anticipated synergies, accurately assess contingent and other liabilities as well as 
potential profitability;

• failure to successfully integrate the acquired entity’s operational and support activities;

• unanticipated changes in business and economic conditions;

• limited or no operational experience in the acquired bakery-cafe market;

• future impairment charges related to goodwill and other acquired intangible assets; and

• risks of dispute and litigation with the seller, the seller’s landlords, and vendors and other parties.

Any of these factors could strain our financial and management resources as well as negatively impact our consolidated results 
of operations.
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Unforeseen weather may disrupt our business.

Unforeseen natural disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, or other adverse weather and climate conditions, could disrupt our 
operations or those of our franchisees, or suppliers. For example, in 2012, Hurricane Sandy resulted in the temporary closing of 
60 Company-owned bakery-cafes and 112 franchise-operated bakery-cafes along the east coast. These events could reduce traffic 
in our bakery-cafes, make it difficult or impossible for bakery-cafes to receive deliveries of ingredients or other products, and 
otherwise impede our or our franchisees’ ability to continue business operations in a manner consistent with the level and extent 
of business activities prior to the occurrence of the unexpected weather, which in turn may materially and adversely impact our 
business and operating results.

Our operating results fluctuate due to a number of factors, some of which may be beyond our control, and any of which 
may adversely affect our consolidated financial condition.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly from our forecasts, targets, or projections because of a number of factors, including 
the following:

• changes in average weekly net sales and comparable net bakery-cafe sales due to:

• lower customer traffic or average check per transaction, including as a result of the introduction or removal of new 
menu items;

• changes in demographics, consumer preferences, and discretionary spending;

• negative publicity about the ingredients we use or the occurrence of food-borne illnesses or other problems at our 
bakery-cafes; and

• seasonality, including as a result of inclement weather.

• cost increases due to:

• changes in our operating costs;

• labor availability and increased labor costs, including wages of management and associates, compensation, insurance, 
and health care; and

• changes in business strategy including concept evolution and new designs.

• profitability of new bakery-cafes, especially in new markets;

• delays in new bakery-cafe openings; and

• fluctuations in supply costs, shortages, or interruptions.

As a result of these factors, results for any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any other quarter 
or for any year. Average weekly sales or comparable bakery-cafe sales in any particular future period may decrease. In the future, 
operating results may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, which could cause our stock price to fall. 
We believe the market price of our common stock reflects high market expectations for our future operating results. As a result, 
if we fail to meet market expectations for our operating results in the future, any resulting decline in the price of our common 
stock could be significant.

Our federal, state, and local tax returns have been, and may in the future be, selected for audit by the tax authorities, which 
may result in tax assessments or penalties that could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position 
and results of operations.

We are subject to federal, state, and local taxes in the United States and Canada, including income, sales, use, and other applicable 
taxes. Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for taxes. Additionally, sales and use tax requirements are 
often fact-specific, complex and vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, which complicates monitoring and compliance. Although 
we believe our tax estimates are reasonable and our procedures for collecting sales taxes are appropriate, from time to time, federal, 
state, and local tax authorities have challenged, and may in the future challenge, positions we have taken on our tax returns or our 
sales tax collection policies. If we are unable to resolve these challenges favorably, we could incur additional tax liability, including 
interest and penalties. If material, payment of such additional amounts upon final adjudication, or resolution of any disputes, could 
have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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A regional or global health pandemic could severely affect our business.

A health pandemic is a disease outbreak that spreads rapidly and widely by infection and affects many individuals in an area or 
population at the same time. If a regional or global health pandemic occurs, depending upon its duration, location, and severity, 
our business could be severely affected. Generally, we are viewed by our customers as a high-quality, friendly, all day destination 
where people can gather with family, friends, and business colleagues. Customers may avoid public gathering places in the event 
of a health pandemic, and local, regional, or national governments might limit or ban public gatherings to halt or delay the spread 
of disease. A regional or global health pandemic might also adversely impact our business by disrupting or delaying production 
and delivery of ingredients and products in our supply chain and by causing staffing shortages in our bakery-cafes.

Regional factors could negatively impact our consolidated results of operations.

There are several states in which we, our franchisees, or both, own and operate a significant number of bakery-cafes. As a result, 
the economic conditions, state and local laws, government regulations, and weather conditions affecting those particular states, 
or a geographic region generally, may have a material impact upon our consolidated results of operations.  

If we are unable to continue to repurchase our stock consistent with investor expectations, our EPS growth rate and stock 
price may be negatively affected.

The stock repurchase program could require the use of a significant portion of or exceed our cash flow.  Our ability to repurchase 
stock will depend on our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future or to borrow money from available 
lending sources.  Any failure to repurchase stock following an announcement of our intention to do so could negatively impact 
our earnings per share growth rate and potentially our stock price.

The pending implementation of recent changes to healthcare laws in the United States may significantly increase our 
healthcare costs and negatively impact our financial results.

We offer eligible U.S. employees the opportunity to enroll in healthcare coverage subsidized by us.  For various reasons, many 
of our eligible employees currently choose not to participate in our healthcare plans.  While recently delayed, the changes to the 
U.S. healthcare laws, once effective, may lead some eligible employees who currently do not participate in our healthcare plans 
to enroll for coverage and may result in some currently ineligible employees becoming eligible and enrolling for coverage.  Such 
changes in the law include the imposition of a penalty on an individual who does not obtain healthcare coverage, penalties for 
employers who do not offer affordable coverage to certain employees and provisions making certain individuals who can obtain 
employer coverage ineligible for healthcare premium tax subsidies that would otherwise be available in connection with the 
purchase of coverage through an exchange.  If a significant number of employees who do not currently participate in our subsidized 
healthcare plans enroll as a result of the changes in law, our healthcare costs may increase significantly and negatively impact our 
financial results.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The average size of a Company-owned bakery-cafe as of December 31, 2013 was approximately 4,500 square feet.  The square 
footage of each of our fresh dough facilities is provided below.  We lease nearly all of our bakery-cafe locations, fresh dough 
facilities, and support centers.  The reasonably assured lease term for most bakery-cafe and support center leases is the initial non-
cancelable lease term plus one renewal option period, which generally equates to an aggregate of 15 years.  The reasonably assured 
lease term for most fresh dough facility leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one to two renewal periods, which 
generally equates to an aggregate of 20 years.  Lease terms generally require us to pay a proportionate share of real estate taxes, 
insurance, common area maintenance, and other operating costs.  Certain bakery-cafe leases provide for contingent rental (i.e., 
percentage rent) payments based on sales in excess of specified amounts, scheduled rent increases during the lease terms, and/or 
rental payments commencing at a date other than the date of initial occupancy.  See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements 
for further information on our accounting for leases.
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The square footage of our Company-owned leased fresh dough facilities as of December 31, 2013 is set forth below:

 Square
Facility Footage
Albuquerque, NM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,800
Atlanta, GA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,000
Beltsville, MD. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,700
Chandler, AZ. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,500
Chicago, IL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52,000
Cincinnati, OH . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,300
Denver, CO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000
Detroit, MI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,600
Fairfield, NJ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,900
Franklin, MA (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,300
Greensboro, NC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,200
Houston, TX . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,700
Kansas City, KS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,500
Minneapolis, MN . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,300
Miramar, FL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,100
Ontario, CA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,800
Orlando, FL. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Seattle, WA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,600
St. Louis, MO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,000
Stockton, CA. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,800
Warren, OH. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,800
Ontario, Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,000

(1) Total square footage includes approximately 20,000 square feet utilized for tuna and cream cheese production.
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As of December 31, 2013, 1,777 bakery-cafes operated in the following locations:

Location
Company-Owned

Bakery-Cafes
Franchise-Operated

Bakery-Cafes
Total

Bakery-Cafes
Alabama . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16 3 19
Arizona . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 9 41
Arkansas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 9 9
California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68 81 149
Colorado . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 35 35
Connecticut. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 15 33
Delaware. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 6 6
Florida . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59 101 160
Georgia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 27 46
Illinois. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76 34 110
Indiana . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 — 38
Iowa . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 17 20
Kansas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 20 20
Kentucky . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 3 22
Louisiana . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5 5
Maine . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 6 6
Maryland . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 51 51
Massachusetts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 38 69
Michigan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 19 70
Minnesota . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 3 26
Mississippi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1 1
Missouri . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46 25 71
Nebraska. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 2 15
Nevada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 6 6
New Hampshire . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10 10
New Jersey . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43 12 55
New Mexico . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 — 5
New York . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 48 96
North Carolina . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 15 49

North Dakota . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 — 2
Ohio . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 114 123
Oklahoma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 18 18
Oregon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 — 7
Pennsylvania. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 59 88
Rhode Island. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 8 8
South Carolina . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 8 17
South Dakota . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 — 2
Tennessee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16 19 35
Texas. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 47 68
Utah . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 8 8
Vermont . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 — 5
Virginia. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66 12 78
Washington. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 — 24
West Virginia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 9 9
Wisconsin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 2 26
District of Columbia. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 — 4
Ontario, Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 5 12
 867 910 1,777

Included in the number of Company-owned bakery-cafes is one takeout and delivery concept unit.  Excluded from the number of 
Company-owned bakery-cafes are six catering-only units, referred to as catering hubs.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and litigation that arise in the ordinary course of our 
business.  As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not a party to any litigation, the outcome of which, if 
determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on 
our results of operations, cash flows, financial position or brand.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “PNRA.”  There is no 
established public trading market for our Class B common stock.  For the periods indicated, the following table sets forth the 
quarterly high and low sale prices per share of our Class A common stock as reported by Nasdaq.

For the fiscal year ended
 December 31, 2013 December 25, 2012
 High Low High Low
First Quarter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 166.53 $ 155.00 $ 164.71 $ 136.19
Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 193.82 $ 163.76 $ 162.33 $ 140.19
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 190.71 $ 164.02 $ 172.85 $ 136.45
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 178.92 $ 153.15 $ 173.10 $ 156.64

On February 18, 2014, the last sale price for our Class A common stock, as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, was 
$173.18.  As of February 18, 2014, we had 1,199 holders of record of our Class A common stock and 26 holders of record of our 
Class B common stock.

Dividend Policy

We periodically evaluate various options for the use of our capital, including the potential issuance of dividends.  We have never 
paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not have current plans to do so.

Share Repurchases

On August 23, 2012, our Board of Directors approved a three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600 million of our 
Class A common stock, pursuant to which we may repurchase shares from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated 
transactions and which may be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan.  Repurchased shares may be retired immediately and resume the 
status of authorized but unissued shares or may be held by us as treasury stock.  This repurchase authorization is reviewed quarterly 
by our Board of Directors and may be modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time.  During fiscal 2013, we repurchased 
1,992,250 shares under this share repurchase authorization, at an average price of $166.73 per share, for an aggregate purchase 
price of $332.1 million.  We have repurchased an aggregate of 2,116,350 shares of our Class A common stock cumulatively under 
this share repurchase authorization, at a weighted-average price of $166.39 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of 
approximately $352.1 million.  We have approximately $247.9 million available under the existing $600 million repurchase 
authorization.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we repurchased Class A common stock as follows:

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased (1)

Weight-
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced

Program (2)

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased Under
the Announced Program

September 25, 2013 - October 22, 2013. . 395,110 $ 160.82 395,100 $ 322,971,569

October 23, 2013 - November 26, 2013 . . 314,573 $ 161.33 313,000 $ 272,488,692

November 27, 2013 - December 31, 2013 139,264 $ 176.86 139,264 $ 247,859,138
Total 848,947 $ 163.64 847,364 $ 247,859,138

(1) Includes Class A common stock surrendered by participants under the Panera Bread 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and the Panera 
Bread 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, as payment of applicable tax withholding on the vesting of restricted stock.  
Shares so surrendered by the participants are repurchased by us pursuant to the terms of those plans and the applicable award 
agreements and not pursuant to publicly announced share repurchase authorizations.

(2) Number of Class A common stock shares that were repurchased under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan, as described above.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has been derived from our consolidated financial statements.  The data set forth below should 
be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

  For the fiscal year ended (1)
 (in thousands, except per share and percentage information)

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

December 27,
2011

December 28,
2010

December 29,
2009

Revenues:      
Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,108,908 $ 1,879,280 $ 1,592,951 $ 1,321,162 $ 1,153,255
Franchise royalties and fees. . . . . . . . . . 112,641 102,076 92,793 86,195 78,367
Fresh dough and other product sales to
franchisees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163,453 148,701 136,288 135,132 121,872

Total revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,385,002 2,130,057 1,822,032 1,542,489 1,353,494
Costs and expenses:      

Bakery-cafe expenses:      
Cost of food and paper products. . . . $ 625,622 $ 552,580 $ 470,398 $ 374,816 $ 337,599
Labor. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 625,457 559,446 484,014 419,140 370,595
Occupancy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,816 130,793 115,290 100,970 95,996
Other operating expenses . . . . . . . . . 295,539 256,029 216,237 177,059 155,396

Total bakery-cafe expenses . . . . . 1,695,434 1,498,848 1,285,939 1,071,985 959,586
Fresh dough and other product cost of
sales to franchisees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142,160 131,006 116,267 110,986 100,229
Depreciation and amortization. . . . . . . . . 106,523 90,939 79,899 68,673 67,162
General and administrative expenses. . . . 123,335 117,932 113,083 101,494 83,169
Pre-opening expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,794 8,462 6,585 4,282 2,451

Total costs and expenses . . . . . . . 2,075,246 1,847,187 1,601,773 1,357,420 1,212,597
Operating profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 309,756 282,870 220,259 185,069 140,897
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,053 1,082 822 675 700
Other (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . (4,017) (1,208) (466) 4,232 273
Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . 312,720 282,996 219,903 180,162 139,924
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116,551 109,548 83,951 68,563 53,073

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 196,169 173,448 135,952 111,599 86,851
Less: net (loss) income attributable to
noncontrolling interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (267) 801

Net income attributable to Panera
Bread Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 196,169 $ 173,448 $ 135,952 $ 111,866 $ 86,050

Earnings per common share attributable
to Panera Bread Company:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.85 $ 5.94 $ 4.59 3.65 $ 2.81
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.81 $ 5.89 $ 4.55 $ 3.62 $ 2.78

Weighted average shares of common and
common equivalent shares outstanding:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,629 29,217 29,601 30,614 30,667
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,794 29,455 29,903 30,922 30,979
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  For the fiscal year ended (1)
 (in thousands, except per share and percentage information)

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

December 27,
2011

December 28,
2010

December 29,
2009

Consolidated balance sheet data:      
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . $ 125,245 $ 297,141 $ 222,640 $ 229,299 $ 246,400
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . 43,064 42,223 31,228 23,905 16,211
Property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . 669,409 571,754 492,022 444,094 403,784
Total assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,180,862 1,268,163 1,027,322 924,581 837,165
Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 303,325 277,540 238,334 211,516 142,259
Long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 177,645 168,704 133,912 117,457 97,870
Stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 699,892 821,919 655,076 595,608 597,036

Franchisee revenues (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,175,155 $ 1,981,674 $ 1,828,188 $ 1,802,116 $ 1,640,309
Comparable net bakery-cafe sales
percentage for (2)(3):      

Company-owned bakery-cafes . . . . . . . 4.5% 6.5% 4.9% 7.5% 2.4%
Franchise-operated bakery-cafes . . . . . . 3.9% 5.0% 3.4% 8.2% 2.0%

Bakery-cafe data:      
Company-owned bakery-cafes open . . . 867 809 740 662 585
Franchise-operated bakery-cafes open . 910 843 801 791 795

Total bakery-cafes open . . . . . . . . . . . 1,777 1,652 1,541 1,453 1,380

(1) The fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, or fiscal 2013, was a 53 week year consisting of 371 days.  All other fiscal years 
presented contained 52 weeks consisting of 364 days.

(2) We do not record franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales as revenues.  However, royalty revenues are calculated based on 
a percentage of franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales, as reported by franchisees.  We use franchise-operated and system-
wide sales information internally in connection with store development decisions, planning, and budgeting analyses.  We 
believe franchise-operated and system-wide sales information is useful in assessing consumer acceptance of our brand, 
facilitates an understanding of financial performance and the overall direction and trends of sales and operating income, helps 
us appreciate the effectiveness of our advertising and marketing initiatives to which our franchisees also contribute based on 
a percentage of their sales, and provides information that is relevant for comparison within the industry.

(3) Comparable net bakery-cafe sales for fiscal 2013 contained 53 weeks of sales, with an impact of approximately $28.3 million 
and $30.5 million of sales in the additional week for Company-owned and franchise-operated base store bakery-cafes, 
respectively.  Adjusted to reflect a comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012 (52 weeks in fiscal 2012 plus week one of fiscal 
2013), Company-owned, franchise-operated, and system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013, or fiscal 2013, would have been approximately 2.6 percent, 2.0 percent, and 2.3 percent, respectively.  

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

General

Our revenues are derived from Company-owned net bakery-cafe sales, fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees, and 
franchise royalties and fees.  Fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees are primarily comprised of sales of fresh dough, 
produce, tuna, and cream cheese to certain of our franchisees.  Franchise royalties and fees include royalty income and franchise 
fees.  The cost of food and paper products, labor, occupancy, and other operating expenses relate primarily to Company-owned 
net bakery-cafe sales.  The cost of fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees relates primarily to the sale of fresh dough, 
produce, tuna, and cream cheese to certain of our franchisees.  General and administrative, depreciation and amortization, and 
pre-opening expenses relate to all areas of revenue generation.

Our fiscal year ends on the last Tuesday in December.  As a result, our fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 had 53 weeks with 
the fourth quarter comprising 14 weeks.  The fiscal years ended December 25, 2012 and December 27, 2011 each had 52 weeks.



22

We include in this report information on Company-owned, franchise-operated, and system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales 
percentages.  Bakery-cafes in our comparable net bakery-cafe sales percentages include those bakery-cafes with an open date prior 
to the first day of our prior fiscal year, which we refer to as our base store bakery-cafes.  Company-owned comparable net bakery-
cafe sales percentages are based on net sales from Company-owned base store bakery-cafes.  Franchise-operated comparable net 
bakery-cafe sales percentages are based on net sales from franchise-operated base store bakery-cafes, as reported by franchisees.  
System-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales percentages are based on net sales at Company-owned and franchise-operated base 
store bakery-cafes.  Acquired Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes and other restaurant or bakery-cafe concepts 
are included in our comparable net bakery-cafe sales percentages only if we or our franchisee previously held or acquired a 
100 percent ownership interest prior to the first day of our prior fiscal year.  Comparable net bakery-cafe sales exclude closed 
locations.

We do not record franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales as revenues.  However, royalty revenues are calculated based on a 
percentage of franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales, as reported by franchisees.  We use franchise-operated and system-wide 
sales information internally in connection with store development decisions, planning, and budgeting analyses.  We believe 
franchise-operated and system-wide sales information is useful in assessing consumer acceptance of our brand, facilitates an 
understanding of our financial performance and the overall direction and trends of sales and operating income, helps us appreciate 
the effectiveness of our advertising and marketing initiatives, to which our franchisees also contribute based on a percentage of 
their net sales, and provides information that is relevant for comparison within the industry.

We also include in this report information on Company-owned, franchise-operated, and system-wide average weekly net sales.  
Average weekly net sales are calculated by dividing total net sales in the period by operating weeks in the fiscal period. Accordingly, 
year-over-year results reflect sales for all locations, whereas comparable net bakery-cafe sales exclude closed locations and are 
based on sales only from our base store bakery-cafes.  New stores typically experience an opening “honeymoon” period during 
which they generate higher average weekly net sales in the first 12 to 16 weeks after opening, after which customers “settle-in” 
to normal usage patterns.  On average, average weekly net sales during the “settle-in” period are five percent to 10 percent less 
than during the “honeymoon” period.  As a result, year-over-year results of average weekly net sales are generally lower than the 
results in comparable net bakery-cafe sales.  This results from the relationship of the number of bakery-cafes in the “honeymoon” 
period, the number of bakery-cafes in the “settle-in” period, and the number of bakery-cafes in the comparable bakery-cafe base.

Executive Summary of Results

In fiscal 2013, we earned $6.81 per diluted share with the following performance on key metrics: system-wide comparable net 
bakery-cafe sales growth of 4.2 percent (growth of 4.5 percent for Company-owned bakery-cafes and growth of 3.9 percent for 
franchise-operated bakery-cafes), which included the impact of the additional week in fiscal 2013, a 53 week year; system-wide 
average weekly net sales increased 1.6 percent to $47,403 ($47,741 for Company-owned bakery-cafes and $47,079 for franchise-
operated bakery-cafes); 133 new bakery-cafes opened system-wide (63 Company-owned bakery-cafes and 70 franchise-operated 
bakery-cafes); and eight bakery-cafes closed system-wide (six Company-owned bakery-cafes and two franchise-operated bakery-
cafes).  Our fiscal 2013 earnings of $6.81 per diluted share included a favorable impact of $0.14 per diluted share from the 
repurchase in fiscal 2013 of 1,992,250 shares under our share repurchase authorization we approved in 2012, or our 2012 share 
repurchase authorization, a favorable impact of $0.13 per diluted share for adjustments recorded in the fiscal quarter ended 
September 24, 2013 to previously recorded tax expense to reflect the refinement of estimates of certain state tax attributes to 
amounts in filed returns and the settlement of tax audits, and approximately $0.13 of earnings per diluted share for the additional 
week in fiscal 2013.

In the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2013, we earned $1.96 per diluted share with the following performance on key metrics: 
system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales growth of 8.1 percent (growth of 8.7 percent for Company-owned bakery-cafes 
and growth of 7.5 percent for franchise-operated bakery-cafes), which included the impact of the additional week in the fiscal 
quarter ended December 31, 2013, a 14 week quarter; system-wide average weekly net sales decreased 0.5 percent to $48,340 
($48,781 for Company-owned bakery-cafes and $47,919 for franchise-operated bakery-cafes); 42 new bakery-cafes opened system-
wide (18 Company-owned bakery-cafes and 24 franchise-operated bakery-cafes); and one Company-owned bakery-cafe closed.  
Our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2013 earnings of $1.96 per diluted share included approximately $0.13 of earnings per 
diluted share for the additional week in fiscal 2013 and a favorable impact of $0.04 per diluted share from the repurchase of 
847,364 shares under our 2012 share repurchase authorization in the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2013.

In fiscal 2012, we earned $5.89 per diluted share with the following performance on key metrics: system-wide comparable net 
bakery-cafe sales growth of 5.7 percent (growth of 6.5 percent for Company-owned bakery-cafes and growth of 5.0 percent for 
franchise-operated bakery-cafes); system-wide average weekly net sales increased 5.3 percent to $46,676 ($46,836 for Company-
owned bakery-cafes and $46,526 for franchise-operated bakery-cafes); 123 new bakery-cafes opened system-wide (59 Company-
owned bakery-cafes and 64 franchise-operated bakery-cafes); and 12 bakery-cafes closed system-wide (six Company-owned 
bakery-cafes and six franchise-operated bakery-cafes).  Our fiscal 2012 earnings of $5.89 per diluted share included a favorable 
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impact of $0.01 per diluted share from the repurchase of 158,700 shares under our 2012 share repurchase authorization and the 
share repurchase authorization we approved in 2009, or our 2009 share repurchase authorization.

In fiscal 2011, we earned $4.55 per diluted share with the following performance on key metrics: system-wide comparable net 
bakery-cafe sales growth of 4.0 percent (growth of 4.9 percent for Company-owned bakery-cafes and growth of 3.4 percent for 
franchise-operated bakery-cafes); system-wide average weekly net sales increased 3.4 percent to $44,313 ($44,071 for Company-
owned bakery-cafes and $44,527 for franchise-operated bakery-cafes); 112 new bakery-cafes opened system-wide (53 Company-
owned bakery-cafes and 59 franchise-operated bakery-cafes); and 24 bakery-cafes closed system-wide (three Company-owned 
bakery-cafes and 21 franchise-operated bakery-cafes, which included 13 Paradise cafes that de-identified from the brand).  Our 
fiscal 2011 earnings of $4.55 per diluted share included a charge of $0.10 per diluted share for a legal matter and a favorable 
impact of $0.05 per diluted share from the repurchase of 877,100 shares under our 2009 share repurchase authorization. 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Margin Analysis

The following table sets forth the percentage relationship to total revenues, except where otherwise indicated, of certain items 
included in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the periods indicated.  Percentages may not add due to 
rounding:

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Revenues:    

Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88.4% 88.2% 87.4%
Franchise royalties and fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.7 4.8 5.1
Fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.9 7.0 7.5

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses:

Bakery-cafe expenses (1):
Cost of food and paper products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29.7% 29.4% 29.5%
Labor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29.7 29.8 30.4
Occupancy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.1 7.0 7.2
Other operating expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.0 13.6 13.6

Total bakery-cafe expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80.4 79.8 80.7
Fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees (2) . . . . . . . . . . 87.0 88.1 85.3
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.5 4.3 4.4
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.2 5.5 6.2
Pre-opening expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.3 0.4 0.4

Total costs and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87.0 86.7 87.9
Operating profit. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.0 13.3 12.1
Interest expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 0.1 —
Other (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.2) (0.1) —
Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.1 13.3 12.1
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.9 5.1 4.6

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.2% 8.1% 7.5%

Other comprehensive (loss) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —
Comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.2% 8.2% 7.5%

(1) As a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales.
(2) As a percentage of fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees.
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Bakery-cafe Composition

The following table sets forth certain bakery-cafe data relating to Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes for the 
periods indicated:

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Number of bakery-cafes:    

Company-owned:    
Beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 809 740 662
Bakery-cafes opened . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63 59 53
Bakery-cafes closed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (6) (3)
Bakery-cafes acquired from franchisees (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 16 30
Bakery-cafes sold to a franchisee (2). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (2)

End of period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 867 809 740
Franchise-operated:

Beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 843 801 791
Bakery-cafes opened . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70 64 59
Bakery-cafes closed (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2) (6) (21)
Bakery-cafes acquired by Company (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) (16) (30)
Bakery-cafes sold by Company (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 2

End of period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 910 843 801
System-wide:

Beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,652 1,541 1,453
Bakery-cafes opened . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 133 123 112
Bakery-cafes closed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8) (12) (24)

End of period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,777 1,652 1,541

(1) In April 2013, we acquired one bakery-cafe from a Florida franchisee.  In March 2012, we acquired 16 bakery-cafes from a 
North Carolina franchisee.  In July 2011, we acquired five bakery-cafes from an Indiana franchisee.  In April 2011, we acquired 
25 bakery-cafes from our Milwaukee franchisee. 

(2) In February 2011, we sold two bakery-cafes in the Dallas, Texas market to an existing franchisee.  
(3) In June 2011, the franchise agreements for 13 franchise-operated Paradise bakery-cafes were mutually terminated and the 

bakery-cafes de-identified from the Paradise brand.

Comparable Net Bakery-cafe Sales

Comparable net bakery-cafe sales growth for the fiscal periods indicated were as follows:

 For the fiscal year ended (1)
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Company-owned . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.5% 6.5% 4.9%
Franchise-operated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.9% 5.0% 3.4%
System-wide . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.2% 5.7% 4.0%

(1) Comparable net bakery-cafe sales for fiscal 2013 contained 53 weeks of sales, with an impact of approximately $28.3 million 
and $30.5 million of net bakery-cafe sales in the additional week for Company-owned and franchise-operated base store 
bakery-cafes, respectively.  Adjusted to reflect a comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012 (52 weeks in fiscal 2012 plus 
week one of fiscal 2013), Company-owned, franchise-operated, and system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, or fiscal 2013, would have been approximately 2.6 percent, 2.0 percent, and 2.3 percent, 
respectively.  
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The following table summarizes the composition of comparable Company-owned net bakery-cafe sales growth for the periods 
indicated:

For the fiscal year ended
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.8% 3.0% 2.9%
Mix . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.2% 2.7% 0.2%

Average check . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.0% 5.7% 3.1%

Transactions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.5% 0.8% 1.8%
Company-owned comparable net bakery-cafe sales growth . . . . . . . . . 4.5% 6.5% 4.9%

As noted, adjusted to reflect a comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012 (52 weeks in fiscal 2012 plus week one of fiscal 2013), 
Company-owned comparable net bakery-cafe sales growth for fiscal 2013 would have been approximately 2.6 percent.  This 
Company-owned comparable net bakery-cafe sales growth was comprised of year-over-year average check growth of 3.8 percent 
and transaction decline of 1.2 percent.  Average check growth was comprised of retail price increases of approximately 1.8 percent 
and positive mix impact of approximately 2.0 percent.  This transaction decline in fiscal 2013 was due to a variety of factors, 
including, but not limited to, intensified competition, operational issues impacting the customer experience, a continued challenging 
consumer environment, and severe weather.  Price growth in fiscal 2013 was modest as compared to the prior fiscal years due to 
lower commodity inflation.  Mix growth in fiscal 2013 was modest as compared to fiscal 2012 due, in part, to slower catering 
sales growth in fiscal 2013.

Results of Operations

Revenues

The following table summarizes revenues for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,108,908 $ 1,879,280 $ 1,592,951 12.2% 18.0%
Franchise royalties and fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,641 102,076 92,793 10.4% 10.0%
Fresh dough and other product sales to
franchisees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163,453 148,701 136,288 9.9% 9.1%

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,385,002 $ 2,130,057 $ 1,822,032 12.0% 16.9%

System-wide average weekly net sales . . . . . . $ 47,403 $ 46,676 $ 44,313 1.6% 5.3%

The growth in total revenues in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening of 133 new bakery-
cafes system-wide in fiscal 2013, the impact of the additional week in fiscal 2013, which contributed total revenues of approximately 
$35.0 million, and the 2.3 percent increase in system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2013, which reflects a 
comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012, partially offset by the closure of eight bakery-cafes system-wide in fiscal 2013.

The growth in total revenues in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening of 123 new bakery-
cafes system-wide in fiscal 2012 and to the 5.7 percent increase in system-wide comparable net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2012, 
partially offset by the closure of 12 bakery-cafes system-wide in fiscal 2012.
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Bakery-cafe sales, net

The following table summarizes net bakery-cafe sales for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,108,908 $ 1,879,280 $ 1,592,951 12.2% 18.0%
As a percentage of total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 88.4% 88.2% 87.4%

Company-owned average weekly net sales. . . $ 47,741 $ 46,836 $ 44,071 1.9% 6.3%
Company-owned number of operating weeks 44,173 40,125 36,140 10.1% 11.0%

The increase in net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening of 63 new 
Company-owned bakery-cafes, the impact of the additional week in fiscal 2013, which contributed net bakery-cafe sales of 
approximately $29.8 million, and the 2.6 percent increase in comparable Company-owned net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2013, 
which reflects a comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012, partially offset by the closure of six Company-owned bakery-cafes. 

The increase in net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening of 59 new 
Company-owned bakery-cafes, the acquisition of 16 franchise-operated bakery-cafes, and the 6.5 percent increase in comparable 
Company-owned net bakery-cafe sales in fiscal 2012, partially offset by the closure of six Company-owned bakery-cafes.   

The increase in average weekly net sales for Company-owned bakery-cafes in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year was 
primarily due to average check growth that resulted from retail price increases and our category management initiatives.

The increase in average weekly net sales for Company-owned bakery-cafes in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was 
primarily due to the above noted average check growth that resulted from retail price increases and our category management 
initiatives. 

Franchise royalties and fees

The following table summarizes franchise royalties and fees for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Franchise royalties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 110,461 $ 100,159 $ 90,486 10.3% 10.7 %
Franchise fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,180 1,917 2,307 13.7% (16.9)%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 112,641 $ 102,076 $ 92,793 10.4% 10.0 %

Franchise-operated average weekly net sales . $ 47,079 $ 46,526 $ 44,527 1.2% 4.5 %
Franchise-operated number of operating
weeks. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,202 42,593 41,058 8.5% 3.7 %

The increase in franchise royalty and fee revenues in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening 
of 70 new franchise-operated bakery-cafes, the impact of the additional week in fiscal 2013, which contributed franchise royalties 
and fees of approximately $2.4 million, and the 2.0 percent increase in comparable franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales in 
fiscal 2013, which reflects a comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012. 

The increase in franchise royalty and fee revenues in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily due to the opening 
of 64 new franchise-operated bakery-cafes and the 5.0 percent increase in comparable franchise-operated net bakery-cafe sales in 
fiscal 2012, partially offset by our acquisition of 16 franchise-operated bakery-cafes and the closure of six franchise-operated 
bakery-cafes. 

As of December 31, 2013, there were 910 franchise-operated bakery-cafes open and we have received commitments to open 117 
additional franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  The timetables for opening these bakery-cafes are established in their respective Area 
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Development Agreements, or ADAs, with franchisees, which provide for the majority of these bakery-cafes to open in the next 
four to five years.  An ADA requires a franchisee to develop a specified number of bakery-cafes by specified dates.  If a franchisee 
fails to develop bakery-cafes on the schedule set forth in the ADA, we have the right to terminate the ADA and develop Company-
owned locations or develop locations through new franchisees in that market.  We may exercise one or more alternative remedies 
to address defaults by franchisees, including not only development defaults, but also defaults in complying with our operating and 
brand standards and other covenants included in the ADAs and franchise agreements.  We may waive compliance with certain 
requirements under its ADAs and franchise agreements if we determine that such action is warranted under the particular 
circumstances.

Fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees

The following table summarizes fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Fresh dough and other product sales to
franchisees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 163,453 $ 148,701 $ 136,288 9.9% 9.1%

The increase in fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior fiscal year was primarily 
due to the impact of the additional week in fiscal 2013, which contributed fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees of 
approximately $2.8 million, the 2.0 percent increase in franchise-operated comparable net bakery-cafe sales, which reflects a 
comparative 53 week period in fiscal 2012, and the opening of 70 franchise-operated cafes.

The increase in fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees in fiscal 2012 was primarily due to the 5.0 percent increase in 
franchise-operated comparable net bakery-cafe sales, the opening of 64 franchise-operated cafes, and an increase in sales of fresh 
produce to franchisees, partially offset by our purchase of 16 franchise-operated bakery-cafes and the closure of six franchise-
operated bakery-cafes.

Costs and Expenses

The cost of food and paper products includes the costs associated with the fresh dough and other product operations that sell fresh 
dough and other products to Company-owned bakery-cafes, as well as the cost of food and paper products supplied by third-party 
vendors and distributors.  The costs associated with the fresh dough and other product operations that sell fresh dough and other 
products to the franchise-operated bakery-cafes are excluded from the cost of food and paper products and are shown separately 
as fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

The following table summarizes cost of food and paper products for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Cost of food and paper products . . . . . . . . . . . $ 625,622 $ 552,580 $ 470,398 13.2% 17.5%
As a percent of bakery-cafe sales, net. . . . . . . 29.7% 29.4% 29.5%

The increase in the cost of food and paper products in fiscal 2013 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily due to a 
shift in product mix towards higher ingredient cost products, partially offset by improved leverage of our fresh dough manufacturing 
costs due to additional bakery-cafe openings.  In fiscal 2013, there was an average of 74.2 bakery-cafes per fresh dough facility 
compared to an average of 69.2 bakery-cafes in fiscal 2012.

The decrease in the cost of food and paper products in fiscal 2012 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily due to 
improved leverage of our fresh dough manufacturing costs due to additional bakery-cafe openings and improved leverage from 
higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.  In fiscal 2012, there was an average of 69.2 bakery-cafes per fresh dough facility 
compared to an average of 64.2 bakery-cafes in fiscal 2011.
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The following table summarizes labor expense for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Labor expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 625,457 $ 559,446 $ 484,014 11.8% 15.6%
As a percent of bakery-cafe sales, net. . . . . . . 29.7% 29.8% 30.4%

The decrease in labor expense in fiscal 2013 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily a result of lower incentive 
compensation.

The decrease in labor expense in fiscal 2012 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily a result of improved leverage 
from higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales and wage discipline.

The following table summarizes occupancy cost for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Occupancy cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 148,816 $ 130,793 $ 115,290 13.8% 13.4%
As a percent of bakery-cafe sales, net. . . . . . . 7.1% 7.0% 7.2%

The increase in occupancy cost in fiscal 2013 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily a result of modestly higher 
average occupancy costs in new bakery-cafes and higher real estate taxes.

The decrease in occupancy cost in fiscal 2012 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily a result of improved leverage 
from higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.

The following table summarizes other operating expenses for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Other operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 295,539 $ 256,029 $ 216,237 15.4% 18.4%
As a percent of bakery-cafe sales, net. . . . . . . 14.0% 13.6% 13.6%

The increase in other operating expenses in fiscal 2013 as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales was primarily a result of increased 
marketing expense and certain other controllable expenses, including increased repair and maintenance expenses related to 
operational initiatives.

Other operating expenses remained consistent as a percentage of net bakery-cafe sales from fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2012 primarily 
due to increased marketing expense, principally offset by leverage from higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.  

The following table summarizes fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees for the periods indicated (dollars in 
thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Fresh dough and other product cost of sales
to franchisees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 142,160 $ 131,006 $ 116,267 8.5% 12.7%
As a percent of fresh dough and other
product sales to franchisees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87.0% 88.1% 85.3%

The decrease in the fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees in fiscal 2013 as a percentage of fresh dough and 
other product sales to franchisees was primarily the result of the year-over-year decrease in ingredient costs and improved leverage 
from new bakery-cafes and higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.
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The increase in the fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees in fiscal 2012 as a percentage of fresh dough and 
other product sales to franchisees was primarily the result of the year-over-year increase in ingredient costs and higher year-over-
year sales of zero margin fresh produce sales to franchisees, partially offset by improved leverage from new bakery-cafes and 
higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.

The following table summarizes general and administrative expenses for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . $ 123,335 $ 117,932 $ 113,083 4.6% 4.3%
As a percent of total revenue. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.2% 5.5% 6.2%

The decrease in general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2013 as a percent of total revenues was primarily due to lower 
incentive compensation and improved leverage from higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales.

The decrease in general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2012 as a percent of total revenues was primarily the result of 
improved leverage from new bakery-cafes, higher comparable net bakery-cafe sales, and the year-over-year impact of a $5 million 
charge in fiscal 2011 related to a legal matter, partially offset by increased year-over-year incentive compensation expense.

Other (Income) Expense, net

Other (income) expense, net in fiscal 2013 increased to $4.0 million of income, or 0.2 percent of total revenues, from $1.2 million 
of income, or 0.1 percent of total revenues, in fiscal 2012.  Other (income) expense, net for fiscal 2013 was primarily comprised 
of a $2.2 million benefit from favorable resolution of legal and sales and use tax matters, and immaterial items.  Other (income) 
expense, net for fiscal 2012 was primarily comprised of the favorable outcome from certain unclaimed property and state sales 
tax audit matters, and immaterial items. 

Other (income) expense, net in fiscal 2012 increased to $1.2 million of income, or 0.1 percent of total revenues, from $0.5 million 
of income, or 0.1 percent of total revenues, in fiscal 2011.  Other (income) expense, net for fiscal 2012 was primarily comprised 
of the favorable outcome from certain unclaimed property and state sales tax audit matters, and immaterial items.  Other (income) 
expense, net for fiscal 2011 was primarily comprised of immaterial items.

Income Taxes

The following table summarizes income taxes for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
% Change

in 2013
% Change

in 2012
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 116,551 $ 109,548 $ 83,951 6.4% 30.5%
Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37.3% 38.7% 38.2%

The decrease in the effective tax rate from fiscal 2012 to fiscal 2013 was primarily driven by adjustments of previously recorded 
tax expense to reflect the refinement of estimates for certain federal and state tax liabilities to amounts in filed returns, the settlement 
of tax audits, and an increase in federal tax credits.  The increase in the effective tax rate from fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2012 was 
primarily driven by a decrease in permanent benefits recognized in the current period relating to differences between financial 
and tax reporting requirements and a valuation allowance related to net operating loss carryforwards of our Canadian operations 
recorded in fiscal 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $125.2 million at December 31, 2013 compared to $297.1 million at December 25, 2012.  This 
$171.9 million decrease was primarily a result of the use of $339.4 million to repurchase shares of our Class A common stock and 
the use of $192.0 million on capital expenditures, partially offset by $348.4 million of cash generated from operations.  Our primary 
source of liquidity is cash provided by operations, although we have the ability to borrow under a credit facility, as described 
below.  Historically, our principal requirements for cash have primarily resulted from the cost of food and paper products, employee 
labor, the repurchase of shares of our common stock, and our capital expenditures for the development of new Company-owned 
bakery-cafes, for maintaining or remodeling existing Company-owned bakery-cafes, for purchasing existing franchise-operated 
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bakery-cafes or ownership interests in other restaurant or bakery-cafe concepts, for developing, maintaining, or remodeling fresh 
dough facilities, and for other capital needs such as enhancements to information systems and other infrastructure.  

We had negative working capital of $0.6 million at December 31, 2013 compared to positive working capital of $201.3 million 
at December 25, 2012.  The decrease in working capital resulted primarily from the previously described decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents of $171.9 million and an increase in accrued expenses of $17.6 million and accounts payable of $8.2 million.  
We believe that cash provided by our operations and available borrowings under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund our 
cash requirements for the foreseeable future.  We have not required significant working capital because customers generally pay 
using cash or credit and debit cards and because our operations do not require significant receivables, nor do they require significant 
inventories due, in part, to our use of various fresh ingredients. 

A summary of our cash flows, for the periods indicated, are as follows (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

Cash provided by (used in):
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 348,417 $ 289,456 $ 236,889
Investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (188,307) (195,741) (152,194)
Financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (332,006) (19,214) (91,354)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . $ (171,896) $ 74,501 $ (6,659)

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $348.4 million, $289.5 million, and $236.9 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 
2011, respectively.  Cash provided by operating activities consists primarily of net income, adjusted for non-cash expenses such 
as depreciation and amortization, and the net change in operating assets and liabilities.

Cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2013 consisted primarily of net income adjusted for non-cash expenses and an 
increase in accrued expenses and accounts payable.  The increase in accrued expenses was primarily due to an increase in the 
balance of outstanding gift cards.  The increase in accounts payable was primarily due to the timing of payments.

Cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2012 consisted primarily of net income adjusted for non-cash expenses and an 
increase in accrued expenses, partially offset by an increase in trade and other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses.  The 
increase in accrued expenses was primarily due to an increase in the balance of outstanding gift cards and higher incentive 
compensation accruals.  The increase in trade and other accounts receivable was primarily due to an increase in credit card and 
other receivables due to the timing of the holidays near our 2012 fiscal year end and an increase in refundable income taxes due 
to the timing of payments.  The increase in prepaid expenses was primarily due to the timing of rent and insurance premium 
prepayments.

Cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2011 consisted primarily of net income adjusted for non-cash expenses and an 
increase in accrued expenses, partially offset by an increase in trade and other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses.  The 
increase in accrued expenses was primarily due to an increase in the balance of outstanding gift cards.  The increase in trade and 
other accounts receivable was primarily due to an increase in credit card and other receivables due to the timing of the holidays 
near our fiscal year end.  The increase in prepaid expenses was primarily due to timing and an increase in insurance premium 
prepayments.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $188.3 million, $195.7 million, and $152.2 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 
2011, respectively.  Cash used in investing activities consists primarily of capital expenditures and cash used in business 
combinations.
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Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures are the largest ongoing component of our investing activities and include expenditures for new bakery-cafes 
and fresh dough facilities, improvements to existing bakery-cafes and fresh dough facilities, and other capital needs, which include 
investments in technology infrastructure to support ongoing strategic initiatives.  A summary of capital expenditures for the periods 
indicated consisted of the following (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
New bakery-cafe and fresh dough facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 91,590 $ 81,758 $ 63,021
Bakery-cafe and fresh dough facility improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . 62,607 42,644 30,858
Other capital needs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,813 27,926 14,053

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 192,010 $ 152,328 $ 107,932

Our capital requirements, including development costs related to the opening or acquisition of additional bakery-cafes and fresh 
dough facilities, maintenance and remodel expenditures, and investments in technology infrastructure, have been and will continue 
to be significant.  Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including the 
pace of expansion, real estate markets, site locations, and the nature of the arrangements negotiated with landlords.  We believe 
that cash provided by our operations and available borrowings under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund our capital 
requirements in both our short-term and long-term future.  We currently anticipate $225 million to $250 million of capital 
expenditures in fiscal 2014.

Business Combinations

We used approximately $2.4 million, $48.0 million, and $44.4 million of cash flows for acquisitions, in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 
2011, respectively.  In fiscal 2013, we acquired substantially all the assets of one bakery-cafe from a Florida franchisee.  In fiscal 
2012, we acquired substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of 16 bakery-cafes from our North Carolina franchisee.  In 
fiscal 2011, we acquired substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of 25 bakery-cafes from our Milwaukee franchisee and 
an additional five bakery-cafes from our Indiana franchisee.  As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, $0.3 million and 
$4.1 million, respectively, were included within our Consolidated Balance Sheets for contingent or accrued purchase price 
remaining from previously completed acquisitions.  See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for further information 
with respect to our acquisition activity in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $332.0 million, $19.2 million, and $91.4 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, 
respectively.  Financing activities in fiscal 2013 consisted primarily of $339.4 million used to repurchase shares of our Class A 
common stock and $4.1 million for the payment of deferred acquisition holdbacks, partially offset by $8.1 million received from 
the tax benefit from exercise of stock options.  Financing activities in fiscal 2012 consisted primarily of $31.6 million used to 
repurchase shares of our Class A common stock, partially offset by $8.6 million received from the tax benefit from exercise of 
stock options.  Financing activities in fiscal 2011 consisted primarily of $96.6 million used to repurchase shares of our Class A 
common stock and $5.0 million for the payment of deferred acquisition holdbacks, partially offset by $5.0 million received from 
the tax benefit from exercise of stock options. 

Share Repurchases

On November 17, 2009, our Board of Directors approved a three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600 million of our 
Class A common stock, pursuant to which we repurchased shares on the open market under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, which we refer 
to as the 2009 repurchase authorization. During fiscal 2012, we repurchased 34,600 shares under the 2009 repurchase authorization, 
at an average price of $144.24 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million. During fiscal 2011, we repurchased 
877,100 shares under the 2009 repurchase authorization, at an average price of $103.55 per share, for an aggregate purchase price 
of $90.8 million. On August 23, 2012, our Board of Directors terminated the 2009 repurchase authorization. Prior to its termination, 
we had repurchased an aggregate of 2,844,669 shares of our Class A common stock under the 2009 repurchase authorization, at 
a weighted-average price of $87.03 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $247.6 million. 
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On August 23, 2012, our Board of Directors approved a new three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600 million of 
our Class A common stock, which we refer to as the 2012 repurchase authorization, pursuant to which we may repurchase shares 
from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and which may be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan.  
Repurchased shares may be retired immediately and resume the status of authorized but unissued shares or may be held by us as 
treasury stock.  The 2012 repurchase authorization is reviewed quarterly by our Board of Directors and may be modified, suspended, 
or discontinued at any time.  During fiscal 2013, we repurchased 1,992,250 shares under the 2012 share repurchase authorization, 
at an average price of $166.73 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $332.1 million.  During fiscal 2012, we repurchased 
124,100 shares under the 2012 repurchase authorization, at an average price of $161.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price 
of approximately $20.0 million. As of December 31, 2013, under the 2012 repurchase authorization, we have repurchased an 
aggregate of 2,116,350 shares, at a weighted-average price of $166.39 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately 
$352.1 million.  We have approximately $247.9 million available under the 2012 repurchase authorization.

We have historically repurchased shares of our Class A common stock through a share repurchase authorization approved by our 
Board of Directors from participants of the Panera Bread 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and the Panera Bread 2006 Stock Incentive 
Plan, as amended, or collectively, the Plans.  Repurchased shares are netted and surrendered as payment for applicable tax 
withholding on the vesting of participants’ restricted stock.  During fiscal 2013, we repurchased 41,601 shares of Class A common 
stock surrendered by participants of the Plans at a weighted-average price of $172.79 per share for an aggregate purchase price 
of approximately $7.2 million pursuant to the terms of the Plans and the applicable award agreements.  During fiscal 2012, we 
repurchased 42,100 shares of Class A common stock surrendered by participants of the Plans at a weighted-average price of 
$156.53 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $6.6 million pursuant to the terms of the Plans and the applicable award 
agreements.  During fiscal 2011, we repurchased 52,146 shares of Class A common stock surrendered by participants in the Plans 
at a weighted-average price of $109.33 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.7 million pursuant to the terms of the Plans 
and the applicable award agreements.

Credit Facility

On November 30, 2012, we terminated our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 7, 2008, by and among us, 
Bank of America, N.A., and other lenders party thereto (the "Prior Credit Agreement"). As of the date of termination, we had no 
balance outstanding under the Prior Credit Agreement and we were in compliance with all covenants under the Prior Credit 
Agreement.

On November 30, 2012, we entered into a new credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with Bank of America, N.A. and other 
lenders party thereto.  The Credit Agreement provides for an unsecured revolving credit facility of $250.0 million and provides 
that we may select interest rates under the credit facility equal to (1) LIBOR plus the Applicable Rate for LIBOR loans (which is 
an amount ranging from 1.00 percent to 2.00 percent depending on our consolidated leverage ratio) or (2) the Base Rate (which 
is defined as the higher of Bank of America prime rate, the Federal funds rate plus 0.50 percent, or LIBOR plus 1.00 percent) plus 
the Applicable Rate for Base Rate loans (which is an amount ranging from 0.00 percent to 1.00 percent depending on our consolidated 
leverage ratio).  Our obligations under the credit facility are guaranteed by certain of our direct and indirect subsidiaries.  The 
Credit Agreement allows us from time to time to request that the credit facility be further increased by an amount not to exceed, 
in the aggregate, $150.0 million, subject to the arrangement of additional commitments with financial institutions acceptable to 
us and Bank of America.  The Credit Agreement contains various financial covenants that, among other things, require us to 
maintain certain leverage and fixed charges coverage ratios.  The credit facility will become due on November 30, 2017, subject 
to acceleration upon certain specified events of defaults, including breaches of representations or covenants, failure to pay other 
material indebtedness or a change of control of our Company, as defined in the Credit Agreement.  We expect to use the credit 
facility for general corporate purposes.  As of December 31, 2013, we had no balance outstanding and were in compliance with 
all covenants under the Credit Agreement.

Critical Accounting Policies & Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations is based upon the consolidated 
financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, or GAAP.  The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions, which we believe to be reasonable, based on the information available.  
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities.  Variances in the estimates or assumptions used to actual experience could yield materially 
different accounting results.  On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the continued appropriateness of our accounting policies and 
resulting estimates to make adjustments we consider appropriate under the facts and circumstances.

We have chosen accounting policies we believe are appropriate to report accurately and fairly our consolidated operating results 
and financial position, and we apply those accounting policies in a consistent manner.  We consider our policies on accounting 
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for revenue recognition, valuation of goodwill, self-insurance, income taxes, lease obligations, and impairment of long-lived assets 
to be the most critical in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because they involve the most difficult, subjective, 
or complex judgments about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  There have been no material changes to our 
application of critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates that occurred during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues from net bakery-cafe sales upon delivery of the related food and other products to the customer.  Revenues 
from fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees are recorded upon delivery of the fresh dough and other products to 
franchisees.  Also, a liability is recorded in the period in which a gift card is issued and proceeds are received.  As gift cards are 
redeemed, this liability is reduced and revenue is recognized.  Sales of soup and other branded products sold outside our bakery-
cafes are generally recognized upon delivery to customers.  Further, franchise fees are generally the result of the sale of area 
development rights and the sale of individual franchise locations to third parties.  The initial franchise fee is typically $35,000 per 
bakery-cafe to be developed under the ADA.  Of this fee, $5,000 is generally paid at the time of signing of the ADA and is 
recognized as revenue when it is received as it is non-refundable and we have to perform no other service to earn this fee.  The 
remainder of the fee is paid at the time an individual franchise agreement is signed and is recognized as revenue upon the opening 
of the corresponding bakery-cafe.  Royalties are generally paid weekly based on a percentage of net franchisee sales specified in 
each ADA (generally five percent of net sales).  Royalties are recognized as revenue based on contractual royalty rates applied to 
the net franchise sales.

We maintain a customer loyalty program through which customers earn rewards based on registration in the program and purchases 
at our bakery-cafes.  We record the full retail value of loyalty program rewards as a reduction of net bakery-cafe sales and a liability 
is established within accrued expenses as rewards are earned while considering historical redemption rates.  Fully earned rewards 
generally expire if unredeemed after 60 days.  Partially earned awards generally expire if inactive for a period of one year.

We sell gift cards which do not expire and from which we do not deduct non-usage fees from outstanding gift card balances.  Gift 
cards are redeemable at both Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  Gift cards sold by either Company-owned 
bakery-cafes or through wholesalers and redeemed at franchise-operated bakery-cafes reduce our gift card liability but do not 
result in the recognition of revenue.  When gift cards are redeemed at Company-owned bakery-cafes, we recognize revenue and 
reduce the gift card liability.  When we determine the likelihood of the gift card being redeemed by the customer is remote ("gift 
card breakage"), based upon our specific historical redemption patterns, and there is no legal obligation to remit the unredeemed 
gift card balance in the relevant jurisdiction, gift card breakage is recorded as a reduction of general and administrative expenses 
in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income; however, such gift cards will continue to be honored.  We recognized 
gift card breakage as a reduction of general and administrative expenses of $2.8 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013, $1.8 million for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2012, and $1.9 million for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2011.  
Incremental direct costs related to the sale of gift cards are deferred until the associated gift card is redeemed or breakage is deemed 
appropriate.  These deferred incremental direct costs are reflected as a reduction of the unredeemed gift card liability, net which 
is a component of accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and, when recognized, as a reduction of bakery-cafe sales, 
net in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Valuation of Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during our fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate 
impairment might exist.  Goodwill is evaluated for impairment through the comparison of fair value of our reporting units to their 
carrying values.  When evaluating goodwill for impairment, we may first perform an assessment of qualitative factors to determine 
if the fair value of the reporting unit is more-likely-than-not greater than its carrying amount.  This qualitative assessment is referred 
to as a “step zero” approach.  If, based on the review of the qualitative factors, we determine it is not more-likely-than-not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we bypass the required two-step impairment test.  If we do not 
perform a qualitative assessment or if the fair value of the reporting unit is not more-likely- than-not greater than its carrying value, 
we perform the first step, which is referred to as step one, of the two-step impairment test, and calculate the estimated fair value 
of the reporting unit.  If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the estimated fair value, there is an indication that impairment 
may exist and the second step must be performed to measure the amount of impairment loss.  The amount of impairment is 
determined by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill to the carrying value of the goodwill in the same 
manner as if the reporting unit was being acquired in a business combination.  If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than 
the recorded goodwill, we would record an impairment loss for the difference.

In considering the step zero approach to testing goodwill for impairment, we perform a qualitative analysis evaluating factors 
including, but not limited to, macro-economic conditions, market and industry conditions, internal cost factors, competitive 
environment, share price fluctuations, results of past impairment tests, and the operational stability and the overall financial 
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performance of the reporting units.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we utilized a qualitative assessment for all but one 
of our reporting units where no significant change occurred and no potential impairment indicators existed since the previous 
annual evaluation of goodwill, and concluded it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value was more than its carrying value on a 
reporting unit basis.

In considering the step one approach to testing goodwill for impairment, we utilized a quantitative assessment to test goodwill for 
impairment for one reporting unit during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 and concluded that there was no impairment as the 
estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value.  The fair value of the reporting unit is the price a willing 
buyer would pay for the reporting unit and is estimated using a discounted cash flow model.  The goodwill balance for the reporting 
unit subject to the quantitative assessment was $2.2 million at December 31, 2013.  Our discounted cash flow estimate was based 
upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, such as revenue growth rates, 
operating margins, risk-adjusted discount rates, and future economic and market conditions.  Our discounted cash flow estimate 
may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other things, economic conditions, changes to our business model or changes in 
operating performance.  Additionally, certain estimates of discounted cash flow involve businesses with limited financial history 
and developing revenue models, which increases the risk of differences between the projected and actual performance.  The long-
term financial forecasts that we utilize represent the best estimate that we have at this time and we believe that its underlying 
assumptions are reasonable.   

At December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, our goodwill balance was $123.0 million and $121.9 million, respectively.  As 
we did not become aware of any impairment indicators subsequent to the date of the annual assessment, we determined there was 
no impairment as of December 31, 2013.  No impairment loss was recognized during either of the fiscal years ended December 25, 
2012 or December 27, 2011, respectively.

Self-Insurance

We are self-insured for a significant portion of our workers’ compensation, group health, and general, auto, and property liability 
insurance, with varying levels of deductibles of as much as $0.7 million of individual claims, depending on the type of claim.  We 
also purchase aggregate stop-loss and/or layers of loss insurance in many categories of loss.  We utilize third party actuarial experts’ 
estimates of expected losses based on statistical analyses of historical industry data, as well as our own estimates based on our 
actual historical data to determine required self-insurance reserves.  The assumptions are closely reviewed, monitored, and adjusted 
when warranted by changing circumstances.  These estimated liabilities could be affected if actual experience related to the number 
of claims and cost per claim differs from these assumptions and historical trends.  Based on information known at December 31, 
2013, we believe we have provided adequate reserves for our self-insurance exposure.  We held self-insurance reserves of $31.5 
million as of December 31, 2013 and $28.9 million as of December 25, 2012, which were included in accrued expenses in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and Canada.  Significant judgment is required in evaluating our uncertain tax 
positions and determining our provision for income taxes.  We assess the income tax position and record the liabilities for all years 
subject to examination based upon management’s evaluation of the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting 
date.

Our provision for income taxes is determined in accordance with the accounting guidance for income taxes.  Under this method, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled.  Any effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in 
income in the period that includes the enactment date.  A valuation allowance is recognized if we determine it is more likely than 
not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be recognized.  We had recorded a valuation allowance related to 
deferred tax assets of our Canadian operations of $3.2 million as of December 31, 2013 and $1.8 million as of December 25, 2012, 
respectively.  No valuation allowance was recorded against deferred tax assets during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2011.

Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be given the final tax outcome 
of these matters will not be different.  We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing 
of a tax audit, the refinement of an estimate or changes in tax laws.  To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different than the amounts recorded, such differences will impact our provision for income taxes in the period in which such 
determination is made.  Our provision for income taxes includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are 
considered appropriate, as well as the related net interest.
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Our effective tax rates have differed from the statutory tax rate primarily due to the impact of state taxes, partially offset by 
favorable U.S. rules related to donations of inventory to charitable organizations and domestic manufacturing.  Our future effective 
tax rates could be adversely affected by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets, or changes in tax laws, regulations, 
accounting principles, or interpretations thereof.  In addition, we are subject to the routine examination of our income tax returns 
and other tax filings by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities.  We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse 
outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our reserve for income taxes.

Lease Obligations

We lease nearly all of our bakery-cafes, fresh dough facilities and trucks, and support centers.  Each lease is evaluated to determine 
whether the lease will be accounted for as an operating or capital lease.  The term used for this evaluation includes renewal option 
periods only in instances in which the exercise of the renewal option can be reasonably assured and failure to exercise such option 
would result in an economic penalty.

For leases that contain rent escalations, we record the total rent payable during the lease term, as described above, on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease, and record the difference between the minimum rent paid and the straight-line rent as a lease 
obligation.  Many of our leases contain provisions that require additional rental payments based upon net bakery-cafe sales volume, 
which we refer to as contingent rent.  Contingent rent is accrued each period as the liability is incurred, in addition to the straight-
line rent expense noted above.  This results in variability in occupancy expense over the term of the lease in bakery-cafes where 
we pay contingent rent.

In addition, we record landlord allowances and incentives received as deferred rent in the Consolidated Balance Sheets based on 
their short-term or long-term nature.  These landlord allowances are amortized over the reasonably assured lease term as a reduction 
of rent expense.  Additionally, payments made by us and reimbursed by the landlord for improvements deemed to be lessor assets 
have no impact on the Statements of Comprehensive Income. We consider improvements to be a lessor asset if all of the following 
criteria are met:

• the lease specifically requires the lessee to make the improvement;

• the improvement is fairly generic;

• the improvement increases the fair value of the property to the lessor; and

• the useful life of the improvement is longer than the lease term.

We report the period to period change in the landlord receivable within the operating activities section of the Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Flows.

Management makes judgments regarding the probable term for each lease, which can impact the classification and accounting for 
a lease as capital or operating, the rent holiday, and/or escalations in payments that are taken into consideration when calculating 
straight-line rent and the term over which leasehold improvements for each bakery-cafe, fresh dough facility, and support center 
is amortized.  These judgments may produce materially different amounts of depreciation, amortization, and rent expense than 
would be reported if different assumed lease terms were used.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful life of long-lived assets 
may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of an asset may not be recoverable.  When appropriate, we compare anticipated 
undiscounted cash flows from the related long-lived assets of a bakery-cafe or fresh dough facility with their respective carrying 
values to determine if the long-lived assets are recoverable.  If the sum of the anticipated undiscounted cash flows for the long-
lived assets is less than their carrying value, an impairment loss would be recognized for the difference between the anticipated 
discounted cash flows, which approximates fair value, and the carrying value of the long-lived assets.  Our estimates of cash flow 
were based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, such as revenue growth 
rates, operating margins, risk-adjusted discount rates, and future economic and market conditions.  Our estimates of cash flow 
may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other things, economic conditions, changes to our business model or changes in 
operating performance.  The long-term financial forecasts that we utilize represent the best estimate that we have at this time and 
we believe that its underlying assumptions are reasonable. 

We recognized impairment losses of $0.8 million and $0.3 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 
December 25, 2012, respectively, related to distinct under-performing Company-owned bakery-cafes.  These losses were recorded 
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in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  No impairment loss was recognized during 
the fiscal year ended December 27, 2011.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

In addition to our planned capital expenditure requirements, we have certain other contractual and committed cash obligations.  
Our contractual cash obligations consist of non-cancelable operating leases for our bakery-cafes, fresh dough facilities and trucks, 
and support centers; capital leases; purchase obligations primarily for certain commodities; and uncertain tax positions.  Lease 
terms for our trucks are generally for five to seven years.  The reasonably assured lease terms for most bakery-cafe and support 
center leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one renewal option period, which generally equates to an aggregate of 
15 years.  The reasonably assured lease term for most fresh dough facilities is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one to 
two renewal periods, which generally equates to an aggregate of 20 years.  Lease terms generally require us to pay a proportionate 
share of real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance, and other operating costs.  Certain bakery-cafe leases provide for 
contingent rental (i.e., percentage rent) payments based on sales in excess of specified amounts, scheduled rent increases during 
the lease terms, and/or rental payments commencing at a date other than the date of initial occupancy.  As of December 31, 2013, 
we expect cash expenditures under these lease obligations, purchase obligations, and uncertain tax positions to be as follows for 
the periods indicated (in thousands):

Less than
1 year

1-3
years

3-5
years

More than
5 years Total

Operating leases (1) . . . . . . . . . $ 134,614 $ 264,561 $ 254,616 $ 676,126 $ 1,329,917
Capital lease obligations (1) . . . 500 1,013 1,033 3,602 6,148
Purchase obligations (2) . . . . . . 271,354 44 — — 271,398
Uncertain tax positions (3) . . . . 554 1,140 590 455 2,739

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 407,022 $ 266,758 $ 256,239 $ 680,183 $ 1,610,202

(1) See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for further information with respect to our operating and capital leases.
(2) Relates to certain commodity and service agreements where we are committed as of December 31, 2013 to purchase a fixed 

quantity over a contracted time period.
(3) See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further information with respect to our uncertain tax positions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2013, we guaranteed operating leases of 25 franchisee or affiliate locations, which we account for in accordance 
with the accounting requirements for guarantees.  These guarantees are primarily a result of our sales of Company-owned bakery-
cafes to franchisees and affiliates, pursuant to which we exercised our right to assign the lease or sublease for the bakery-cafe but 
remain liable to the landlord for the remaining lease term in the event of a default by the assignee.  These leases have terms expiring 
on various dates from January 31, 2014 to September 30, 2027 and have a potential amount of future rental payments of 
approximately $20.1 million as of December 31, 2013.  Our obligation from these leases will decrease over time as these operating 
leases expire.  We have not recorded a liability for certain of these guarantees as they arose prior to the implementation of the 
accounting requirements for guarantees and, unless modified, are exempt from its requirements.  We have not recorded a liability 
for those guarantees issued after the effective date of the accounting requirements because the fair value of these lease guarantee 
was determined by us to be insignificant individually, and in the aggregate, based on analysis of the facts and circumstances of 
each such lease and each such assignee's performance, and we did not believe it was probable we would be required to perform 
under any guarantees at the time the guarantees were issued.  We have not had to make any payments related to any of these 
guaranteed leases.  Applicable assignees continue to have primary obligation for these operating leases.  As of December 31, 2013, 
future commitments under these leases were as follows (in thousands):

Less than
1 year

1-3
years

3-5
years

More than
5 years Total

Subleases and Lease Guarantees (1). . . . . . . 3,518 4,709 4,050 7,856 $ 20,133

(1) Represents aggregate minimum requirement — see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for further information 
with respect to our lease guarantees.
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Employee Commitments

We have confidential and proprietary information and non-competition agreements, referred to as non-compete agreements, with 
certain employees.  These non-compete agreements contain a provision whereby employees would be due a certain number of 
weeks of their salary if their employment was terminated by us as specified in the non-compete agreement.  We have not recorded 
a liability for these amounts potentially due to employees.  Rather, we will record a liability for these amounts when an amount 
becomes due to an employee in accordance with the appropriate authoritative literature.  As of December 31, 2013, the total amount 
potentially owed employees under these non-compete agreements was $21.6 million.

Impact of Inflation

Our profitability depends in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in food, supply, labor, occupancy, and other costs.  
In the past, we have been able to recover a significant portion of inflationary costs and commodity price increases, including price 
increases in fuel, proteins, dairy, wheat, tuna, and cream cheese among others, through increased menu prices.  There have been, 
and there may be in the future, delays in implementing such menu price increases, and competitive pressures may limit our ability 
to recover such cost increases in their entirety.  Historically, the effects of inflation on our consolidated results of operations have 
not been materially adverse.  However, inherent volatility experienced in certain commodity markets, such as those for wheat, 
proteins, including chicken raised without antibiotics, and fuel may have an adverse effect on us in the future.  The extent of the 
impact will depend on our ability and timing to increase food prices.

A majority of our associates are paid hourly rates regulated by federal and state minimum wage laws.  Although we have and will 
continue to attempt to pass along any increased labor costs through food price increases, there can be no assurance that all such 
increased labor costs can be reflected in our prices or that increased prices will be absorbed by consumers without diminishing to 
some degree consumer spending at the bakery-cafes.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, “Income Taxes (Topic 
740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit 
Carryforward Exists”. This guidance requires an unrecognized tax benefit related to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar 
tax loss or a tax credit carryforward to be presented as a reduction to a deferred tax asset, unless the tax benefit is not available at 
the reporting date to settle any additional income taxes under the tax law of the applicable tax jurisdiction. The guidance is effective 
for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this 
guidance is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Commodity Risk

We manage our commodity risk in several ways.  We purchase certain commodities, such as flour, coffee, and proteins, for use in 
our business.  These commodities are sometimes purchased under agreements with terms of one month to one year, usually at a 
fixed price.  As a result, we are subject to market risk that current market prices may be above or below our contractual price.  In 
fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, we did not utilize derivative instruments in managing commodity risk. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We could be exposed to market risk primarily from fluctuations in interest rates on any borrowings we may make under our 
revolving credit facility.  Our revolving credit facility provides for a $250 million secured facility under which we may select 
interest rates equal to (1) LIBOR plus the Applicable Rate for LIBOR loans (which is an amount ranging from 1.00 percent to 
2.00 percent depending on our consolidated leverage ratio) or (2) the Base Rate (which is defined as the higher of the Bank of 
America prime rate, the Federal funds rate plus 0.50 percent, or LIBOR plus 1.00 percent) plus the Applicable Rate for Base Rate 
loans (which is an amount ranging from 0.00 percent to 1.00 percent depending on our consolidated leverage ratio).  We did not 
have an outstanding balance on our credit facility at December 31, 2013 or December 25, 2012.  We may have future borrowings 
under our credit facility, which could result in an interest rate change that may have an impact on our consolidated results of 
operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We currently have seven Canadian Company-owned bakery-cafes, one Canadian Company-owned fresh dough facility, and five 
Canadian franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  As a result, certain of our operating revenues, expenses, and capital purchasing activities 
are subject to fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Canadian Dollar.  To date, we have not entered into any hedging contracts, 
although we may do so in the future.  Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could affect our business in the future.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements are included in response to this item:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Consolidated Balance Sheets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — is included in Item 15(a)(2). All other schedules are
omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Board of Directors and Stockholders of Panera Bread Company:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, 
of changes in equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Panera Bread Company and 
its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index appearing under 
Item 15(a)(2) present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related 
consolidated financial statements.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company's management is 
responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting under Item 9A.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, 
on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects.  Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation.  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 19, 2014
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PANERA BREAD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share information)

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

ASSETS   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 125,245 $ 297,141
Trade accounts receivable, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,965 43,843
Other accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51,637 42,419
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,916 19,714
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,064 42,223
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,889 33,502

Total current assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 302,716 478,842
Property and equipment, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 669,409 571,754
Other assets:   

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123,013 121,903
Other intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79,768 88,073
Deposits and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,956 7,591

Total other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 208,737 217,567
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,180,862 $ 1,268,163

LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities:   

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,533 $ 9,371
Accrued expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 285,792 268,169

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 303,325 277,540
Deferred rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,974 59,822
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,398 60,655
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,273 48,227

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 480,970 446,244
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)   

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   
Common stock, $.0001 par value per share:   

Class A, 112,500,000 shares authorized; 30,573,851 shares issued and 26,290,446 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 30,458,238 shares issued and 28,208,684 shares
outstanding at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 3
Class B, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 1,382,393 shares issued and outstanding at December
31, 2013 and 1,383,687 shares issued and outstanding at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Treasury stock, carried at cost; 4,283,405 shares at December 31, 2013 and 2,249,554
shares at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (546,570) (207,161)
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value per share; 2,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
issued or outstanding at December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 196,908 174,690
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (333) 672
Retained earnings. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,049,884 853,715

Total stockholders' equity. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 699,892 821,919
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,180,862 $ 1,268,163

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PANERA BREAD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands, except per share information)

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Revenues:    

Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,108,908 $ 1,879,280 $ 1,592,951
Franchise royalties and fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,641 102,076 92,793
Fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163,453 148,701 136,288

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,385,002 $ 2,130,057 $ 1,822,032
Costs and expenses:

Bakery-cafe expenses:
Cost of food and paper products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 625,622 $ 552,580 $ 470,398
Labor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 625,457 559,446 484,014
Occupancy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,816 130,793 115,290
Other operating expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 295,539 256,029 216,237

Total bakery-cafe expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,695,434 1,498,848 1,285,939
Fresh dough and other product cost of sales to franchisees . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142,160 131,006 116,267
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,523 90,939 79,899
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123,335 117,932 113,083
Pre-opening expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,794 8,462 6,585

Total costs and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,075,246 1,847,187 1,601,773
Operating profit. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 309,756 282,870 220,259
Interest expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,053 1,082 822
Other (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,017) (1,208) (466)
Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 312,720 282,996 219,903
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116,551 109,548 83,951

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 196,169 $ 173,448 $ 135,952

Earnings per common share:
Basic. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.85 $ 5.94 $ 4.59
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.81 $ 5.89 $ 4.55

Weighted average shares of common and common equivalent shares
outstanding:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,629 29,217 29,601
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,794 29,455 29,903

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1,005) $ 364 $ 33

Other comprehensive (loss) income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1,005) $ 364 $ 33
Comprehensive income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 195,164 $ 173,812 $ 135,985

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PANERA BREAD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Cash flows from operations:    

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 196,169 $ 173,448 $ 135,952
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,523 90,939 79,899
Stock-based compensation expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,703 9,094 9,861
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,100) (8,587) (4,994)
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,356 20,334 1,351
Loss on disposals of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,764 3,995 1,789
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 589 475 634

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of
acquisitions and dispositions:

Trade and other accounts receivable, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,021 (31,414) (16,369)
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,186) (2,440) (2,183)
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (841) (10,995) (7,323)
Deposits and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,449 161 117
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,162 (6,513) 8,538
Accrued expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,372 49,246 19,630
Deferred rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,868 5,718 6,081
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,432) (4,005) 3,906

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 348,417 289,456 236,889
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (192,010) (152,328) (107,932)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,446) (47,951) (44,377)
Purchase of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (97,919) — —
Proceeds from sale of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97,936 — —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 115
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,132 4,538 —

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (188,307) (195,741) (152,194)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Repurchase of common stock. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (339,409) (31,566) (96,605)
Exercise of employee stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 573 4,455 3,193
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,100 8,587 4,994
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans . . 2,842 2,462 2,040
Capitalized debt issuance costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,097) —
Payment of deferred acquisition holdback . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,112) (2,055) (4,976)

Net cash used in financing activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (332,006) (19,214) (91,354)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (171,896) 74,501 (6,659)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 297,141 222,640 229,299
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 125,245 $ 297,141 $ 222,640

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



44

PANERA BREAD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in thousands)

 Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 
 Class A Class B Treasury Stock  
 Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Total
Balance, December 28, 2010. . . . . . 29,007 $ 3 1,392 $ — 1,119 $ (78,990) $ 130,005 $ 544,315 $ 275 $ 595,608
Comprehensive income:           

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — — 135,952 — 135,952
Other comprehensive income . . . . — — — — — — — — 33 33

Comprehensive income . . . . . .          135,985
Issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . 21 — — — — — 2,040 — — 2,040
Issuance of restricted stock (net of
forfeitures). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 93 — — — — — — — — —
Exercise of employee stock options . 65 — — — — — 3,193 — — 3,193
Stock-based compensation expense . — — — — — — 9,861 — — 9,861
Conversion of Class B to Class A. . . 8 — (8) — — — — — — —
Exercise of SSARs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — — — — — — — — —
Repurchase of common stock . . . . . . (929) — — — 929 (96,605) — — — (96,605)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 4,994 — — 4,994
Balance, December 27, 2011. . . . . . 28,266 $ 3 1,384 $ — 2,048 $ (175,595) $ 150,093 $ 680,267 $ 308 $ 655,076
Comprehensive income:           

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — — 173,448 — 173,448
Other comprehensive income . . . . — — — — — — — — 364 364

Comprehensive income . . . . . .          173,812
Issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . 20 — — — — — 2,462 — — 2,462
Issuance of restricted stock (net of
forfeitures). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 — — — — — — — — —
Exercise of employee stock options . 96 — — — — — 4,455 — — 4,455
Stock-based compensation expense . — — — — — — 9,094 — — 9,094
Exercise of SSARs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — — — — — (1) — — (1)
Repurchase of common stock . . . . . . (202) — — — 202 (31,566) — — — (31,566)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 8,587 — — 8,587
Balance, December 25, 2012. . . . . . 28,209 $ 3 1,384 $ — 2,250 $ (207,161) $ 174,690 $ 853,715 $ 672 $ 821,919
Comprehensive income:

Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — — 196,169 — 196,169
Other comprehensive income . . . . — — — — — — — — (1,005) (1,005)

Comprehensive income . . . . . . 195,164
Issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . 20 — — — — — 2,841 — — 2,841
Issuance of restricted stock (net of
forfeitures). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78 — — — — — — — — —
Exercise of employee stock options . 12 — — — — — 575 — — 575
Stock-based compensation expense . — — — — — — 10,703 — — 10,703
Conversion of Class B to Class A. . . 2 — (2) — — — — — — —
Exercise of SSARs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 — — — — — (1) — — (1)
Repurchase of common stock . . . . . . (2,033) — — — 2,033 (339,409) — — — (339,409)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 8,100 — — 8,100
Balance, December 31, 2013. . . . . . 26,290 $ 3 1,382 $ — 4,283 $ (546,570) $ 196,908 $1,049,884 $ (333) $ 699,892

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Nature of Business

Panera Bread Company and its subsidiaries (the "Company") operate a retail bakery-cafe business and franchising business under 
the concept names Panera Bread®, Saint Louis Bread Co.®, and Paradise Bakery & Café®.  As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s 
retail operations consisted of 867 Company-owned bakery-cafes and 910 franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  The Company 
specializes in meeting consumer dining needs by providing high-quality food, including the following: fresh baked goods, made-
to-order sandwiches on freshly baked breads, soups, pasta dishes, salads, and cafe beverages, and targets urban and suburban 
dwellers and workers by offering a premium specialty bakery-cafe experience with a neighborhood emphasis.  Bakery-cafes are 
located in urban, suburban, strip mall, and regional mall locations and currently operate in the United States and Canada.  Bakery-
cafes use fresh dough for their artisan and sourdough breads and bagels.  As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s fresh dough 
and other product operations, which supply fresh dough, produce, tuna, and cream cheese items daily to most Company-owned 
and franchise-operated bakery-cafes, consisted of 22 Company-owned and two franchise-operated fresh dough facilities.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”).  The consolidated financial statements consist of the accounts of Panera Bread Company and its wholly owned direct 
and indirect subsidiaries.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  Certain 
reclassifications were made to prior year amounts to conform to the fiscal 2013 presentation.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the last Tuesday in December.  As a result, the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 
2013 had 53 weeks with the fourth quarter comprising 14 weeks.  The fiscal years ended December 25, 2012 and December 27, 
2011 each had 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity at the time of purchase of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents.  The Company maintains cash balances with financial institutions that exceed federally insured limits.  The 
Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances and believes credit risk to be minimal.

Investments

Management designates the classification of its investments at the time of purchase based upon its intended holding period.  See 
Note 4 and Note 5 for further information with respect to the Company’s investments.

Trade Accounts Receivable, net and Other Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable, net consists primarily of amounts due to the Company from its franchisees for purchases of fresh dough 
and other products from the Company’s fresh dough facilities, royalties due to the Company from franchisee sales, and receivables 
from credit card and catering on-account sales. 

As of December 31, 2013, other accounts receivable consisted primarily of $22.8 million due from income tax refunds, $16.9 
million due from wholesalers of the Company’s gift cards, and tenant allowances due from landlords of $7.1 million.  As of 
December 25, 2012, other accounts receivable consisted primarily of $17.4 million due from income tax refunds, $14.9 million 
due from wholesalers of the Company’s gift cards, and tenant allowances due from landlords of $5.7 million. 
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The Company does not require collateral and maintains reserves for potential uncollectible accounts based on historical losses 
and existing economic conditions, when relevant.  The allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2013 and December 25, 
2012 was $0.1 million, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories, which consist of food products, paper goods, and supplies, are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost 
determined under the first-in, first-out method.

Property and Equipment, net

Property, equipment, leasehold improvements, and land are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is provided 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the related reasonably assured lease term.  Costs incurred 
in connection with the development of internal-use software are capitalized in accordance with the accounting standard for internal-
use software, and are amortized over the expected useful life of the software.  The estimated useful lives used for financial statement 
purposes are:

Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 - 20 years
Machinery and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 - 15 years
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 - 7 years
Computer hardware and software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 - 5 years

Interest, to the extent it is incurred in connection with the construction of new locations or facilities, is capitalized.  The capitalized 
interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life.  No interest was 
incurred for such purposes for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011. 

Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed and their related accumulated depreciation are removed from the Company’s 
accounts.  Any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to operations.  Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when 
incurred, while certain improvements are capitalized.  The total amounts expensed for maintenance and repairs was $56.6 million, 
$48.0 million, and $39.5 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, 
respectively.

Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances 
indicate impairment might exist.  Goodwill is evaluated for impairment through the comparison of the fair value of reporting units 
to their carrying values.  When evaluating goodwill for impairment, the Company may first perform an assessment of qualitative 
factors to determine if the fair value of the reporting unit is more-likely-than-not greater than its carrying amount.  This qualitative 
assessment is referred to as a “step zero” approach.  If, based on the review of the qualitative factors, the Company determines it 
is not more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, the Company bypasses the required 
two-step impairment test.  If the Company does not perform a qualitative assessment or if the fair value of the reporting unit is 
not more-likely- than-not greater than its carrying value, the Company performs the first step (“step one”) of the two-step impairment 
test and calculates the estimated fair value of the reporting unit.  If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the estimated fair value, 
there is an indication that impairment may exist and the second step must be performed to measure the amount of impairment 
loss.  The amount of impairment is determined by comparing the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill to the carrying value 
of the goodwill in the same manner as if the reporting unit was being acquired in a business combination.  If the implied fair value 
of goodwill is less than the recorded goodwill, the Company would record an impairment loss for the difference.

In considering the step zero approach to testing goodwill for impairment, the Company performs a qualitative analysis evaluating 
factors including, but not limited to, macro-economic conditions, market and industry conditions, internal cost factors, competitive 
environment, share price fluctuations, results of past impairment tests, and the operational stability and the overall financial 
performance of the reporting units.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company utilized a qualitative assessment for 
all but one of its reporting units where no significant change occurred and no potential impairment indicators existed since the 
previous annual evaluation of goodwill, and concluded it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value was more than its carrying 
value on a reporting unit basis.
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In considering the step one approach to testing goodwill for impairment, the Company utilized a quantitative assessment to test 
goodwill for impairment for one reporting unit during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 and concluded that there was no impairment 
as the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value.  The fair value of the reporting unit is the price a 
willing buyer would pay for the reporting unit and is estimated using a discounted cash flow model.  The goodwill balance for the 
reporting unit subject to the quantitative assessment was $2.2 million at December 31, 2013.  The Company's discounted cash 
flow estimate was based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, such as 
revenue growth rates, operating margins, risk-adjusted discount rates, and future economic and market conditions.  Estimates of 
discounted cash flow may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other things, economic conditions, changes to the Company's 
business model or changes in operating performance.  Additionally, certain estimates of discounted cash flow involve businesses 
with limited financial history and developing revenue models, which increases the risk of differences between the projected and 
actual performance.  The long-term financial forecasts that the Company utilizes represent the best estimate that the Company has 
at this time and the Company believes that the underlying assumptions are reasonable.   

Other Intangible Assets, net

Other intangible assets, net consist primarily of favorable lease agreements, re-acquired territory rights, and trademarks.  The 
Company amortizes the fair value of favorable lease agreements over the remaining related lease terms at the time of the acquisition, 
which ranged from approximately two years to 17 years as of December 31, 2013.  The fair value of re-acquired territory rights 
was based on the present value of the acquired bakery-cafe cash flows.  The Company amortizes the fair value of re-acquired 
territory rights over the remaining contractual terms of the re-acquired territory rights at the time of the acquisition, which ranged 
from approximately seven years to 20 years as of December 31, 2013.  The fair value of trademarks is amortized over their estimated 
useful life of 22 years.

The Company reviews intangible assets with finite lives for impairment when events or circumstances indicate these assets might 
be impaired.  When warranted, the Company tests intangible assets with finite lives for impairment using historical cash flows 
and other relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for an estimate of future cash flows.  As of December 31, 2013, 
December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, no impairment of intangible assets with finite lives had been recognized.  There can 
be no assurance that future intangible asset impairment tests will not result in a charge to earnings.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful life of long-
lived assets may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of an asset may not be recoverable.  The Company compares 
anticipated undiscounted cash flows from the related long-lived assets of a bakery-cafe or fresh dough facility with their respective 
carrying values to determine if the long-lived assets are recoverable.  If the sum of the anticipated undiscounted cash flows for 
the long-lived assets is less than their carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the anticipated 
discounted cash flows, which approximates fair value, and the carrying value of the long-lived assets.  In performing this analysis, 
management estimates cash flows based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating 
performance, such as revenue growth rates, operating margins, risk-adjusted discount rates, and future economic and market 
conditions.  Estimates of cash flow may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other things, economic conditions, changes 
to the Company's business model or changes in operating performance.  The long-term financial forecasts that management utilizes 
represent the best estimate that management has at this time and management believes that the underlying assumptions are 
reasonable. 

The Company recognized impairment losses of $0.8 million and $0.3 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 
and December 25, 2012, respectively, related to distinct, underperforming Company-owned bakery-cafes.  These losses were 
recorded in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  No impairment loss was recognized 
during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2011. 

Self-Insurance Reserves

The Company is self-insured for a significant portion of its workers’ compensation, group health, and general, auto, and property 
liability insurance with varying deductibles of as much as $0.7 million for individual claims, depending on the type of claim.  The 
Company also purchases aggregate stop-loss and/or layers of loss insurance in many categories of loss.  The Company utilizes 
third party actuarial experts’ estimates of expected losses based on statistical analyses of historical industry data, as well as its 
own estimates based on the Company’s actual historical data to determine required self-insurance reserves.  The assumptions are 
closely reviewed, monitored, and adjusted when warranted by changing circumstances.  The estimated accruals for these liabilities 
could be affected if actual experience related to the number of claims and cost per claim differs from these assumptions and 
historical trends.  Based on information known at December 31, 2013, the Company believes it has provided adequate reserves 
for its self-insurance exposure.  As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, self-insurance reserves were $31.5 million and 
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$28.9 million, respectively, and were included in accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The total amounts expensed 
for self-insurance were $46.9 million, $41.8 million, and $35.9 million, for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 
2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  Any effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities from a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  A valuation allowance is recognized if the Company determines 
it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be recognized.  As of December 31, 2013 and 
December 25, 2012, the Company had recorded a valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets of the Company's Canadian 
operations of $3.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively.  No valuation allowance was recorded against deferred tax assets during 
the fiscal year ended December 27, 2011. 

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on income taxes, the Company establishes additional provisions for income taxes 
when, despite the belief that tax positions are fully supportable, there remain certain positions that do not meet the minimum 
probability threshold, which is a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon ultimate settlement with tax authorities 
assuming full knowledge of the position and all relevant facts.  In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries 
are examined by various federal, state, foreign, and other tax authorities.  The Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes 
of these examinations and any future examinations for the current or prior years in determining the adequacy of its provision for 
income taxes.  The Company routinely assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax 
provision, the current tax liability and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known.  
The Company classifies estimated interest and penalties related to the unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income taxes 
in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Capitalization of Certain Development Costs

The Company has elected to account for construction costs in accordance with the accounting standard for real estate in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.  The Company capitalizes direct costs clearly associated with the acquisition, 
development, design, and construction of bakery-cafe locations and fresh dough facilities as these costs have a future benefit to 
the Company.  The types of specifically identifiable costs capitalized by the Company include primarily payroll and payroll related 
taxes and benefit costs incurred by those individuals directly involved in development activities, including the acquisition, 
development, design, and construction of bakery-cafes and fresh dough facilities.  The Company does not consider for capitalization 
payroll or payroll-related costs incurred by individuals that do not directly support the acquisition, development, design, and 
construction of bakery-cafes and fresh dough facilities.  The Company uses an activity-based methodology to determine the amount 
of costs incurred for Company-owned projects, which are capitalized, and those for franchise-operated projects and general and 
administrative activities, which both are expensed as incurred.  If the Company subsequently makes a determination that a site 
for which development costs have been capitalized will not be acquired or developed, any previously capitalized development 
costs are expensed and included in general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

The Company capitalized $9.6 million, $9.0 million, and $7.7 million direct costs related to the development of Company-owned 
bakery-cafes for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.  The 
Company amortizes capitalized development costs for each bakery-cafe and fresh dough facility using the straight-line method 
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the related reasonably assured lease term and includes such amounts in depreciation 
and amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  In addition, the Company assesses the recoverability 
of capitalized costs through the performance of impairment analyses on an individual bakery-cafe and fresh dough facility basis 
pursuant to the accounting standard for property and equipment, net specifically related to the accounting for the impairment or 
disposal of long-lived assets.

Deferred Financing Costs

Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are capitalized and amortized to interest expense 
based on the related debt agreement using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method.  The 
unamortized amounts are included in deposits and other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and were $0.8 million and $1.1 
million at December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company records revenues from bakery-cafe sales upon delivery of the related food and other products to the customer.  
Revenues from fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees are recorded upon delivery to the franchisees.  Sales of soup 
and other branded products outside of the Company's bakery-cafes are recognized upon delivery to customers.

Franchise fees are the result of the sale of area development rights and the sale of individual franchise locations to third parties. 
The initial franchise fee is generally $35,000 per bakery-cafe to be developed under an Area Development Agreement, or ADA.  
Of this fee, $5,000 is generally paid at the time of the signing of the ADA and is recognized as revenue when it is received as it 
is non-refundable and the Company has to perform no other service to earn this fee.  The remainder of the fee is paid at the time 
an individual franchise agreement is signed and is recognized as revenue upon the opening of the bakery-cafe.  Franchise fees 
were $2.2 million, $1.9 million, and $2.3 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and 
December 27, 2011, respectively.  Royalties are generally paid weekly based on the percentage of franchisee sales specified in 
each ADA (generally five percent of net sales).  Royalties are recognized as revenue when they are earned.  Royalties were $110.5 
million, $100.2 million, and $90.5 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 
2011, respectively.

The Company maintains a customer loyalty program referred to as MyPanera in which customers earn rewards based on registration 
in the program and purchases within Panera Bread bakery-cafes.  The Company records the full retail value of loyalty program 
rewards as a reduction of net bakery-cafe sales and a liability is established within accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets as rewards are earned while considering historical redemption rates.  Fully earned rewards generally expire if unredeemed 
after 60 days.  Partially earned awards generally expire if inactive for a period of one year.  The accrued liability related to the 
Company’s loyalty program, which is included as a reduction of bakery-cafe sales in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, was $3.4 million and $4.7 million as of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively.

The Company sells gift cards that do not have an expiration date and from which the Company does not deduct non-usage fees 
from outstanding gift card balances.  Gift cards are redeemable at both Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes.  
Gift cards sold by either Company-owned bakery-cafes or through wholesalers and redeemed at franchise-operated bakery-cafes 
reduce the Company's gift card liability but do not result in the recognition of revenue.  When gift cards are redeemed at Company-
owned bakery-cafes, the Company recognizes revenue and reduces the gift card liability.  When the Company determines the 
likelihood of the gift card being redeemed by the customer is remote ("gift card breakage"), based upon Company-specific historical 
redemption patterns, and there is no legal obligation to remit the unredeemed gift card balance in the relevant jurisdiction, gift 
card breakage is recorded as a reduction of general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income; however, such gift cards will continue to be honored.  For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, 
and December 27, 2011, the Company recognized gift card breakage as a reduction of general and administrative expenses of $2.8 
million, $1.8 million, and $1.9 million respectively.  Incremental direct costs related to the sale of gift cards are deferred until the 
associated gift card is redeemed or breakage is deemed appropriate.  These deferred incremental direct costs are reflected as a 
reduction of the unredeemed gift card liability, net which is a component of accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
and, when recognized, as a reduction of bakery-cafe sales, net in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Advertising Costs

National advertising fund and marketing administration contributions received from franchise-operated bakery-cafes are 
consolidated with those from the Company in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  Liabilities for unexpended funds 
received from franchisees are included in accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The Company’s contributions 
to the national advertising and marketing administration funds are recorded as part of general and administrative expenses in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, while the Company’s own local bakery-cafe media costs are recorded as part 
of other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  The Company’s policy is to record 
advertising costs as expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.  The Company’s advertising costs include national, 
regional, and local expenditures utilizing primarily radio, billboards, social networking, television, and print.  The total amounts 
recorded as advertising expense were $55.6 million, $44.5 million, and $33.2 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.

Pre-Opening Expenses

All pre-opening expenses directly associated with the opening of new bakery-cafe locations, which consists primarily of pre-
opening rent expense, labor, and food costs incurred during in-store training and preparation for opening, but exclude manager 
training costs which are included in labor expense in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, are expensed when 
incurred.
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Rent Expense

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the reasonably assured lease term as defined in the accounting 
standard for leases.  The reasonably assured lease term for most bakery-cafe leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus 
one renewal option period, which generally equates to an aggregate of 15 years.  The reasonably assured lease term on most fresh 
dough facility leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one to two renewal option periods, which generally equates to 
an aggregate of 20 years.  In addition, certain of the Company’s lease agreements provide for scheduled rent increases during the 
lease terms or for rental payments commencing at a date other than the date of initial occupancy.  The Company includes any rent 
escalations and construction period and other rent holidays in its determination of straight-line rent expense.  Therefore, rent 
expense for new locations is charged to expense beginning on the date at which the Company has the right to control the use of 
the property.  Many of the Company's lease agreements also contain provisions that require additional rental payments based upon 
net bakery-cafe sales volume, which the Company refers to as contingent rent.  Contingent rent is accrued each period as the 
liability is incurred, in addition to the straight-line rent expense noted above.  This results in variability in occupancy expense over 
the term of the lease in bakery-cafes where the Company pays contingent rent.

The Company records landlord allowances and incentives received as deferred rent in the Consolidated Balance Sheets based on 
their short-term or long-term nature.  This deferred rent is amortized on a straight-line basis over the reasonably assured lease 
term as a reduction of rent expense.  Additionally, payments made by the Company and reimbursed by the landlord for improvements 
deemed to be lessor assets have no impact on the Statements of Comprehensive Income. The Company considers improvements 
to be a lessor asset if all of the following criteria are met:

• the lease specifically requires the lessee to make the improvement;

• the improvement is fairly generic;

• the improvement increases the fair value of the property to the lessor; and

• the useful life of the improvement is longer than the lease term.

The Company reports the period to period change in the landlord receivable within the operating activities section of its Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding during the fiscal year.  Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock outstanding and dilutive securities outstanding during the year.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company has seven Company-owned bakery-cafes, one Company-owned fresh dough facility, and five franchise-operated 
bakery-cafes in Canada which use the Canadian Dollar as their functional currency.  Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. 
dollars using the current exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and expenses are translated at the weighted-
average exchange rate during the fiscal period.  The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity.  
Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions have not historically been significant and are included in other 
(income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other accrued expenses approximate their fair values 
due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. 

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the accounting standard for stock-based compensation, 
which requires the Company to measure and record compensation expense in the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
for all stock-based compensation awards using a fair value method.  The Company maintains several stock-based incentive plans 
under which the Company may grant incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options and stock settled appreciation rights 
(collectively, “option awards”) to certain directors, officers, employees and consultants.  The Company also may grant restricted 
stock and restricted stock units and the Company offers a stock purchase plan where employees may purchase the Company’s 
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common stock each calendar quarter through payroll deductions at 85 percent of market value on the purchase date and the 
Company recognizes compensation expense on the 15 percent discount.

For option awards, fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, while restricted stock is valued using 
the closing stock price on the date of grant.  The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of subjective assumptions.  
These assumptions include estimating the expected term until the option awards are either exercised or canceled, the expected 
volatility of the Company’s stock price, for a period approximating the expected term, the risk-free interest rate with a maturity 
that approximates the option awards expected term, and the dividend yield based on the Company’s anticipated dividend payout 
over the expected term of the option awards.  These assumptions are evaluated and revised, as necessary, to reflect market conditions 
and historical experience.  Stock-based compensation expense is recognized only for those awards expected to vest, with forfeitures 
estimated at the date of grant based on historical experience.  The fair value of the awards expected to vest is amortized over the 
vesting period.  Options and restricted stock generally vest 25 percent after two years and thereafter 25 percent each year for the 
next three years and options generally have a six-year term.  Stock-based compensation expense is included in general and 
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Asset Retirement Obligations 

The Company recognizes the future cost to comply with lease obligations at the end of a lease as it relates to tangible long-lived 
assets in accordance with the accounting standard for the asset retirement and environmental obligations ("ARO") in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  Most lease agreements require the Company to restore the leased property to its original 
condition, including removal of certain long-lived assets the Company has installed, at the end of the lease.  A liability for the fair 
value of an asset retirement obligation along with a corresponding increase to the carrying value of the related long-lived asset is 
recorded at the time a lease agreement is executed.  The Company amortizes the amount added to property and equipment, net 
and recognizes accretion expense in connection with the discounted liability over the reasonably assured lease term.  The estimated 
liability is based on the Company’s historical experience in closing bakery-cafes, fresh dough facilities, and support centers and 
the related external cost associated with these activities.  Revisions to the liability could occur due to changes in estimated retirement 
costs or changes in lease terms.  As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, the Company's net ARO asset included in 
property and equipment, net was $4.6 million and $4.6 million, respectively, and its net ARO liability included in other long-term 
liabilities was $10.2 million and $9.2 million, respectively.  ARO accretion expense was $0.6 million, $0.4 million, and $0.3 
million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company applies the guidance issued by the FASB on accounting for variable interest entities (“VIE”), which defines the 
process for how an enterprise determines which party consolidates a VIE as primarily a qualitative analysis.  The enterprise that 
consolidates the VIE (the primary beneficiary) is defined as the enterprise with (1) the power to direct activities of the VIE that 
most significantly affect the VIE’s economic performance and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive 
benefits from the VIE.  The Company does not possess any ownership interests in franchise entities or other affiliates.  The franchise 
agreements are designed to provide the franchisee with key decision-making ability to enable it to oversee its operations and to 
have a significant impact on the success of the franchise, while the Company’s decision-making rights are related to protecting 
its brand.  Based upon its analysis of all the relevant facts and considerations of the franchise entities and other affiliates, the 
Company has concluded that these entities are not variable interest entities and they have not been consolidated as of the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2013.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, “Income Taxes (Topic 
740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit 
Carryforward Exists”. This guidance requires an unrecognized tax benefit related to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar 
tax loss or a tax credit carryforward to be presented as a reduction to a deferred tax asset, unless the tax benefit is not available at 
the reporting date to settle any additional income taxes under the tax law of the applicable tax jurisdiction. The guidance is effective 
for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this 
guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

3. Business Combinations and Divestitures

Florida Bakery-cafe Acquisition

On April 9, 2013, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of one bakery-cafe from its Hallandale, Florida franchisee for 
a purchase price of $2.7 million.  The Company paid approximately $2.4 million of the purchase price on April 9, 2013 and retained 
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$0.3 million for certain holdbacks.  The holdbacks are primarily for certain indemnifications and expire on April 9, 2014, the one 
year anniversary of the transaction closing date, with any remaining holdback amounts reverting to the prior franchisee.  The 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income include the results of operations for the bakery-cafe from the date of its 
acquisition.  The pro-forma impact of the acquisition on prior periods is not presented, as the impact is not material to reported 
results.

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired in the acquisition at their estimated fair 
values with the remainder allocated to tax deductible goodwill as follows: $0.4 million to property and equipment; $1.0 million 
to intangible assets, which represents the fair value of re-acquired territory rights and the favorable lease agreement and are expected 
to be amortized on average over approximately 12 years; and $1.3 million to goodwill.  The fair value measurement of tangible 
and intangible assets as of the acquisition date was based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a 
Level 3 measurement. 

Goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition was attributable to the workforce of the acquired bakery-cafe and synergies 
expected to arise from cost savings opportunities.  All of the recorded goodwill is tax deductible and is included in the Company 
Bakery-Cafe Operations segment.

North Carolina Franchisee Acquisition

On March 28, 2012, the Company acquired substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of 16 bakery-cafes and the related 
area development rights from its Raleigh-Durham, North Carolina franchisee for a purchase price of $48.0 million.  The Company 
paid approximately $44.4 million of the purchase price on March 27, 2012 and paid the remaining $3.6 million with interest during 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.  The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income include the results of operations 
from the operating bakery-cafes from the date of their acquisition.  

The acquired business contributed revenues of $36.0 million and net income of approximately $2.9 million for the period from 
March 28, 2012 through December 25, 2012.  The supplemental pro forma information set forth in the following table has been 
prepared for comparative purposes and does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition been 
made on December 29, 2010, nor is it indicative of any future results (in thousands):

 Pro Forma for the Fiscal Year Ended
 December 25, 2012 December 27, 2011
Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,888,914 $ 1,632,295
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 173,763 137,297

The pro forma amounts included in the table above reflect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and adjustment 
of the results of the Raleigh-Durham, North Carolina bakery-cafes to reflect the additional depreciation and amortization that 
would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property and equipment and intangible assets had been applied 
from December 29, 2010, together with the consequential tax impacts. 

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired in the acquisition at their estimated fair 
values with the remainder allocated to tax deductible goodwill as follows: $0.1 million to accounts receivable; $0.3 million to 
inventories; $6.4 million to property and equipment; $29.1 million to intangible assets, which represent the fair value of re-acquired 
territory rights and favorable lease agreements that the Company estimated to have an average useful life of approximately 12 
years; $1.4 million to liabilities; and $13.5 million to goodwill.  The fair value measurement of tangible and intangible assets and 
liabilities as of the acquisition date is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 
measurement.  In addition, the Company recorded a $0.1 million measurement period adjustment increasing goodwill during the 
fiscal year ended December 25, 2012. 

Goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition was attributable to the workforce of the acquired bakery-cafes and synergies 
expected to arise from cost savings opportunities.  All of the recorded goodwill is tax deductible and is included in the Company 
Bakery-Cafe Operations segment.

Indiana Franchisee Acquisition

On July 26, 2011, the Company acquired substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of five Paradise Bakery & Café 
(“Paradise”) bakery-cafes and the related area development rights from an Indiana franchisee for a purchase price of approximately 
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$5.1 million.  The Company paid approximately $4.6 million of the purchase price on July 26, 2011 and paid the remaining $0.5 
million with interest during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.  As a result of this acquisition, the Company gained control 
of the five bakery-cafes and further expanded Company-owned operations into Indiana.  The Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income include the results of operations from these five bakery-cafes from the date of their acquisition.  The pro 
forma impact of the acquisition on prior periods is not presented, as the impact was not material to reported results.

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired in the acquisition at their estimated fair 
values with the remainder allocated to tax deductible goodwill as follows: $0.1 million to inventories; $1.3 million to property 
and equipment; $1.3 million to intangible assets, which represent the fair value of re-acquired territory rights that the Company 
estimated to have an average useful life of approximately six years; $0.7 million to liabilities; and $3.1 million to goodwill.  The 
fair value measurement of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date is based on significant inputs not 
observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement. 

Goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition was attributable to the workforce of the acquired bakery-cafes and synergies 
expected to arise from cost savings opportunities.  All of the recorded goodwill is tax deductible and is included in the Company 
Bakery-Cafe Operations segment.

Milwaukee Franchisee Acquisition

On April 19, 2011 the Company acquired substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of 25 bakery-cafes and the related area 
development rights from a Milwaukee franchisee for a purchase price of approximately $41.9 million.  The Company paid 
approximately $39.8 million of the purchase price on April 19, 2011 and paid the remaining approximately $2.1 million with 
interest during the fiscal year ended December 25, 2012.  As a result of this acquisition, the Company gained control of 25 bakery-
cafes and expanded Company-owned operations into Wisconsin.  The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income include 
the results of operations from the operating bakery-cafes from the date of the acquisition.

The acquired business contributed revenues of $42.4 million and net income of approximately $0.7 million for the period from 
April 20, 2011 through December 27, 2011.  The supplemental pro forma information set forth in the table below has been prepared 
for comparative purposes and does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition been made on 
December 29, 2010, nor is it indicative of any future results (in thousands):

 
Pro Forma for the
Fiscal Year Ended

 December 27, 2011
Bakery-cafe sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,607,633
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136,243

The pro forma amounts included in the table above reflect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and adjustment 
of the results of the Milwaukee bakery-cafes to reflect the additional depreciation and amortization that would have been charged 
assuming the fair value adjustments to property and equipment and intangible assets had been applied from December 29, 2010, 
together with the consequential tax impacts. 

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired in the acquisition at their estimated fair 
values with the remainder allocated to tax deductible goodwill as follows: $0.4 million to inventories; $9.3 million to property 
and equipment; $23.3 million to intangible assets, which represents the fair value of re-acquired territory rights and favorable 
lease agreements that the Company estimated to have an average useful life of approximately 13 years; $1.7 million to liabilities; 
and $10.6 million to goodwill.  The fair value measurement of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities as of the acquisition 
date is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement.  In addition, the 
Company recorded a $0.2 million measurement period adjustment increasing goodwill during the fiscal year ended December 25, 
2012. 

Goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition was attributable to the workforce of the acquired bakery-cafes and synergies 
expected to arise from cost savings opportunities.  All of the recorded goodwill is tax deductible and is included in the Company 
Bakery-Cafe Operations segment.
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Texas Divestiture

On February 9, 2011, the Company sold substantially all of the assets of two Paradise bakery-cafes to an existing Texas franchisee 
for a sale price of approximately $0.1 million, resulting in a nominal gain, which was classified in other (income) expense, net in 
the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Accrued Purchase Price Payments

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, the Company paid approximately 
$4.1 million, $2.1 million, and $5.0 million, respectively, including accrued interest, of previously accrued acquisition purchase 
price in accordance with the asset purchase agreements.  There was $0.3 million and $4.1 million of accrued purchase price 
remaining as of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively.

4. Investments Held to Maturity

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased and sold seven zero-coupon discount notes that were 
classified as held-to-maturity.  The amortized cost of the investments sold was $97.9 million.  The Company realized a loss on 
the sale of less than $0.1 million.  The Company sold the investments prior to maturity during the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013 as a result of higher than anticipated liquidity needs. 

5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s $18.1 million and $99.4 million in cash equivalents at December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012 were carried 
at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets based on quoted market prices for identical securities (Level 1 inputs).      

6. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

Food:   
Fresh dough facilities:   

Raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,377 $ 3,418
Finished goods. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 545 420

Bakery-cafes:
Raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,329 12,727

Paper goods. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,665 3,149
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,916 $ 19,714

7. Property and Equipment, net

Major classes of property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 607,472 $ 542,081
Machinery and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 305,060 265,350
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 149,445 130,044
Computer hardware and software. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,316 63,701
Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80,108 53,189
Smallwares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,031 25,152
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,856 2,201
 1,259,288 1,081,718
Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (589,879) (509,964)
Property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 669,409 $ 571,754
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The Company recorded depreciation expense related to these assets of $97.2 million, $82.7 million, and $74.2 million for the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.

8. Goodwill

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s goodwill by reportable segment at 
December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012 (in thousands):

Company Bakery-
Cafe Operations

Franchise
Operations

Fresh Dough and Other
Product Operations Total

Balance as of December 27, 2011 . . . . . . . $ 104,442 $ 1,934 $ 1,695 $ 108,071
Acquisition of North Carolina Franchisee . 13,509 — — 13,509
Currency translation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65 — — 65
Measurement period adjustments . . . . . . . . 258 — — 258
Balance as of December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . $ 118,274 $ 1,934 $ 1,695 $ 121,903
Acquisition of Florida bakery-cafe. . . . . . . 1,278 — — 1,278
Currency translation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (173) — — (173)
Measurement period adjustments . . . . . . . . 5 — — 5
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 119,384 $ 1,934 $ 1,695 $ 123,013

The Company has not recorded a goodwill impairment charge in the fiscal years 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.  In addition, 
the Company recorded measurement period adjustments of less than $0.1 million and $0.3 million during the fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively, increasing goodwill involving the Milwaukee and North Carolina 
franchise acquisitions.  

9. Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31, 2013 December 25, 2012
Gross

Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying

Value

Gross
Carrying

Value
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying

Value
Trademark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,610 $ (1,763) $ 3,847 $ 5,610 $ (1,504) $ 4,106
Re-acquired territory rights . . . . . 97,865 (24,254) 73,611 97,129 (15,985) 81,144
Favorable leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,866 (2,556) 2,310 5,056 (2,233) 2,823
Total other intangible assets . . . . . $ 108,341 $ (28,573) $ 79,768 $ 107,795 $ (19,722) $ 88,073

Amortization expense on these intangible assets for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and 
December 27, 2011, was approximately $9.3 million, $8.2 million, and $5.7 million, respectively.  Future amortization expense 
on these intangible assets as of December 31, 2013 is estimated to be approximately: $8.8 million in fiscal 2014, $8.7 million in 
fiscal 2015, $8.6 million in fiscal 2016, $8.6 million in fiscal 2017, $8.5 million in fiscal 2018 and $36.6 million thereafter.
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10. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

Unredeemed gift cards, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 86,287 $ 78,587
Compensation and related employment taxes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,123 58,751
Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,329 25,135
Insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,545 28,903
Taxes, other than income tax. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,618 18,224
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,236 8,175
Advertising . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,729 8,526
Utilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,488 4,255
Occupancy costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,017 5,986
Loyalty program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,362 4,667
Deferred revenue. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,852 2,775
Deferred acquisition purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 270 4,111
Litigation settlements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,729
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,936 16,345
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 285,792 $ 268,169

11. Credit Facility

On November 30, 2012, the Company terminated the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 7, 2008, by and 
among the Company, Bank of America, N.A., and other lenders party thereto (the "Prior Credit Agreement").  As of the date of 
termination, the Company had no loans outstanding and was in compliance with all covenants under the Prior Credit Agreement.  

On November 30, 2012, the Company entered into a new credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. 
and other lenders party thereto.  The Credit Agreement provides for an unsecured revolving credit facility of $250 million and 
provides that the Company may select the interest rates under the credit facility equal to (1) LIBOR plus the Applicable Rate for 
LIBOR loans (which is an amount ranging from 1.00 percent to 2.00 percent depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage 
ratio) or (2) the Base Rate (which is defined as the higher of the Bank of America prime rate, the Federal funds rate plus 0.50 
percent, or LIBOR plus 1.00 percent) plus the Applicable Rate for Base Rate loans (which is an amount ranging from 0.00 percent 
to 1.00 percent depending on the Company's consolidated leverage ratio).  The Company also pays commitment fees for the unused 
portion of the credit facility on a quarterly basis equal to the Applicable Rate for commitment fees times the actual daily unused 
commitment for that calendar quarter.  The Applicable Rate for commitment fees is between 0.10 percent and 0.25 percent based 
on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio. 

The Credit Agreement includes usual and customary covenants for a credit facility of this type, including covenants limiting liens, 
dispositions, fundamental changes, investments, indebtedness, and certain transactions and payments.  In addition, the Credit 
Agreement also requires the Company satisfy two financial covenants at the end of each fiscal quarter for the previous four 
consecutive fiscal quarters: (1) a consolidated leverage ratio less than or equal to 3.00 to 1.00, and (2) a consolidated fixed charge 
coverage ratio of greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00.  The credit facility, which is collateralized by the capital stock of the 
Company’s present and future material subsidiaries, will become due on November 30, 2017, subject to acceleration upon certain 
specified events of default, including breaches of representations or covenants, failure to pay other material indebtedness or a 
change of control of the Company, as defined in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement allows the Company from time to time to request that the credit facility be further increased by an amount 
not to exceed, in the aggregate, $150 million, subject to the arrangement of additional commitments with financial institutions 
acceptable to the Company and Bank of America.  The Company has not exercised these requests for increases in available 
borrowings as of December 31, 2013.  The proceeds from the credit facility are expected to be used for general corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012 the Company had no loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement.  The 
Company incurred $0.3 million of commitment fees for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, and $0.4 million for both of 
the fiscal years ended December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, respectively.  As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 
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2012, the Company was in compliance with all covenant requirements in the Credit Agreement and accrued interest related to the 
commitment fees on the Credit Agreement was $0.1 million.  Unamortized deferred financing costs were $0.8 million and $1.1 
million as of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively. 

12. Share Repurchase Authorization

On November 17, 2009, the Company's Board of Directors approved a three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600.0 
million of the Company's Class A common stock, pursuant to which the Company repurchased shares on the open market under 
a Rule 10b5-1 plan.  During fiscal 2012, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 34,600 shares under this share repurchase 
authorization, at an average price of $144.24 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million.  During fiscal 2011, the 
Company repurchased an aggregate of 877,100 shares under this share repurchase authorization, at an average price of $103.55 
per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $90.8 million.  On August 23, 2012, the Company's Board of Directors terminated 
this repurchase authorization.  Prior to its termination, the Company had repurchased a total of 2,844,669 shares of its Class A 
common stock under this share repurchase authorization, at a weighted-average price of $87.03 per share, for an aggregate purchase 
price of approximately $247.6 million.  

On August 23, 2012, the Company's Board of Directors approved a new three year share repurchase authorization of up to $600.0 
million of Class A common stock, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase shares from time to time on the open market 
or in privately negotiated transactions and which may be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan.  Repurchased shares may be retired 
immediately and resume the status of authorized but unissued shares or they may be held by the Company as treasury stock.  This 
repurchase authorization is reviewed quarterly by the Company's Board of Directors and may be modified, suspended, or 
discontinued at any time.  During fiscal 2013, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,992,250 shares under this share 
repurchase authorization, at an average price of $166.73 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $332.1 million.  During 
fiscal 2012, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 124,100 shares under this share repurchase authorization, at an average 
price of $161.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $20.0 million.  As of December 31, 2013, under this 
repurchase authorization, the Company has repurchased an aggregate of 2,116,350 shares, at a weighted-average price of $166.39 
per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $352.1 million.  There is approximately $247.9 million available under 
the existing $600.0 million repurchase authorization as of December 31, 2013.

In addition, the Company has repurchased shares of its Class A common stock through a share repurchase authorization approved 
by its Board of Directors from participants of the Panera Bread 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and the Panera Bread 2006 Stock 
Incentive Plan, which are netted and surrendered as payment for applicable tax withholding on the vesting of their restricted stock.  
Shares surrendered by the participants are repurchased by the Company pursuant to the terms of those plans and the applicable 
award agreements and not pursuant to publicly announced share repurchase authorizations.  See Note 15 for further information 
with respect to the Company’s repurchase of the shares.

13. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Lease Commitments

The Company is obligated under operating leases for its bakery-cafes, fresh dough facilities and trucks, and support centers.  Lease 
terms for its trucks are generally for five to seven years.  The reasonably assured lease term for most bakery-cafe and support 
center leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one renewal option period, which generally equates to an aggregate of 
15 years.  The reasonably assured lease term for most fresh dough facility leases is the initial non-cancelable lease term plus one 
to two renewal periods, which generally equates to an aggregate of 20 years.  Lease terms generally require the Company to pay 
a proportionate share of real estate taxes, insurance, common area, and other operating costs.  Certain bakery-cafe leases provide 
for contingent rental (i.e., percentage rent) payments based on sales in excess of specified amounts, scheduled rent increases during 
the lease terms, and/or rental payments commencing at a date other than the date of initial occupancy.

Aggregate minimum requirements under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding contingent payments, as of December 31, 
2013, were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

$ 134,614 132,736 131,825 128,690 125,926 676,126 $ 1,329,917
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Rental expense under operating leases was approximately $130.0 million, $114.8 million, and $100.6 million, in fiscal 2013, fiscal 
2012, and fiscal 2011, respectively, which included contingent (i.e., percentage rent) expense of $2.2 million, $2.0 million, and 
$1.6 million, respectively.

In accordance with the accounting guidance for asset retirement obligations the Company complies with lease obligations at the 
end of a lease as it relates to tangible long-lived assets.  The liability as of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012 was $10.2 
million and $9.2 million, respectively, and is included in other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In connection with the Company’s relocation of its St. Louis, Missouri support center in the third quarter of fiscal 2010, it 
simultaneously entered into a capital lease for certain personal property and purchased municipal industrial revenue bonds of a 
similar amount from St. Louis County, Missouri.  As of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, the 
Company held industrial revenue bonds and had recorded a capital lease of $1.3 million and $1.5 million in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, respectively.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the Company completed sale-leaseback transactions of the leasehold 
improvements and land for three Company-owned bakery-cafes for cash proceeds of $6.1 million.  The leases have been classified 
as operating leases and have initial terms of 15 years, with renewal options of up to 20 years.  The Company realized gains on 
these sales totaling $0.3 million, which have been deferred and are being recognized on a straight-line basis over the reasonably 
assured lease term for the leases.

During the fiscal year ended December 25, 2012, the Company completed sale-leaseback transactions of the leasehold 
improvements and land for two Company-owned bakery-cafes for cash proceeds of $4.5 million.  The leases have been classified 
as either capital or operating leases, depending on the substance of the transaction, and have initial terms of 15 years, with renewal 
options of up to 15 years.  The Company realized gains on these sales totaling $1.0 million, which have been deferred and are 
being recognized on a straight-line basis over the reasonably assured lease term for the leases.

Lease Guarantees

As of December 31, 2013, the Company guaranteed the operating leases of 25 franchisee or affiliate locations, which the Company 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting requirements for guarantees.  These guarantees are primarily a result of the 
Company's sales of Company-owned bakery-cafes to franchisees and affiliates, pursuant to which the Company exercised its right 
to assign the lease or sublease for the bakery-cafe but remains liable to the landlord for the remaining lease term in the event of a 
default by the assignee.  These leases have terms expiring on various dates from January 31, 2014 to September 30, 2027 and have 
a potential amount of future rental payments of approximately $20.1 million as of December 31, 2013.  The obligation from these 
leases will decrease over time as these operating leases expire.  The Company has not recorded a liability for certain of these 
guarantees as they arose prior to the implementation of the accounting requirements for guarantees and, unless modified, are 
exempt from its requirements.  The Company has not recorded a liability for those guarantees issued after the effective date of the 
accounting requirements because the fair value of these lease guarantees was determined by the Company to be insignificant 
individually, and in the aggregate, based on analysis of the facts and circumstances of each such lease and each such assignee’s 
performance, and the Company did not believe it was probable that it would be required to perform under any guarantees at the 
time the guarantees were issued.  The Company has not had to make any payments related to any of these guaranteed leases.  
Applicable assignees continue to have primary liability for these operating leases.  As of December 31, 2013, future commitments 
under these leases were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

$ 3,518 2,569 2,140 2,066 1,984 7,856 $ 20,133

Employee Commitments

The Company has executed confidential and proprietary information and non-competition agreements (“non-compete agreements”) 
with certain employees.  These non-compete agreements contain a provision whereby employees would be due a certain number 
of weeks of their salary if their employment was terminated by the Company as specified in the non-compete agreement.  The 
Company has not recorded a liability for these amounts potentially due employees.  Rather, the Company will record a liability 
for these amounts when an amount becomes due to an employee in accordance with the appropriate authoritative literature.  As 
of December 31, 2013, the total amount potentially owed employees under these non-compete agreements was $21.6 million.
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Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and litigation that arise in the ordinary course of 
its business.  As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company is not a party to any litigation, the outcome of 
which, if determined adversely to the Company, would individually or in the aggregate be reasonably expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows, financial position or brand.

Other

The Company is subject to on-going federal and state income tax audits and sales and use tax audits.  The Company does not 
believe the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial statements. However, 
a significant increase in the number of these audits, or one or more audits under which the Company incurs greater liabilities than 
is currently anticipated, could materially and adversely affect its consolidated financial statements.   The Company believes reserves 
for these matters are adequately provided for in its consolidated financial statements.

14. Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) before income taxes, by tax jurisdiction, were as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 317,479 $ 286,702 $ 221,906
Canada. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,759) (3,706) (2,003)
Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 312,720 $ 282,996 $ 219,903

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Current:    

U.S. federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 87,548 $ 72,434 $ 67,466
U.S. state and local . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,638 15,955 15,705
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (571)

 106,186 88,389 82,600
Deferred:

U.S. federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,547 16,640 1,084
U.S. state and local . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,804 3,603 267
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 916 —

 10,365 21,159 1,351
Total provision for income taxes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 116,551 $ 109,548 $ 83,951

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows for the periods indicated:

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Statutory U.S. federal rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.S. state and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.5 4.5 4.5
Federal tax credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.8) (0.4) (0.4)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1.4) (0.4) (0.9)
Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37.3% 38.7% 38.2%
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The tax effects of the significant temporary differences which comprise the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows for 
the periods indicated (in thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

Deferred tax assets:   
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 71,245 $ 78,198
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,534 3,002
Net operating losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,124 1,761
Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,008 139
Less: valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,173) (1,761)
Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 75,738 $ 81,339

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (90,940) $ (88,590)
Goodwill and other intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (22,307) (19,902)
Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (113,247) $ (108,492)

Net deferred tax liability. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (37,509) $ (27,153)
Net deferred current tax asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 27,889 $ 33,502
Net deferred non-current tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (65,398) $ (60,655)

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, the Company considers the generation of future taxable income and utilizes a 
more likely than not standard to determine if deferred tax assets will be realized.  Based on this assessment, the Company has 
recorded a deferred tax valuation allowance of $3.2 million as of December 31, 2013 as a full valuation allowance against all 
Canadian deferred tax assets, including the net operating loss carryforwards of the Company's Canadian operations.

The following is a rollforward of the Company’s total gross unrecognized tax benefit liabilities for the periods indicated (in 
thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

December 27,
2011

Beginning balance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,051 $ 3,544 $ 2,896
Tax positions related to the current year:

Additions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 653 530 526
Tax positions related to prior years:

Additions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 256 217 264
Reductions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (49) (341) (142)

Settlements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (425) (58) —
Expiration of statutes of limitations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (487) (841) —
Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,999 $ 3,051 $ 3,544

As of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized in full, would be 
recorded as a reduction of income tax expense was $2.7 million and $2.9 million, with applicable interest and penalties and net 
of federal tax benefits, respectively.  In certain cases, the Company’s uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain 
subject to examination by the relevant tax authorities.  The Company has completed a U.S. federal tax examination of fiscal 2010 
and 2011, and is no longer subject to examination for years prior to 2010.  While certain state returns in years 2002 through 2009 
may be subject to future assessment by taxing authorities, the Company is no longer subject to examination in Canada and most 
states in years prior to 2010.  Estimated interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes are classified as a 
component of income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and these amounts were income of 
$0.1 million during fiscal 2013 and expense of $0.2 million and $0.3 million during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.  
Accrued interest and penalties were $0.9 million and $1.1 million as of December 31, 2013 and December 25, 2012, respectively.
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15. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share owned.  The holders of Class B common stock are 
entitled to three votes for each share owned.  Each share of Class B common stock has the same dividend and liquidation rights 
as each share of Class A common stock.  Each share of Class B common stock is convertible, at the stockholder’s option, into 
Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis.  At December 31, 2013, the Company had reserved 2,320,199 shares of its Class A 
common stock for issuance upon exercise of awards granted under the Company’s 1992 Equity Incentive Plan, 2001 Employee, 
Director, and Consultant Stock Option Plan, and the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, and upon conversion of Class B common stock.

Registration Rights

At December 31, 2013, 94.9 percent of the outstanding Class B common stock was owned by the Company’s Chairman of the 
Board and Chief Executive Officer (the “Chairman”).  Pursuant to stock subscription agreements, certain holders of Class B 
common stock, including the Chairman, can require the Company under certain circumstances to register their shares under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1933, or have included in certain registrations all or part of such shares at the Company’s expense.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000 shares of Class B preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001.  The voting, redemption, 
dividend, liquidation rights, and other terms and conditions are determined by the Board of Directors upon approval of issuance.  
There were no shares issued or outstanding in fiscal 2013 and 2012.

Treasury Stock

Pursuant to the terms of the Panera Bread 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and the Panera Bread 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and the 
applicable award agreements, the Company repurchased 41,601 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted-average cost of 
$172.79 per share during fiscal 2013, 42,100 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted-average cost of $156.53 per share 
during fiscal 2012, and 52,146 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted-average cost of $109.33 per share during fiscal 
2011, as were surrendered by participants as payment of applicable tax withholdings on the vesting of restricted stock and SSARs.  
Shares so surrendered by the participants are repurchased by the Company at fair market value pursuant to the terms of those plans 
and the applicable award agreements and not pursuant to publicly announced share repurchase authorizations.  The shares 
surrendered to the Company by participants and repurchased by the Company are currently held by the Company as treasury stock.

Share Repurchase Authorization

During fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, the Company purchased shares of Class A common stock under authorized share 
repurchase authorizations.  Repurchased shares may be retired immediately and resume the status of authorized but unissued shares 
or may be held by the Company as treasury stock.  See Note 12 for further information with respect to the Company’s share 
repurchase authorizations.

16. Stock-Based Compensation

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had one active stock-based compensation plan, the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (“2006 
Plan”), and had options and restricted stock outstanding (but can make no future grants) under two other stock-based compensation 
plans, the 1992 Equity Incentive Plan (“1992 Plan”) and the 2001 Employee, Director, and Consultant Stock Option Plan (“2001 
Plan”).
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2006 Stock Incentive Plan

In fiscal 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2006 Plan, which was approved by the Company’s stockholders in 
May 2006.  The 2006 Plan provided for the grant of up to 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock (subject to 
adjustment in the event of stock splits or other similar events) as incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options and stock 
settled appreciation rights (collectively “option awards”), restricted stock, restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards.  
Effective May 13, 2010, the Plan was amended to increase the number of the Company’s Class A common stock shares available 
to grant to 2,300,000.  As a result of stockholder approval of the 2006 Plan, effective as of May 25, 2006, the Company will grant 
no further stock options, restricted stock or other awards under the 2001 Plan or the 1992 Plan.  The Company’s Board of Directors 
administers the 2006 Plan and has sole discretion to grant awards under the 2006 Plan.  The Company’s Board of Directors has 
delegated the authority to grant awards under the 2006 Plan, other than to the Company’s Chairman of the Board and Chief 
Executive Officer, to the Company’s Compensation and Management Development Committee (“the Compensation Committee”).

Long-Term Incentive Program

In fiscal 2005, the Company adopted the 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2005 LTIP”) as a sub-plan under the 2001 Plan and 
the 1992 Plan.  In May 2006, the Company amended the 2005 LTIP to provide that the 2005 LTIP is a sub-plan under the 2006 
Plan.  Under the amended 2005 LTIP, certain directors, officers, employees, and consultants, subject to approval by the 
Compensation Committee, may be selected as participants eligible to receive a percentage of their annual salary in future years, 
subject to the terms of the 2006 Plan.  This percentage is based on the participant's level in the Company.  In addition, the payment 
of this incentive can be made in several forms based on the participant's level including performance awards (payable in cash or 
common stock or some combination of cash and common stock as determined by the Compensation Committee), restricted stock, 
choice awards of restricted stock or options, or deferred annual bonus match awards.  On July 23, 2009, the Compensation 
Committee further amended the 2005 LTIP to permit the Company to grant stock settled appreciation rights (“SSARs”) under the 
choice awards and to clarify that the Compensation Committee may consider the Company’s performance relative to the 
performance of its peers in determining the payout of performance awards, as further discussed below.  For fiscal 2013, fiscal 
2012 and fiscal 2011, compensation expense related to performance awards, restricted stock, options, SSARs, and deferred annual 
bonus match was $16.0 million, $16.7 million, and $18.4 million, net of capitalized compensation expense of $0.9 million, $1.0 
million, and $1.1 million, respectively.

Performance awards under the 2005 LTIP are earned by participants based on achievement of performance goals established by 
the Compensation Committee.  The performance period relating to the performance awards is a three-fiscal-year period.  The 
performance goals, including each performance metric, weighting of each metric, and award levels for each metric, for such awards 
are communicated to each participant and are based on various predetermined earnings metrics.  The performance awards are 
earned based on achievement of predetermined earnings performance metrics at the end of the three-fiscal-year performance 
period, assuming continued employment, and after the Compensation Committee’s consideration of the Company’s performance 
relative to the performance of its peers.  The performance awards range from 0 percent to 300 percent of the participant's salary 
based on their level in the Company and the level of achievement of each performance metric.  However, the actual award payment 
will be adjusted, based on the Company’s performance over a three-consecutive fiscal year measurement period, and any other 
factors as determined by the Compensation Committee.  The actual award payment for the performance award component could 
double the individual’s targeted award payment, if the Company achieves maximum performance in all of its performance metrics, 
subject to any adjustments as determined by the Compensation Committee.  The performance awards are payable 50 percent in 
cash and 50 percent in common stock or some combination of cash and common stock as determined by the Compensation 
Committee.  For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, compensation expense related to the performance awards was $4.3 
million, $6.3 million, and $7.6 million, net of capitalized compensation expense of $0.2 million, $0.3 million, and $0.4 million, 
respectively.
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Restricted stock of the Company under the 2005 LTIP is granted at no cost to participants.  While participants are generally entitled 
to voting rights with respect to their respective shares of restricted stock, participants are generally not entitled to receive accrued 
cash dividends, if any, on restricted stock unless and until such shares have vested.  The Company does not currently pay a dividend, 
and has no current plans to do so.  For awards of restricted stock to date under the 2005 LTIP, restrictions limit the sale or transfer 
of these shares during a five year period whereby the restrictions lapse on 25 percent of these shares after two years and thereafter 
25 percent each year for the next three years, subject to continued employment with the Company.  In the event a participant is 
no longer employed by the Company, any unvested shares of restricted stock held by that participant will be forfeited.  Upon 
issuance of restricted stock under the 2005 LTIP, unearned compensation is recorded at fair value on the date of grant to stockholders’ 
equity and subsequently amortized to expense over the five year restriction period.  The fair value of restricted stock is based on 
the market value of the Company’s stock on the grant date.  As of December 31, 2013, there was $35.4 million of total unrecognized 
compensation cost related to restricted stock included in additional paid-in capital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  This 
unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.7 years.  For 
fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, restricted stock expense was $9.2 million, $7.6 million and $7.7 million, net of capitalized 
compensation expense of $0.6 million, $0.5 million, and $0.5 million, respectively.  For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, 
the income tax benefit related to restricted stock expense was $3.4 million, $3.0 million, and $2.9 million, respectively.  A summary 
of the status of the Company’s restricted stock activity is set forth below:

Restricted
Stock

(in 
thousands)

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 395 $ 94.98
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106 165.62
Vested. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (123) 70.76
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27) 103.25

Non-vested at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 351 $ 124.26

Under the deferred annual bonus match award portion of the 2005 LTIP, eligible participants receive an additional 50 percent of 
their annual bonus, which is paid three years after the date of the original bonus payment provided the participant is still employed 
by the Company.  For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, compensation expense related to deferred annual bonus match 
awards was $2.1 million, $2.3 million, and $1.9 million, net of capitalized compensation expense of $0.1 million, $0.2 million, 
and $0.2 million, respectively, and was included in general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income.

Stock options under the 2005 LTIP are granted with an exercise price equal to the quoted market value of the Company’s common 
stock on the date of grant.  In addition, stock options generally vest 25 percent after two years from the date of grant and thereafter 
25 percent each year for the next three years and have a six-year term.  The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting 
forfeiture rates.  As of December 31, 2013, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options.  Stock-
based compensation expense related to stock options was as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Charged to general and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 222 $ 421 $ 1,122
Income tax benefit. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (83) (163) (428)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 139 $ 258 $ 694
Effect on basic earnings per share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.01 0.01 0.02
Effect on diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.01 0.01 0.02
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity under its stock-based compensation plans during fiscal 2013:

Shares
(in 

thousands)

Weighted
Average
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average

Contractual 
Term

Remaining
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)

(in 
thousands)

Outstanding at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46 $ 59.94
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 156.30
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13) 45.38 1,649
Cancelled. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 $ 71.93 1.6 3,736
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 $ 71.93 1.6 $ 3,736

(1) Intrinsic value for activities other than exercises is defined as the difference between the grant price and the market value on 
the last day of fiscal 2013 of $176.69 for those stock options where the market value is greater than the exercise price.  For 
exercises, intrinsic value is defined as the difference between the grant price and the market value on the date of exercise.

Cash received from the exercise of stock options in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011 was $0.6 million, $4.5 million, and 
$3.2 million respectively.  Windfall tax benefits realized from exercised stock options in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011 
were $8.1 million, $8.6 million, and $5.0 million, respectively, and were included as cash flows from financing activities in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

A SSAR is an award that allows the recipient to receive common stock equal to the appreciation in the fair market value of the 
Company’s Class A common stock between the date the award was granted and the conversion date for the number of shares 
vested.  SSARs under the 2005 LTIP are granted with an exercise price equal to the quoted market value of the Company’s common 
stock on the date of grant.  In addition, SSARs generally vest 25 percent after two years from the date of grant and thereafter 25 
percent each year for the next three years and have a six-year term.  As of December 31, 2013, the total unrecognized compensation 
cost related to non-vested SSARs was $0.9 million, which is net of a $0.3 million forfeiture estimate, and is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 4.2 years.  The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting 
forfeiture rates.  For fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, stock-based compensation expense related to SSARs was $0.2 million, $0.1 
million, and $0.1 million, respectively, and was charged to general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements 
of Comprehensive Income.

The following table summarizes the Company’s SSAR activity under its stock-based compensation plan during fiscal 2013:

Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted
Average

Conversion 
Price (1)

Weighted Average
Contractual Term

Remaining
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (2)

(in thousands)
Outstanding at December 25, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . 20 $ 89.70 3.9 $ 1,355

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 165.58
Converted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4) 58.23
Cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) 99.60

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . 33 $ 135.73 4.5 $ 1,343
Convertible at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . 3 $ 75.65 2.5 $ 351

(1) Conversion price is defined as the price from which SSARs are measured and is equal to the market value on the date of 
issuance.

(2) Intrinsic value for activities other than conversions is defined as the difference between the grant price and the market value 
on the last day of fiscal 2013 of $176.69 for those SSARs where the market value is greater than the conversion price.  For 
conversions, intrinsic value is defined as the difference between the grant price and the market value on the date of conversion.

All SSARs outstanding at December 31, 2013 have a conversion price ranging from $55.20 to $192.65 and are expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 4.5 years.
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The fair value for both stock options and SSARs (collectively “option awards”) is estimated on the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.  The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of option awards are evaluated and revised, as 
necessary, to reflect market conditions and historical experience.  

The weighted-average fair value of option awards granted and assumptions used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model were 
as follows for the periods indicated:

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Fair value per option awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 55.63 $ 53.18 $ 37.46
Assumptions:

Expected term (years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 5 5
Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36.5% 40.3% 40.3%
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.3% 0.8% 1.3%
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

• Expected term — The expected term of the option awards represents the period of time between the grant date of the option 
awards and the date the option awards are either exercised or canceled, including an estimate for those option awards still 
outstanding, and is derived from historical terms and other factors.

• Expected volatility — The expected volatility is based on an average of the historical volatility of the Company’s stock price, 
for a period approximating the expected term, and the implied volatility of externally traded options of the Company’s stock 
that were entered into during the period.

• Risk-free interest rate — The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant and 
with a maturity that approximates the option awards expected term.

• Dividend yield — The dividend yield is based on the Company’s anticipated dividend payout over the expected term of the 
option awards.

The amounts presented for the weighted-average fair value of option awards granted are before the estimated effect of forfeitures, 
which reduce the amount of stock-based compensation expense recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

1992 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company adopted the 1992 Plan in May 1992.  A total of 8,600,000 shares of Class A common stock were authorized for 
issuance under the 1992 Plan as awards, which could have been in the form of stock options (both qualified and non-qualified), 
stock appreciation rights, performance shares, restricted stock, or stock units, to employees and consultants.  As a result of 
stockholder approval of the 2006 Plan, effective as of May 25, 2006, the Company will grant no further stock options, restricted 
stock, or other awards under the 1992 Plan.

2001 Employee, Director, and Consultant Stock Option Plan

The Company adopted the 2001 Plan in June 2001.  A total of 3,000,000 shares of Class A common stock were authorized for 
issuance under the 2001 Plan as awards, which could have been in the form of stock options to employees, directors, and consultants.  
As a result of stockholder approval of the 2006 Plan, effective as of May 25, 2006, the Company will grant no further stock options 
under the 2001 Plan.

1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company adopted the 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) which was authorized to issue 825,000 shares of Class A 
common stock.  The ESPP gives eligible employees the option to purchase Class A common stock (total purchases in a year may 
not exceed 10 percent of an employee’s current year compensation) at 85 percent of the fair market value of the Class A common 
stock at the end of each calendar quarter.  There were approximately 20,000, 19,000, and 21,000 shares purchased with a weighted-
average fair value of purchase rights of $25.01, $22.68, and $16.97 during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, respectively.  
For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, the Company recognized expense of approximately $0.5 million, $0.5 million, and 
$0.4 million in each of the respective years related to stock purchase plan discounts.  Effective May 13, 2010, the Plan was amended 
to increase the number of the Company’s Class A common stock shares authorized for issuance to 925,000.  Cumulatively, there 
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were approximately 878,000 shares issued under this plan as of December 31, 2013, 858,000 shares issued under this plan as of 
December 25, 2012, and 839,000 shares issued under this plan as of December 27, 2011.

17. Defined Contribution Benefit Plan

The Panera Bread Company 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Plan”) was formed under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code 
(“the Code”).  The Plan covers substantially all employees who meet certain service requirements.  Participating employees may 
elect to defer a percentage of his or her salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to the limitations imposed by the Plan and the Code.  The 
Plan provides for a matching contribution by the Company equal to 50 percent of the first three percent of the participant’s eligible 
pay.  All employee contributions vest immediately.  Company matching contributions vest beginning in the second year of 
employment at 25 percent per year, and are fully vested after five years.  The Company contributed $2.0 million, $1.8 million, 
and $1.6 million to the Plan in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, respectively.

18. Business Segment Information

The Company operates three business segments.  The Company Bakery-Cafe Operations segment is comprised of the operating 
activities of the bakery-cafes owned directly and indirectly by the Company.  The Company-owned bakery-cafes conduct business 
under the Panera Bread®, Saint Louis Bread Co.® or Paradise Bakery & Café® names.  These bakery-cafes offer some or all of 
the following: fresh baked goods, made-to-order sandwiches on freshly baked breads, soups, salads, pasta dishes, custom roasted 
coffees, and other complementary products through on-premise sales, as well as catering.

The Franchise Operations segment is comprised of the operating activities of the franchise business unit, which licenses qualified 
operators to conduct business under the Panera Bread or Paradise Bakery & Café names and also monitors the operations of these 
bakery-cafes.  Under the terms of most of the agreements, the licensed operators pay royalties and fees to the Company in return 
for the use of the Panera Bread or Paradise Bakery & Café names.

The Fresh Dough and Other Product Operations segment supplies fresh dough, produce, tuna, cream cheese, and indirectly supplies 
proprietary sweet goods items through a contract manufacturing arrangement, to Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-
cafes.  The fresh dough is sold to a number of both Company-owned and franchise-operated bakery-cafes at a delivered cost 
generally not to exceed 27 percent of the retail value of the end product.  The sales and related costs to the franchise-operated 
bakery-cafes are separately stated line items in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  The sales, costs, and 
operating profit related to the sales to Company-owned bakery-cafes are eliminated in consolidation in the Consolidated Statements 
of Comprehensive Income.
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The accounting policies applicable to each segment are consistent with those described in Note 2, “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies.”  Segment information related to the Company’s three business segments is as follows (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Revenues:    

Company bakery-cafe operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,108,908 $ 1,879,280 $ 1,592,951
Franchise operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,641 102,076 92,793
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 347,922 312,308 275,096
Intercompany sales eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (184,469) (163,607) (138,808)

Total revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,385,002 $ 2,130,057 $ 1,822,032
Segment profit:    

Company bakery-cafe operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 413,474 $ 380,432 $ 307,012
Franchise operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,395 95,420 86,148
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,293 17,695 20,021

Total segment profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 541,162 $ 493,547 $ 413,181

Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,523 90,939 79,899
Unallocated general and administrative expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 117,089 111,276 106,438
Pre-opening expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,794 8,462 6,585
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,053 1,082 822
Other (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,017) (1,208) (466)

Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 312,720 $ 282,996 $ 219,903
Depreciation and amortization:    

Company bakery-cafe operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 90,872 $ 78,198 $ 68,651
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,239 6,793 6,777
Corporate administration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,412 5,948 4,471

Total depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 106,523 $ 90,939 $ 79,899
Capital expenditures:    

Company bakery-cafe operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 153,584 $ 122,868 $ 94,873
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,461 13,434 6,483
Corporate administration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,965 16,026 6,576

Total capital expenditures. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 192,010 $ 152,328 $ 107,932

December 31,
2013

December 25,
2012

Segment assets:   
Company bakery-cafe operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 867,093 $ 807,681
Franchise operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,156 10,285
Fresh dough and other product operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62,854 60,069

Total segment assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 940,103 $ 878,035

Unallocated cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125,245 297,327
Unallocated trade and other accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,281 1,592
Unallocated property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,587 30,161
Unallocated deposits and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,865 5,054
Other unallocated assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,781 55,994

Total assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,180,862 $ 1,268,163
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“Unallocated cash and cash equivalents” relates primarily to corporate cash and cash equivalents, “unallocated trade and other 
accounts receivable” relates primarily to rebates and interest receivable, “unallocated property and equipment” relates primarily 
to corporate fixed assets, “unallocated deposits and other” relates primarily to insurance deposits, and “other unallocated assets” 
relates primarily to deferred income taxes.

19. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except for per share data):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Amounts used for basic and diluted per share calculations:    
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 196,169 $ 173,448 $ 135,952

Weighted average number of shares outstanding — basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,629 29,217 29,601
Effect of dilutive stock-based employee compensation awards . . . . . . . . . . . 165 238 302
Weighted average number of shares outstanding — diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,794 29,455 29,903

Earnings per common share:    
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.85 $ 5.94 $ 4.59
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.81 $ 5.89 $ 4.55

For each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, December 25, 2012, and December 27, 2011, weighted-average outstanding 
stock options, restricted stock and stock-settled appreciation rights of less than 0.1 million shares were excluded in calculating 
diluted earnings per share as the exercise price exceeded fair market value and the inclusion of such shares would have been 
antidilutive.

20. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemental cash flow information for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 For the fiscal year ended

 
December 31,

2013
December 25,

2012
December 27,

2011
Cash paid during the year for:    

Interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 253 $ 370 $ 390
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 104,072 90,054 80,572

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Change in accrued property and equipment purchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 16,194 $ 6,019 $ 6,060
Accrued purchase price of Milwaukee acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 2,055
Accrued purchase price of Indiana acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 510
Accrued purchase price of North Carolina acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,601 —
Accrued purchase price of Florida acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 270 — —
Investment in municipal industrial revenue bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (186) (186) 156
Asset retirement obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 664 2,855 474
Capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,481 —
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21. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents selected unaudited quarterly financial data for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share 
data):

 Fiscal 2013 - quarters ended (1)
 March 26 June 25 September 24 December 31
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 561,779 $ 589,011 $ 572,480 $ 661,732
Operating profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,305 83,435 64,569 85,447
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,117 51,042 42,762 54,248
Earnings per common share:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.65 $ 1.75 $ 1.49 $ 1.97
Diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.64 $ 1.74 $ 1.48 $ 1.96

 Fiscal 2012 - quarters ended (1)
 March 27 June 26 September 25 December 25
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 498,579 $ 530,591 $ 529,338 $ 571,549
Operating profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67,356 72,203 59,999 83,312
Net income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,184 44,137 36,515 51,612
Earnings per common share:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.41 $ 1.51 $ 1.25 $ 1.77
Diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.40 $ 1.50 $ 1.24 $ 1.75

(1) Fiscal quarters may not sum to the fiscal year reported amounts due to rounding.

The fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 had 53 weeks.  As a result, the quarterly financial data for the fiscal fourth quarter 2013 
reflects 14 weeks. 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013.  The term “disclosure 
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures 
of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or 
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities 
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and 
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under 
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal 
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Management recognizes that any controls 
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives 
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.  
Based on the evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013, the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

No change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2013 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under 
the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the company’s board of 
directors, management and other associates, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and 
those policies and procedures that:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company;

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition 
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013.  In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria established in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework (the "1992 Framework"), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission.  Based on its assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance based on those criteria.  The scope of management’s 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting includes all of the Company’s consolidated operations.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm audited the financial statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and has audited the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Their report is included 
in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Incorporated by reference from the information in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, 
which the Company intends to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics, called the Standards of Business Conduct that applies to its officers, including its 
principal executive, financial and accounting officers, and its directors and employees.  The Company has posted the Standards 
of Business Conduct on its website at www.panerabread.com under the "Corporate Governance" section of the "Our Company - 
Investor Relations" webpage.  The Company intends to make all required disclosures concerning any amendments to, or waivers 
from, the Standards of Business Conduct on its website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from the information in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, 
which the Company intends to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from the information in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, 
which the Company intends to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from the information in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, 
which the Company intends to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference from the information in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, 
which the Company intends to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) All Financial Statements: 

Consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report are listed under Item 8: "Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data".

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedule: 

The following financial statement schedule for the Company is filed herewith:

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

PANERA BREAD COMPANY
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Description

Balance -
Beginning of

Period

Additions
Charged to

Expense

Deductions/
Other

Additions

Balance -
End of
Period

Self-insurance reserves:     
Fiscal year ended December 27, 2011. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 20,212 $ 35,944 $ (32,527) $ 23,629
Fiscal year ended December 25, 2012. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,629 $ 41,807 $ (36,533) $ 28,903
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 28,903 $ 46,930 $ (44,288) $ 31,545

Deferred tax assets, valuation allowance:
Fiscal year ended December 27, 2011. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ —
Fiscal year ended December 25, 2012. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 1,761 $ — $ 1,761
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,761 $ 1,412 $ — $ 3,173

_____________

(a)(3) Exhibits: 

 See Exhibit Index incorporated into this item by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 PANERA BREAD COMPANY
  

 By:  /s/ RONALD M. SHAICH   

  
Ronald M. Shaich

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  

  Date: February 19, 2014  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons 
on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Title  Date

/s/ RONALD M. SHAICH
 

 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  February 19, 2014
Ronald M. Shaich (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ ROGER C. MATTHEWS, JR.
 

 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  February 19, 2014
Roger C. Matthews, Jr. (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ MARK D. WOOLDRIDGE
 

 VP, Controller, Chief Accounting Officer  February 19, 2014
Mark D. Wooldridge (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ DOMENIC COLASACCO
 

 Director  February 19, 2014
Domenic Colasacco

/s/ FRED K. FOULKES
 

 Director  February 19, 2014
Fred K. Foulkes

/s/ LARRY J. FRANKLIN
 

 Director  February 19, 2014
Larry J. Franklin

/s/ DIANE HESSAN  Director  February 19, 2014
Diane Hessan

/s/ THOMAS E. LYNCH
 

 Director  February 19, 2014
Thomas E. Lynch

/s/ WILLIAM W. MORETON
 

 Executive Vice Chairman  February 19, 2014
William W. Moreton
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended through June 7, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 13, 2002 (File No. 0-19253), as filed
with the Commission on August 26, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference) and as amended on May 19,
2011 (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant's Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated April 18, 2011 (File
No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on April 18, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended through March 9, 2012 (filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission
on March 15, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit B to the Registrant’s Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated April 12, 2010 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on April 12, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference).†

10.2 Formula Stock Option Plan for Independent Directors, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2001 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on March 22, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).†

10.3 1992 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-128049), as filed with the Commission on September 1, 2005 and incorporated herein
by reference).†

10.4 2001 Employee, Director and Consultant Stock Option Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A dated April 21, 2005 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on
April 21, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).†

10.5 Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Program (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on July 29, 2009 and incorporated
herein by reference).†

10.6 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit A to the Registrant’s Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated April 12, 2010 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on April 12, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference). †

10.7 Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on May 25,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.8 Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Long Term Incentive Program (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on May 25, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Program (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on May 25,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.10 Form of amended Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Program (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on May 28, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.11 Form of Stock Settled Appreciation Rights Agreement under the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Program (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on July 29, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.12 Employment Letter between the Registrant and Mark Borland (filed as Exhibit 10.6.17 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended October 5, 2002 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on November 18, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).†

10.13 Form of Panera, LLC Confidential and Proprietary Information and Non-Competition Agreement executed by
Senior Vice Presidents (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended October 4, 2003 (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on November 18, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).†

10.14 Description of Compensation Arrangements with Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 28, 2006 (File No. 0-19253), as filed
with the Commission on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).†
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.15 Severance Agreement dated as of May 13, 2010 by and between Panera Bread Company and Ronald M.
Shaich (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with
the Commission on May 18, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16 Credit Agreement dated as of November 30, 2012 by and among Panera Bread Company, as borrower, Bank
of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, and each lender party thereto
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on December 4, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 Office lease, dated September 20, 2010, by and between TREF I Laumeier I LLC, as successor in interest to
Duke Reality Limited Partnership, and Panera, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the Commission on February 15, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.18 Amendment No. 1, dated December 27, 2012, to Office lease, dated September 20, 2010, by and between
TREF I Laumeier I LLC, as successor in interest to Duke Realty Limited Partnership, and Panera, LLC (filed
as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19253), as filed with the
Commission on February 15, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.19* Form of Panera, LLC Confidential and Proprietary Information and Non-Competition Agreement executed by
Executive and Senior Vice Presidents.

21* Registrant’s Subsidiaries.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1* Certification by Chief Executive Officer.

31.2* Certification by Chief Financial Officer.

32* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*  Filed herewith.

†  Management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed as an exhibit hereto pursuant to Item 15(a) of Form 10-
K.



COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
(Assumes $100 Investment on December 30, 2008)

The following graph and chart compares the cumulative annual stockholder return on our Class A
common stock over the period commencing December 30, 2008 and ending on December 31, 2013, to
that of the total return for The NASDAQ Composite Index and the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) MidCap
Restaurants Index, assuming an investment of $100 on December 30, 2008. In calculating cumulative
total annual stockholder return, reinvestment of dividends, if any, is assumed. The indices are included
for comparative purposes only. They do not necessarily reflect management’s opinion that such indices
are an appropriate measure of the relative performance of our Class A common stock and are not
intended to forecast or be indicative of future performance of our Class A common stock. The
following graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference in
any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general
incorporation language in any such filing. We obtained information used on the graph from Research
Data Group, Inc., a source we believe to be reliable.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Panera Bread Company, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and S&P MidCap

Restaurants Index

Panera Bread Company NASDAQ Composite S&P MidCap Restaurants

*$100 invested on 12/30/2008 in stock or 12/31/2008 in index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Indexes calculated on month-end basis.

December 30,
2008

December 29,
2009

December 28,
2010

December 27,
2011

December 25,
2012

December 31,
2013

Panera Bread Company $100.00 136.66 203.33 280.78 315.29 351.83
NASDAQ Composite

Index $100.00 144.88 170.58 171.30 199.99 283.39
S&P MidCap Restaurants

Index $100.00 131.44 175.83 228.59 261.86 376.17

For the S&P MidCap Restaurants Index and the NASDAQ Composite Index, the total return to
stockholders is based on the values of such indices as of the last trading day of the applicable calendar
year, which may be different from the end of our fiscal year.



Panera Bread Company
Corporate and Stockholder Information

Management

Ronald M. Shaich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

William W. Moreton
Executive Vice Chairman

Roger C. Matthews, Jr.
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Charles J. Chapman III
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer

Scott G. Davis
Executive Vice President, Chief Concept and
Innovation Officer

Blaine E. Hurst
Executive Vice President, Technology and
Transformation

Michael D. Simon
Executive Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer

Mark R. Wesley
Executive Vice President, Chief Development
Officer

Scott G. Blair
Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, General
Counsel and Secretary

Mark A. Borland
Senior Vice President, Chief Supply Chain Officer

Irene E. Cook
Senior Vice President, Chief Company and Joint
Venture Operations Officer

Elizabeth A. Dunlap
Senior Vice President, Chief People Officer

Thomas C. Kish
Senior Vice President, eCommerce Customer
Service Centers

John M. Meister
Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer

William H. Simpson
Senior Vice President, Chief Franchise Officer

Bryan C. Timko
Senior Vice President, Strategy

Daniel A. Wegiel
Senior Vice President, Panera to You

Mark D. Woolridge
Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer

Board of Directors

Ronald M. Shaich
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of Panera Bread Company

Domenic Colasacco
Lead Independent Director of Panera Bread
Company President, Chief Executive Officer, Boston
Trust & Investment Management

Fred K. Foulkes, D.B.A.
Professor, Boston University School of Management

Larry J. Franklin
President, Chief Executive Officer, Franklin Sports,
Inc.

Diane Hessan
Chairman of the Board, Communispace

Thomas E. Lynch
Senior Managing Director, Mill Road Capital

William W. Moreton
Executive Vice Chairman of Panera Bread Company

Corporate Information

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Investor Services
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, RI 02940-3078
Stockholder Inquires 877-282-1169

2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Thursday, June 5, 2014, 10:30 a.m., Central Time
Panera Bread Headquarters
3630 South Geyer Road
St. Louis, Missouri 63127

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Stock Trading Information
The Nasdaq Global Select Market
Symbol: PNRA

Form 10-K and Other Reports and Information
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Proxy Statement and other
reports that we file with the SEC are available on our
website, at panerabread.com. In addition, copies of
these reports (without exhibits) may be obtained
without charge by contacting:

Investor Relations Coordinator
Panera Bread Company
3630 South Geyer Road
St. Louis, Missouri 63127
314-984-1000
www.panerabread.com









<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.3
  /CompressObjects /Off
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages false
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings false
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Preserve
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 100
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages false
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 100
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages false
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 150
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 2.00000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (RRD Low Resolution \(Letter Page Size\))
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


